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CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

ON THE ANNUAL REPORT ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH

Independent Auditor’s Report
on the Annual Report

1. As part of our audit, we have assessed whether the financial information and the assessment and explanations of the 
Board of Directors presented in the annual report of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“the Company”) prepared 
as of 31 December 2013 are consistent with the audited financial statements as of the same date.

2. Management is responsible for the preparation of the annual report in accordance with the “Communique on 
Determining the Minimum Content of Company Annual Reports.”

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the financial information provided in the annual report is 
consistent with the audited financial statements on which we have expressed our opinion dated 21 February 2014.

 Our assessment is made in accordance with the principles and procedures for the preparation and issuing of annual 
reports in accordance with Turkish Commercial Code No. 6102 (“TCC”). Those principles and procedures require 
that an audit is planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial information provided in 
the annual report is free from material misstatement regarding the consistency of such information with the audited 
financial statements and the information obtained during the audit.

 We believe that the assessment we have made is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

4. Based on our opinion, the financial information and the assessment and explanations of the Board of Director’s in 
the accompanying annual report of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. are consistent with the audited financial 
statements as of 31 December  2013.

Başaran Nas Bağımsız Denetim ve 
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 
a member of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers

E. Baki Erdal, SMMM
Partner

Istanbul, 6 March 2014
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2013 Ordinary General Assembly Meeting Agenda

1. Opening of the meeting and election of the Presidential Board of the General Assembly,
2. Reading and discussion of the Board of Directors’ Annual Report,
3. Reading of the 2013 Auditors’ Report, 
4. Reading, discussion and ratification of the 2013 financial statements,
5. Release of the Board Members with regard to the Company’s activities in 2013,
6. Determination of the dividend distribution policy and dividend payments,
7. Determination of remuneration for the Board Members and Independent Directors,
8. Selection and approval of the Independent Auditor selected by the Board of Directors, in accodance with the 

‘Communiqué Regarding Independent Auditing Standards in Capital Markets’ issued by the Capital Markets Board 
of Turkey and the Turkish Commercial Code; and in accodance with to the ‘Communiqué Regarding Independent 
Auditing in Capital Markets’ issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey, 

9. In accodance with the Corporate Governance Principles of the Capital Markets Board, informing shareholders with 
regard to such transactions in the event that shareholders who control the management, Board Members, executive 
managers, and their first and second degree relatives by blood or by marriage have carried out transactions that 
may result in conflict of interest either with the Company or its subsidiaries, and/or have carried out transactions in 
the same line of business with the Company or its subsidiaries by themselves or on behalf of others or have become 
partners without limits of liability in a company that is engaged in the same line of business, 

10. Granting permission and authority to the Board Members in accordance with articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code,

11. Reading and approval of the Charitable Donations and Social Welfare Policy by the General Assembly, in accordance 
with the Corporate Governance Principles, 

12. Informing shareholders with regard to charitable donations realized by the Company in 2013, in accordance with 
Capital Markets legislation, 

13. Determination of the Company’s Dividend Distribution Policy in accordance with the ‘Communiqué Regarding 
Dividends’ (Series II, No. 19.1) issued by the Capital Markets Board, 

14. Informing shareholders on warranties, pledges, mortgages and indemnities provided by the Company for the benefit 
of third parties, and on revenues and benefits generated in 2013, in accordance with article 12 of the Corporate 
Governance Principles, 

15. Informing shareholders on purchases and sales realized different than the appraised values and on currency hedging 
on rents in 2013, in accordance with Paragraph 1, Article 37 of the ‘Communiqué on Principles Regarding Real Estate 
Investment Companies’ (Series III, No. 48.1), 

16. Suggestions and closing.



 

Vision, Mission and Objectives

Vision
Implementing distinguished projects in the real estate 
industry following the principle: “Each square meter of 
your life deserves more.”

Mission
Making real estate investments in keeping with the 
changing industry landscape and socio-economic 
developments.

Objectives
To undertake innovative, prestigious projects that 
add value to their environment and to strengthen the 
Company’s position in the real estate industry.

3INTRODUCTION
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Key Financials

Current Ratio (%)

Financial Leverage Ratio (%)

Return on Equity (ROE) (%)

2013

2013

2013

2012

2012

2012

25

42

59

8

37

22

In 2013, Akiş REIT’s current
 ratio increased 212.50%

 and rose to 25%. 

In 2013, Akiş REIT’s
 financial leverage

 ratio was 42%. 

In 2013, Akiş REIT’s
 return on equity ratio 

increased 168.18%
 and climbed to 59%. 

212.50%

13.51%

168.18% 

RATIOS 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Current Ratio 25% 8%

Financial Leverage Ratio 42% 37%

Return on Equity (ROE) 59% 22%
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Akbatı Residences
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Key Financials

“We have left a year with sharp 
movements in the markets 
behind. In 2013, Akiş REIT has 
created value for its shareholders 
with TL 18 million in distributed 
dividends and its successful 
share performance.”

Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu
Deputy General Manager for Finance 

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 31 December 2013 (TL) 31 December 2012 (TL)

Net Sales 70,957,837 182,075,664

Cost of Sales (29,235,630) (142,490,040)

Operating Expenses (23,819,075) (24,228,421)

Income from Investments/Expense Net 74,758,867 (3,981,003)

Financial Income/Expense Net (66,615,663) (496,029)

Net Profit 25,039,578 57,018,603
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY 31 December 2013 (TL) 31 December 2012 (TL)

Assets 1,254,791,303 1,122,325,258

Current Assets 88,678,431 184,934,740

Cash and Cash Equivalents 38,996,938 77,017,178

Trade Receivables 4,078,989 53,828,712

Inventories 27,394,323 20,884,363

Other Current Assets 18,208,181 33,204,487

Non-current Assets 1,166,112,872 937,390,518

Trade Receivables 1,314,101 2,594,696

Financial Investments 64,859,013 57,328,124

Inventories 244,632,159 7,645,198

Investment Properties 806,482,104 710,016,664

Other Non-current Assets 48,825,495 159,805,836

Liabilities 1,254,791,303 1,122,325,258

Short-term Liabilities 430,054,239 270,204,290

Financial Liabilities 352,881,183 203,129,894

Short-term part of Long-term Liabilities 41,986,230 35,067,583

Trade Payables 16,389,321 15,259,922

Deferred Taxation Liabilities 17,131,591 5,810,570

Other Short-term Liabilities 1,665,914 10,936,321

Long-term Liabilities 98,347,564 140,314,966

Long-term Payables 98,059,135 122,250,089

Deferred Income 0,00 17,542,192

Other Long-term Liabilities 288,429 522,685

Equity Capital 726,389,500 711,806,002
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Capital and Shareholding Structure 

The shareholding structure of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. is as follows:

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE

Shareholder
Number

 of Shares
Percentage

 of Shares (%)

Akkök Sanayi Yatırım ve Geliştirme A.Ş. 40,264,934.84 31.41

Ali Raif Dinçkök 24,948,796.49 19.46

Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi 17,440,390.41 13.60

Raif Ali Dinçkök 7,968,001.00 6.22

Others and Public Shares 37,578,718.62 29.31

TOTAL 128,200,841.36 100.00

“At Akiş REIT, we continue to 
take new steps by following 
developments in the industry. As 
we aim for creating new visions we 
consistently strive to increase our 
success with additional awards and 
further recognition.” 

Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu
Member of the Board of Directors 
Deputy General Manager of Sales and Marketing 



Akbatı AVYM Festival Park
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Akkök Group 
in Brief

Representing established know-how, financial 
strength and reliability…

Founded in 1952 by the late Raif Dinçkök, the Akkök 
Group is one of Turkey’s most well-established companies, 
with 61 years of experience. Operating in the chemicals, 
energy and real estate sectors, Akkök Group has 17 
commercial and industrial companies, of which one is 
overseas, and 18 production plants. Akkök Group closely 
follows foreign markets in the industries where it operates 
and aims at global competitiveness and world standard 
achievements. 

With an installed capacity of 308,000 tons per year, Aksa 
is the Turkey’s sole local fiber manufacturer. The Company 
holds a 15% global market share and provides services 
to textile and industrial textile industries in more than 50 
countries across five continents. In 2009, the Company 
advanced its technological infrastructure and began 
manufacturing carbon fiber, considered one of the most 
important raw materials of the 21st century. 

Since 2012, carbon fiber production has been conducted 
by DowAksa İleri Kompozit Malzemeler Sanayi Limited 
Şirketi. DowAksa was established in 2012 
as a joint venture based on equal partnership between 
Aksa Akrilik and Dow Chemical, to produce carbon 
fiber and carbon fiber-based products and market them 
globally. DowAksa specifically focuses on infrastructure, 
improving buildings in terms of strength and durability, 
increasing energy generation efficiency in wind turbines 
and reducing fuel consumption in automobiles. With its 
technical expertise and developed production facilities, 
DowAksa aims to bring contemporary solutions to 
significant issues facing Turkey and the rest of the world. 

As of August 2013, Aksa has managed its wholly-owned 
subsidiary Ak-Tops Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. including active 
and passive assets. As a result of the merger of these 
two successful companies, the Company will achieve a 
stronger management and organizational structure. The 
merger process began on November 1, 2013 and was 
registered on December 31, 2013. 

An exemplary leader in the chemicals industry, with 
production plants at international standards, Ak-kim has a 
yearly production capacity of 600,000 tons. The Company 
has a diverse product portfolio across sectors, particularly 
the textile, metal, food, cleaning, water treatment, 
corrosion and scab prevention, paper, pharmaceutical and 
construction industries. 

Ak-Kim’s wide product range includes more than 500 
chemicals, sharpening its competitive edge in the global 
market. Exporting to 55 countries on five continents, 
the Company sells products even in countries where its 
competitors have production facilities. Half of the current 
export volume of Ak-Kim goes to the European Union; 
the remaining volume to countries such as Pakistan, 
Israel, Iran, the USA, Canada and Korea. Since 2002, the 
Company has provided services related to engineering and 
turnkey contracts within the scope of its proprietary know-
how and technology sales.
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One of Turkey’s prominent power generation companies, 
Akenerji leads the industry with 24 years of experience and 
investment. Akenerji, formed in 2009 as a strategic equal 
partnership between Akkök and ČEZ, has consistently 
invested into meeting power needs in Turkey since its 
foundation. Renowned for its initiatives in the renewable 
energy field, Akenerji has a renewable energy capacity of 
388 MW, comprising 60% of its total installed power. The 
Company plans to commission the Kemah Hydroelectric 
Power Plant in the city of Erzincan with an installed 
capacity of 160 MW in 2017. In addition, the Egemer 
Natural Gas Power Plant in Erzin, Hatay is expected to 
be completed in 2014 with a capacity of 900 MW. With 
the Erzin Plant, Akenerji will reach an annual electricity 
production capacity of approximately 7 billion kWh in 
total, individually meeting 2.6% of Turkey’s electricity 
requirements. 

Rapidly developing its operations in power trade in 2013, 
Akenerji currently efficiently manages a power portfolio 
above its production capacity. Turning to world markets in 
2011, the Company began electricity import and export, 
and continues to expand its operations in this area. 

Taking over SEDAŞ through privatization on February 
11, 2009 following the separation of its distribution and 
sales operations in the beginning of 2013, AKCEZ has 
restructured both its organization and its group companies 
with common service units that will also be supplying 
services to SEDAŞ and SEPAŞ from July 1, 2013. 

Among the Akkök Group’s real estate companies, Akiş 
REIT continues to develop projects that improve quality 
of life in the regions where it operates. Currently, the 
Company successfully manages Akbatı Residences, 
Akbatı Shopping Mall and the Akasya projects. SAF REIT 
and Akmerkez also reinforce the Group’s reputation in 
the real estate industry with operations that add value to 
society and continuously improving structures. 

The Akkök Group, a signer of the United Nations Global 
Compact in 2007, has strengthened its principles of 
openness and accountability, also upheld by all of the 
companies within the Group. These principles guide 
the Group’s relations with all stakeholders, notably its 
employees, customers, suppliers and shareholders. 
In addition to completely fulfilling their financial 
responsibilities, all companies within the Akkök Group add 
value to society, the environment and the economy as 
corporate citizens in all of their operations.
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Akiş REIT 
in Brief

Akiş REIT aims to implement distinguished projects 
in the real estate industry with the abiding principle 
that “Each square meter of your life deserves 
more.”
Akkök Group has positioned the real estate industry as 
one of its strategic lines of business and has been active 
in the sector since 1993. After carrying the concept of 
shopping centers to a whole new level in Turkey with 
Akmerkez, Akkök Group founded Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırımı 
A.Ş. in 2005 to exploit its experience and expertise in 
shopping center investment and management in new 
projects.

Akiş REIT soon made a name for itself with significant 
projects and assumed the title of Real Estate Investment 
Trust on May 18, 2012 upon its application to the Capital 
Markets Board. Subsequently Akiş REIT was listed on the 
Collective Products Market at Borsa İstanbul on January 9, 
2013. Akiş REIT aims to implement distinguished projects 
in real estate industry with the abiding principle that “Each 
square meter of your life deserves more.”

Continuing its increased share performance on the BIST in 
2013, Akiş REIT has distributed TL 18 million in dividends. 
To accelerate its operations in real estate development in 
2013, the Company sold a portion of its land stock and 
invested towards the realization of urban renewal and 
commercial projects. 

Akiş REIT offers investors the opportunity to invest in 
the diverse areas of real estate via one company’s stock 
with an extensive and productive portfolio comprised of 
shopping centers, residental units, land, and factories. 
Today, Akiş REIT has become one of the most influential 
players in the industry with projects built at the right 
locations, at the right time, promoting new trends; the 
Company further aims to follow the trends of the ever-
evolving industry to make a name for itself in projects that 
will make a difference in the real estate sector.
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Milestones

Akiş REIT was listed on the Collective Products 
Market at Borsa İstanbul on January 9, 2013. 

2005
Akkök Group founded Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırımı A.Ş. 
with the goal of developing 
and managing real estate 
investments.

2008
Shares of Akfil Holding A.Ş. 
were purchased.

2007
Garanti Koza Akiş Adi 
Ortaklığı was established 
and the Akkoza Project 
was launched. 

The Company’s share 
capital was increased to TL 
3 million. 

Akiş participated in SAF 
Gayrimenkul Geliştirme 
İnşaat ve Ticaret A.Ş. with 
a share of 7%.

2009
Shares of Garanti Koza 
and Corio were acquired 
in the Akkoza Project. 
The Company started the 
construction of Akbatı 
Shopping Mall as the 100% 
owner.
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2011
The Company’s share 
capital was increased by 
TL 80 million to TL 83 
million.

Akbatı Shopping Mall was 
completed and opened for 
service.

SAF REIT started trading 
on the İstanbul Stock 
Exchange as of December 
2011.

2012
Akbatı Residences were 
delivered to owners.

The title “Real Estate 
Investment Trust” was 
acquired as a result of the 
application made to the 
Capital Markets Board. 

The merger of Akiş REIT 
with Ak-Al by acquiring 
Ak-Al with all its assets and 
liabilities was approved 
by the two companies’ 
general assemblies.

2013
Akiş REIT was listed on 
the Collective Products 
Market at Borsa İstanbul 
on January 9, 2013. 

All shares of Akfil Holding 
were sold on March 11, 
2013.

All shares in the Garanti 
Koza-Akiş Ordinary 
Partnership were sold on 
March 11, 2013. 

To expand its commercial 
real estate portfolio, Akiş 
REIT has purchased 
properties on Bağdat 
Avenue, one of İstanbul’s 
most prominent retail 
areas, and entered the high 
street retail industry. 
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Our Awards

Akiş REIT continued to be recognized with 
international and national awards in 2013.

2013
The Akbatı Shopping Mall was a 
finalist in the “New Developments-
Large” category at the “ICSC 
European Shopping Centers 
Awards 2013.” 

2012
The Akbatı Shopping Mall was a 
finalist in the “Best Retail & Leisure 
Development” category at the 
“MAPIC Awards 2012.”

2012 
The corporate website of Akbatı 
Shopping Mall was awarded the 
Bronze Award in the “Consumer 
Information” category at the 
International “Horizon Interactive 
Awards.”

2012
Akbatı Shopping Mall was named 
the “Best Retail Development” and 
“Highly Commended in Mixed-Use 
Project” by the “European Property 
Awards 2012.”

2011
The first project of Akiş REIT, Akbatı 
Residences was recognized by 
both the general public and the 
competition jury, and won two awards 
in the “Smart Homes” category in 
“Turkey’s Most Successful Real Estate 
Investments” Contest.

2012
Akbatı Shopping Mall received the 
“Cleanest Shopping Center” award 
from “Cleaner Magazine’s Industrial 
Cleanliness Awards.”
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2013 
The Akbatı Shopping Mall was 
awarded a Platinum Award in the 
“Community Relations” category at 
the “Hermes Creative Awards.” 

2013 
The Akbatı Shopping Mall was 
awarded two Bronze Awards in 
the categories of “Communication/
PR Campaign of the Year-Social 
Media Focused-Europe” and 
“Communication/PR Campaign of the 
Year-Community Relations-Europe” at 
the “Stevie Awards.” 

2013 
The Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı 
Residences have been certified 
as “Good” according to BREEAM 
(Building Research Establishment 
Environmental Assessment 
Methodology), the leading 
sustainability assessment method.

2013
The Akbatı Shopping Mall was 
awarded the First Place Award 
in the “Retail-Built” category 
at the “Cityscape Awards for 
Emerging Markets 2013.” 

2013
The Akbatı Shopping Mall was 
awarded three Platinum Awards in the 
categories of “Community/PR/Special 
Event,” “Community/PR/Public 
Relations Program” and “Community/
PR/Corporate Social Responsibility”; 
and a Gold Award in the “Community/
PR/Special Event” category at the 
“Marcom Awards 2013.”



18 Akiş REIT 2013 ANNUAL REPORT

Message from the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors 

The real estate industry continued to be a driving 
force in the Turkish economy in 2013. 

AKKÖK Group is one of the 
founders of the Turkish private 
sector and AKİŞ REIT, its 
representative in the real estate 
industry, has continued to 
achieve great success in 2013.

Mehmet Ali Berkman 
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Through 2013, market players continued to act cautiously 
despite the gradual recovery of global markets. Although 
the recovery process is underway in developed countries, 
most notably the United States, uncertainties continue in 
emerging economies. 

The announcement from the US Federal Reserve of the 
termination of its monetary expansion policies by the end 
of 2013 caused significant movements in financial markets 
during the year. Following the announcement, a movement 
began towards local currency depreciation and rising 
interest rates in the developing economies that require 
external financing for growth.

According to forecasts by the International Monetary Fund 
(IMF), the global economy is expected to expand by 3% 
in 2013. The global economy will be influenced by factors 
such as the new monetary policies introduced by the US 
Federal Reserve; the outcome of the stabilization programs 
carried out in countries like Spain and Greece in the Euro 
Zone; and the impact of political turbulence in the Middle 
East on energy prices and demand. 

Turkey’s economy to expand with savings 
policies
Considered as one of the world’s strongest emerging 
economies as a result of its recent steady growth 
performance, the Turkish economy is expected to 
increase by 3.4% according to the IMF forecast and will 
be influenced by policies aimed towards decreasing the 
current account deficit.

The driving force of the Turkish economy: the 
real estate industry
The driving force of The Turkish economy, the real estate 
industry expanded by 7.4% in the first nine months of 
2013, compared to 0.6% in 2012. As a result of positive 
factors like the publication of urban renewal bylaws; 
the opening of lands known as 2B formerly classified 
as forest, for construction; the continuation of strong 

demand for housing in cities, most notably in İstanbul; 
and large-scale infrastructure projects undertaken by the 
state during the year, the real estate industry remained 
robust in terms of employability and investment options. 
However, the trend towards higher interest rates on loans 
and fluctuating exchange rates in the last quarter of 2013 
resulted in a decline in the industry’s profit margins. Under 
these circumstances, it is expected that the industry will 
become more competitive in the coming period, and that 
fragmentation in the market will act as a driver for branded 
projects that provide high added value. 

Professional managerial approach, innovative 
projects
Akkök Group is one of the founders of the Turkish private 
sector. The company operates its investments in the real 
estate industry, one of its three main industries, through 
Akiş REIT. Maintaining profitability with significant success 
in 2013, Akiş REIT increased its real estate assets to TL 
1.1 billion as of year-end. The long-term objective of Akiş 
REIT is to provide regular dividend income to its investors. 
Concurrently, the Company aims to increase rental 
income by investment in commercial property. I extend 
my gratitude to all our business partners, employees, 
customers and social stakeholders for their contribution in 
making Akiş REIT one of the industry’s leading companies 
within such a short period of time. At Akiş REIT, we wish to 
continue our success in the coming period. 

Sincerely,

Mehmet Ali Berkman 
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Message from the 
General Manager

In 2013, we achieved a 25% increase in the number 
of visitors and store revenues at Akbatı Shopping 
Mall. We have brought a new vision to commercial 
real estate with our investment in high street retail. 

“With an understanding of our 
strong corporate governance 
principles and in light of the 
developments in the economy 
and in our industry, we have 
focused on diversifying our 
portfolio through new real estate 
investments.”

İ. Gökşin Durusoy 
Member of the Board of Directors and 
General Manager 
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Established with the aim of creating a new vision in the 
real estate industry with projects that make a difference, 
Akiş REIT made significant progress in its corporate 
development in 2013. Throughout the year, Akiş REIT 
continued to provide total customer satisfaction with high 
quality projects despite uncertainty in the global markets 
and challenging developments in Turkey’s interest and 
exchange rates. In addition, the Company created added 
value for its shareholders by distributing TL 18 million in 
dividends; and closed this difficult year with significant 
profit. 

Strong steps towards a diversified portfolio 
In 2013, Akiş REIT once again realized its operations 
based on developments in the economy and the real 
estate industry. Closely following processes such as 
urban renewal; the opening of 2B lands; and large-scale 
infrastructure projects undertaken by the state, our 
Company aims to diversify its project portfolio with new 
real estate investments in line with the long-term interests 
of its shareholders and business partners. 

2013 was especially successful for the Akbatı Shopping 
Mall and delivered an optimistic outlook on new 
investments. We are excited about the March 2014 
opening of the Akasya Shopping Mall, in which we 
are a partner. By following the principle of continuous 
development, our Company has entered the area of 
high street retail as an alternative to the shopping center 
market, where GLA per person has increased significantly. 
Within the scope of projects planned primarily on Bağdat 
Avenue, the Company expects to generate significant 
and sustainable new rental income. In the coming 
period, Akiş REIT plans to carry out project development 
activities through urban renewal projects directed towards 
older residential buildings in İstanbul’s most desirable 
neighborhoods. Within the framework of its professional 
project management approach, Akiş REIT is preparing to 
develop signature projects in these areas.

A journey of continuous success crowned with 
awards
As a result of our attention to the environment and 
sustainability, and with environmentally-friendly applications 
that prioritize energy efficiency, the Akbatı Shopping Mall 
has been certified as “Good” according to the leading 
sustainability assessment method BREEAM (Building 
Research Establishment Environmental Assessment 
Methodology).

Gaining strength from the strategic direction and strong 
corporate governance policies of our major shareholder, 
Akkök Group, Akiş REIT will continue to add value to 
its shareholders’ investments by developing profitable 
projects and contributing to the progress of Turkey’s real 
estate industry. 

I extend my gratitude to our employees and our 
stakeholders who have contributed to our success in 
2013. Our greatest wish is that our journey of continuous 
success may be crowned with further achievements that 
are a source of pride for all our stakeholders in the coming 
period. 

İ. Gökşin Durusoy
Member of the Board of Directors and General Manager 
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General Economic 
Developments 

With its successful economic performance in the 
global arena, Turkey is expected to continue its 
steady growth in the coming period. 

Preserving its economic balance with the achievement of a 
2.2% growth rate in 2012, Turkey has continued its growth 
as a result of the macro-economic measures taken against 
the increasing current account deficit and inflation. 

The most notable challenges Turkey faced during this 
period were the current account deficit, inflation and the 
increase in exchange rates. Borsa İstanbul’s strong start 
as a result of the ongoing positive macro dynamics and 
the Fitch Ratings upgrade of Turkey to investment grade 
were both positive notes at the beginning of the year; 
however, by mid-year, 2013 had taken a negative course 
as a result of increases in both internal and external risks, 
due to mostly foreign macro-economic and political 
developments. 

The USA Federal Reserve’s announcement of the 
termination of its monetary expansion policies in 2013 
has generated concern that there will be capital outflow 
in developing countries. Following the termination of 
monetary expansion, increase in interest rates is expected 
to cause a deceleration in the economic growth rate and in 
industry growth.

It is also expected that Turkey will continue to experience 
steady growth in the coming period due to the country’s 
strategic geopolitical position, its young and dynamic 
population and its globally successful economic 
performance. 

The IMF forecasts 3.4% growth for Turkey in 2014. In 
addition to investment directed at reaching the potential 
growth rate, work towards improving financial balance and 
building up financial stability should be continued. 
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Developments in the 
Real Estate Industry

With an average growth rate of 5.6% in the last 10 
years, and as one of the driving industries of the Turkish 
economy, the real estate industry continues to develop 
as of year-end 2013. However, as we enter 2014, a 
rise in interest rates has increased the cost of loans 
for consumers, producing more caution in terms of 
investments. In addition, new legislation in 2013 changed 
the rate of the value-added tax for housing, indirectly 
causing consumer prices to rise; and creating a negative, 
albeit limited, impact for consumers. Fluctuations in 
exchange rates throughout the year also created pressure 
on commercial rental income collected in foreign currency. 

Although 2013 has been a difficult year in terms of rentals 
due to exchange rate fluctuations, foreign investors are still 
interested in Turkey. Many global brands have entered the 
Turkish market and that has created significant demand 
and positive contributions. 

Spearheaded by the Akkök Group 
with Akmerkez, Akiş REIT broke 
new ground in developing projects 
for commercial spaces in the retail 
industry.

Erkan Altay
Deputy General Manager for 
Investment Planning and Management 

Growing competition in the industry highlighted distinctive 
projects and heralded a trend towards more selective 
commercial investment. In this economic climate, 
shopping centers that catered to a range of consumer 
demands and offered residential space in addition to retail 
establishments have achieved a more prestigious position 
in the industry.

Urban renewal initiatives and property sales to foreigners 
have also driven significant industry development in 
2013. Investment and property purchases by foreigners, 
particularly from the Middle East region, have contributed 
to the vitalization of the industry. This has been a fruitful 
year in terms of the preparation of legal foundations related 
to disaster legislation and, by extension, the urban renewal 
process; however, application has thus far been limited. 
These initiatives are expected to have a broader impact in 
the industry in 2014. 

In 2014, it is expected that the real estate industry will 
develop in parallel to the global monetary markets and 
increasing stability in Turkey. It is expected that projects 
that keep up with an increasingly competitive industry and 
that meet social and cultural needs in addition to the basic 
needs of individuals, will be in high demand. 
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Akbatı Shopping Mall

252013 OPERATIONS
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Board of Directors Activity Report and 
Developments in Akiş REIT

In 2013, the current portfolio was structured for efficient 
management and increased profitability as well as 
diversification and enrichment, particularly in terms of 
rental income. 

Significant developments in 2013 included the 
commencement of the trading of Akiş REIT on the BIST 
as of January 9, 2013 and its distribution of TL 18 million 
in dividends pursuant to the Board of Directors decision 
dated April 17, 2013.

Akiş REIT sold the 25% of the shares it owned in the 
Garanti Koza-Akiş Ordinary Partnership and terminated the 
partnership on March 11, 2013. 

The current partnerships were terminated with the sale of 
the shares in Akfil Holding and in the Garanti Koza-Akiş 
Ordinary Partnership, generating significant resources. 

In addition, important decisions were made in 2013 along 
with new applications developed to comply with legislation 
and strengthen the corporate governance structure. A 
committee for early risk determination was established and 
began working actively. Amendments were made to the 
Articles of Association in accordance with the new Turkish 
Commercial Code. 

The Akbatı Shopping Mall had a very successful year. From 
its opening in September 2011, a proactive management 
and the contribution of its tenants, along with regularly 
increasing numbers in visitors and store openings, have 
brought it to a significant position within its district. With a 
25% increase in the number of visitors in 2013, the Akbatı 
Shopping Mall has achieved growth well above the index 
of the Turkish Council of Shopping Centers and was able 
to maintain this progression. 

Akiş REIT aims at creating innovation in the industry by 
leveraging consumer data, new approaches in the global 
markets and other trending indicators to define strategies 
for the coming period. 

By holding a unique position among real estate investment 
partnerships in Turkey thanks to the diversity of its current 
portfolio, Akiş REIT continues to differentiate itself with 
investments in commercial properties. 

Urban renewal projects, now cleared through legal 
provisions, will also be an area of opportunity for Akiş REIT 
in the coming period. The  Company is actively working in 
this area.  

Notable among real estate investment partnerships 
in Turkey with the diversity of its current portfolio, 
Akiş REIT continues to differentiate itself with 
investments in commercial properties. 
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Yalova Facility
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Real Estate 
with 
Rental Income 

• Akbatı
• Çerkezköy
• Yalova
• Bozüyük 

Akbatı Shopping Mall & Akbatı Residences
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With its shares wholly owned by 
Akiş REIT, the Akbatı Project was 
developed in Esenyurt, İstanbul with 
an investment of approximately USD 
250 million. 

Akbatı is designed as a lifestyle 
center comprised of a shopping 
center and residences that carry the 
concepts of quality and comfort to 
the highest levels. Spread on a total 
construction area of 242,000 m², 
Akbatı Shopping Mall accommodates 
about 200 stores, nine movie 
theaters, restaurants offering cuisines 
from around the world, playgrounds 
and sports fields, and a Festival Park 
with a 5,000 person capacity on 
a net leasable area of 65,496 m². 
One of the main transit points in 
Akbatı Shopping Mall, Restaurants 
Avenue is a major meeting point with 

its elegant cafés and restaurants 
selected among the top brands. The 
project which accommodates the 
Shopping Mall on four levels, and 
offers 350 residential units ranging 
from 1+1 to 4.5+1, as well as lofts, 
apartments with terraces, penthouses 
and duplex units in the 21-story 
Blue Tower and the 11-story Green 
Tower. Investments totaling more than 
USD 250 million were made within 
the Akbatı Project. Life at Akbatı 
Residences began in 2012. Akbatı 
Shopping Mall has welcomed visitors 
since its opening in September 2011.

AkbAtı Shoppıng MAll

25% 
INCREASE
In 2013, the number of 
visitors to Akbatı Shopping 
Mall increased 25%. 

Hakan Biçen
Deputy General Manager for Renting 

“We are building bridges between 
the reputable brands of the world 
and Turkey. The globally prestigious 
brands found in Akbatı and Akasya 
contribute immensely both to our 
company and to Turkey. ”
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Celebrating its second year, Akbatı 
has achieved significant success, 
with 16 awards in both national and 
international competitions during 
this period. The Akbatı Shopping 
Mall has organized 236 activities for 
children, 141 cooking workshops, 
183 yoga and pilates classes, 54 
private talks, 11 autograph sessions, 
seven exhibitions, 14 concerts, four 
theatre plays and numerous musical 
concerts free of charge. The 25% 
increase in the number of visitors to 
Akbatı and the international awards 
it has received demonstrate that 
it has indeed reached its targets 
successfully. 

The Akbatı Shopping Mall continued 
its success in 2013. In that year, it 
was awarded a Platinum Award in the 
“Community Relations” category at 
the “Hermes Creative Awards.” It was 
also awarded two Bronze Awards in 
the categories of “Communication/
PR Campaign of the Year-Social 

Media Focused-Europe” and 
“Communication/PR Campaign of the 
Year-Community Relations-Europe” 
at the “Stevie Awards.” The Akbatı 
Shopping Mall was awarded the 
First Place Award in the “Retail-Built” 
category at the “Cityscape Awards for 
Emerging Markets 2013,” to which 
more than 1,500 institutions and 
professionals from 120 countries were 
invited. The international jury at the 
award ceremony of the “Cityscape 
Awards” which brings together 
prominent players in the real estate 
industry, defined Akbatı Shopping 
Mall as “a perfectly designed and 
executed project that is competitive 
and meets the expectations in the 
market.” 

The Akbatı Shopping Mall crowned 
its success with four Award at 
the “Marcom Awards 2013.” The 
prominent international awards 
organization recognized the 
Akbatı Shopping Mall with three 

Platinum Awards in the categories 
of “Community/PR/Special Event,” 
“Community/PR/Public Relations 
Program” and “Community/PR/
Corporate Social Responsibility,” and 
a Gold Award in the “Community/PR/
Special Event” category.

With environmentally friendly 
applications that prioritize energy 
efficiency, the Akbatı Shopping 
Mall and Akbatı Residences have 
been certified as “good” according 
to the environmental sustainability 
assessment method BREEAM 
(Building Research Establishment 
Environmental Assessment 
Methodology). At the conclusion 
of the process, where buildings 
are assessed according to criteria 
such as correct use of resources, 
internal design and health and safety 
standards, Akbatı’s sustainable 
applications were once again 
certified. 
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ÇERkEZkÖY

With 90,965 square meters of closed 
construction area on a 377,004 
square meter tract in Çerkezköy, 
Tekirdağ, the factory comprises an 
administrative building and social 
facilities. The majority of the facility is 
currently being rented by Altınyıldız 
and is being used as a textiles and 
ready-made clothing factory. 

The property is located in the 
Çerkezköy Organized Industrial Zone, 
one of the country’s largest and 
most developed industrial zones, 
and has great potential due to its 
location, completed infrastructure and 
accessibility. 

90,965 m2 
CONSTRUCTION 
AREA
The property located in the 
Çerkezköy Organized Industrial 
Zone has significant potential. 

YAloVA

The property consists of a three-
building complex with 71,061 square 
meters of closed construction space 
on a 153,579 square meter tract 
in the town of Çiftlikköy, in the city 
of Yalova. Additional structures like 
water treatment facilities, waste 

and ordinary use water warehouses 
are also located on the property. 
Currently, three companies, Aksa, 
Akkim and Ersur, rent this property. 
Located in an area with middle- and 
large-scale industrial plants, the 
property overlooks the Yalova-İzmit 
highway.

71,061 m2 
CONSTRUCTION 
AREA
Located in an area with middle- 
and large-scale industrial 
plants, this property overlooks 
the Yalova-İzmit highway. 

boZüYük

Located in the town of Bozüyük in 
the city of Bilecik, on a 63,812 square 
meter tract, of which 23,845 square 
meters are closed construction 
space, the property consists of a 
factory and empty city block. The 
facilities are currently being used by 
Ersur Tekstil San. ve Tic. Ltd. Şti.

23,845 m2 
CONSTRUCTION 
AREA
The property has 23,845 square 
meters of closed construction 
space in the town of Bozüyük in 
the city of Bilecik. 
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Projects and Inventory

CoMMERCıAl pRopERtY

Making strategic investment decisions based on projected 
industry demand, the Company has invested in a number 
of properties on Bağdat Avenue, one of İstanbul’s most 
prominent streets, in the districts of Caddebostan, Erenköy 
and Bostancı, to expand its commercial real estate 
portfolio. 

Akiş REIT plans to be actively involved in commercial 
property development; both because shopping center 
investments have reached higher levels and for strategic 
reasons such as portfolio diversification. The Company 
expects to generate regular rental income from the 
commercial units and sales income from the limited 
number of residential units to be developed. 
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tEkStılkEnt

This is a three-story complex located 
on the first floor of the A-3 Block of 
the Tekstilkent Trade Center in the 
Esenler district of İstanbul.

AkbAtı RESıdEnCES 
There are 350 residential units ranging from 1+1 to 4.5+1, 
as well as lofts, apartments with terraces, penthouses and 
duplex units at the 21-story Blue Tower and the 11-story 
Green Tower, both above the Akbatı Shopping Mall. Life at 
Akbatı Residences began in 2012. The Akbatı Residences 
project is comprised of the remaining 30 apartments. 

AkkoZA RESıdEnCES

These comprise the remaining seven 
residential units within the scope of 
the Akkoza Project.

AkbAtı WhıtE toWER

The sale of all residential units belonging to Akiş REIT is 
complete at the Akbatı White Tower, which is located on a 
3,000 square meter tract in close proximity to the Akbatı 
Shopping Mall in Esenyurt. 

Bağdat Caddesi Erenköy Apartmanı
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Land
The tract is located in the Kısıklı neighborhood of Üsküdar, 
İstanbul. City block no.2,773 Parcel 2 of 48,417.75 
square meters, city block no.2,774 Parcel 2 of 24,133.03 
square meters, and city block no.804 Parcel 57 of 
2,223.44 square meters are zoned land that is considered 
appropriate for tourism and recreation. 

ÇAMlıCA

Other Projects 
Developed under 
Partnerships

AkkoZA
Akiş REIT has sold 25% of its shares in Garanti Koza-Akiş 
Adi Ortaklığı on March 11,2013 and finalized its partnership 
in the project.
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AkASYA nEW gEnERAtıon lıFE CoMplEX 

The Akasya Project is being developed on a tract of 
121,000 square meters by SAF REIT A.Ş., a participation 
of Akiş REIT. Comprising 1,357 residences and a shopping 
center with a rentable area of 80,000 square meters, the 
project has three phases: the Grove, Lake and Urban. The 
Grove and Lake Phases were opened in 2012. In 2013, 
the Urban Phase opened its commercial units. Part of the 
Urban Phase, the Akasya Acıbadem Shopping Mall will 
have around 250 stores and will begin operating in March 
2014. 

Providing an enjoyable shopping experience, a wide variety 
of social activities and easy access, Akasya Acıbadem is 
the most remarkable living complex on the Asian side as 
well as in İstanbul, with a harmonious blend of green space 
and lakes that encourage residents to enjoy nature; and 
open air squares designed to promote quality of life.

In 2013, Akasya Acıbadem participated in the MIPIM, 
considered worldwide to be the real estate industry’s most 
prestigious fair, and was recognized with the first prize 
in the category of “People’s Choice Awards” among 32 
prominent projects. In 2013, and participating in MAPIC 
for a second time, the Akasya Project was again met with 
great interest by foreign investors. 

Due to its use of resources, solutions provided for local 
issues, prioritization of air quality and health standards 
and the systems used in the building to reduce long-term 
effects on environment, the Akasya Acıbadem Residence 
Project was certified in 2013 in accordance with the 
BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental 
Assessment Methodology).
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Information on Portfolio Assets 

With a broad and diversified portfolio structure, Akiş 
REIT provides investors with opportunities to invest 
in varied areas of real estate. 

AKİŞ REIT SUMMARY LIST OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Property Current Value(TL) Report Nr. Valuation Company Report Date

Akbatı Shopping Mall 603,970,966 2013_300_31 Vektör Gayrimenkul Değerleme 31.12.2013

Çerkezköy 81,700,000 2013/4157 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme
 ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.

27.12.2013

Yalova 53,440,000 2013/4214 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme
 ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.

27.12.2013

Üsküdar Çamlıca Land 51,311,138 2013_300_35 Vektör Gayrimenkul Değerleme 31.12.2013

Bozüyük Yaftı 9,550,000 2013/3918 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme
 ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.

27.12.2013

Bozüyük Kızıltepe 75,000 2013/3919 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme
 ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.

27.12.2013

Tesktilkent 290,000 2013/4300 Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme
 ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.

27.12.2013

AKİŞ REIT SUMMARY LIST OF INVENTORY

Property Inventory Value (TL) Report Nr. Report Date

Ak Residences 19,088,077 Audited Financial Statements 31.12.2013

Çiftehavuzlar Land 39,723,509 Audited Financial Statements 31.12.2013

Uşaklıgil Residence 75,938,571 Audited Financial Statements 31.12.2013

Erenköy Residence 93,824,575 Audited Financial Statements 31.12.2013

Edip Ürer Residence 16,057,427 Audited Financial Statements 31.12.2013

Akbatı Residences Housing Stock 10,537,729 Audited Financial Statements 31.12.2013

Akbatı Beyaz Kule Housing Stock 14,145,609 Audited Financial Statements 31.12.2013

Akkoza Housing Stock 2,710,985 Audited Financial Statements 31.12.2013
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Subsidiaries

Akiş REIT has three subsidiaries in which the 
Company holds shares. The participation rates and 
capital amounts for the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of 
Participation

Total Capital of 
Participation (TL)

Participation 
Amount of 

Company (TL)

Participation 
Rate of 

Company (%) Area of Operations

SAF Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı 
Anonim Şirketi

886,601,669 58,142,186 6.56 Real estate investment
 and development

Ak Yön Yönetim ve 
Bakım Hizmetleri 
Anonim Şirketi

50,000 49,996 99.99 Ensuring the appropriate utilization
 of the residence, mass housing 

and shopping centers facilities in 
properties where it has undertaken

 the maintenance, utilities and 
management; taking the measures

 for preservation, and providing 
supervision and management services

Aksu Real Estate EAD. 
(“Aksu Real Estate”)

902,978 902,978 100.00 Aksu Textiles EAD was established on 
December 18, 2000 in Bulgaria. Wholly 

owned by Ak-Al, Aksu Textiles EAD 
became a subsidiary of Akiş REIT with 
a merger certified on January 4, 2013. 

Pursuant to the decision of the Board of 
Directors dated August 16, 2013,

 the name of Aksu Textiles EAD
 was changed to Aksu Real Estate

 EAD. Concurrently, the Company’s area 
of operations shifted into a range of

 real estate investments for profit
 in Turkey and abroad. 
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Akiş REIT holds a 6.56% stake in SAF REIT, whose 
paid-in capital reached TL 886,601,669 after the 
merger. 

Akiş REIT holds a 6.56% stake in SAF Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 

The Kent Phase of Akasya Shopping Mall was begun in 2013 with the delivery of commercial space. Built on a 
construction area of 324,459 square meters with a leasable area of 80,000 square meters, the Akasya Shopping Mall is 
expected to become the premier shopping center on İstanbul’s Asian side following its opening in March 2014.

SAF gAYRıMEnkul YAtıRıM oRtAklığı A.Ş.
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Ak YÖn YÖnEtıM VE bAkıM hıZMEtlERı A.Ş.

Ak Yön was registered and founded on August 12, 
2011 in İstanbul. The company’s primary operating area 
includes providing all kinds of services and support to 
ensure the appropriate utilization of the properties, such 
as residences, mass housing, modern housing units, 
shopping centers, commercial and business centers; 
hotels, motels, resorts, all types of tourism facilities, social 
facilities, tourism, sports, training and cultural facilities, 
movie and theater halls, hospitals and nursing homes in 
which it has undertaken the maintenance and utilities, as 
well as management responsibilities; and further taking the 
measures for preserving, and providing supervision and 
management services.

R&D 
Activities

As a result of being a real estate investment trust, Akiş 
REIT does not conduct R&D activities. Market research 
and other required analyses are conducted through firms 
that provide professional consultancy.
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Sustainability

Environment

The Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı Residences 
have been certified as “Good” according to the 
sustainability assessment method BREEAM.

The Akbatı Shopping Mall and Akbatı Residences, projects 
of Akiş REIT, have been certified as “Good” according 
to the environmental sustainability assessment method 
BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental 
Assessment Methodology). The method prioritizes energy 
efficiency and environmental impact. At the end of the 
process, which assesses buildings according to criteria 
such as best use of resources, internal design and health 
standards, Akbatı’s sustainable applications have been 
once again certified. 

Using specific standards, BREEAM, in effect since 1990, 
aims to assess the environmental impact of a building. 
The certification is renewable annually and evaluates 
contemporary projects that use environmentally friendly 
technologies. 

Sustainable growth and social responsibility play significant 
roles in defining the roadmap of Akkök Group. In this 
respect, Akkök Group has taken the first step in bringing 
its social responsibility approach to universal standards by 
signing the Global Compact of the United Nations in 2007.

In addition, according to the “Energy Performance in 
Buildings Regulations,” Akiş REIT, prioritizing energy 
efficiency in every stage of its projects, has been awarded 
a class-B “Energy License” for the Akbatı Shopping Mall 
and the Akbatı Residences for its effective and efficient 
use of energy and energy resources and for preventing 
excessive energy consumption and protecting the 
environment.

Akkök Group, the parent company of Akiş REIT, has 
published a Sustainability Report that includes information 
and data regarding undertakings in the areas of the 
environment, human resources and social responsibility 
throughout 2013.
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Human Resources

When creating and implementing human resources 
practices, Akiş REIT’s is taking common values, 
business ethics, appliable laws and the Global 
Compact into consideration. 
Our aim is to create parallel approaches to those of the 
Akkök Group in human resources in support of Company 
strategies. 

At Akiş REIT, when we create and implement human 
resources practices, our starting point is to take our 
common values, business ethics principles, applicable law 
and the Global Compact into consideration.

Fundamental Principles
The fundamental principles that guide our human 
resources practices are as follows: 

• We respect applicable legislation and regulatory 
requirements in our human resources practices and 
applications. As a fundamental rule, we choose to 
act in accordance with the principles of Akkök Group 
in our human resources processes. In this respect, 
human resources practices and applications are 
realized in line with our human resources policies and 
ethics. 

• We operate in line with the policies and human 
resources applications of Akkök Group.

• All our human resources policies are in line with the 
business strategies of Akiş REIT. In implementing 
human resources strategies, we take not only current 
organizational needs into account but also future 
needs in accordance with the Company’s strategies. 

• All human resources processes are in accordance with 
human rights and should promote human rights. These 
principles require non-discriminatory practices and 
provision of equal opportunities within the Company. 

• The fundamental principles of our human resources 
practices are justice, consistency and reliability. 

• We focus on creating a ‘win-win’ situation between the 
Company and the employees in all human resources 
applications. 

• In order to continuously improve our human resources 
standards, we systematically and periodically review 
these applications with various tools, including self-
assessment, and we adjust our human resources 
practices in accordance with developments in the field 
and the feedback we receive. 

• Our priority is to protect personal information and 
maintain confidentiality. The Human Resources 
Department requests only information necessary for 
employment and required for legal documentation. 

• In addition to the Human Resources Department, all 
departments and executives are deemed responsible 
for supporting and carrying out our human resources 
policies and applications. 
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Work Force

Akiş REIT provides an environment that promotes 
awareness of occupational health and safety 
among employees. 

Akiş REIT has 32 employees as of end-2013. The 
Company’s workforce is composed of well-qualified 
employees chosen according to the knowledge, skills and 
experience demanded by the positions they hold.

Akiş REIT’s employees are responsible, results-oriented 
and value-creating individuals who contribute to the 
primary objectives of the Company, engage in teamwork 
and have a high sense of ownership.

Gender Breakdown of Employees

Male

Female

17

15

As of year-end 2013, the average age of employees at 
Akiş REIT is 38 and the average length of employment is 
eight years.

Occupational Health and Safety at Akiş REIT 
We promise to keep our employees healthy and safe in 
the workplace and to take the necessary actions to create 
a hygienic, ergonomic and safe work environment and to 
follow legal standards in this regard.

Keeping the work environment safe requires constant 
co-operation from all employees. All employees are 
responsible for taking necessary precautions regarding 
health and safety both for themselves and for those who 
might be affected by their actions. Akiş REIT continuously 
works to create awareness of occupational health and 
safety among employees and provides an environment 
that enables employees to take responsibility on all 
aspects of safety.

Occupational Health and Safety Policy of Akkök 
Group
In order to provide a safe work environment by following 
the ‘people first’ approach in those industries we operate, 
namely chemicals, energy, real estate, textile and services: 

• In all our business processes and activities, we 
determine, evaluate and control risks regarding 
occupational health and safety. 

• We evaluate possible emergencies and provide for 
the safety of our stakeholders by preparing necessary 
action plans. 

• We follow legal protocol and other related procedures, 
and contribute to their development. 

• We organize training activities on occupational health 
and safety in order to improve the knowledge of our 
employees and business partners. 

• By encouraging our employees to participate, we 
continuously improve and monitor occupational health 
and safety management and performance. 
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Organizational Structure

General Manager

Executive Assistant

deputy general Manager 
for ınvestment planning 

and Management

deputy
general Manager

for leasing

deputy
general Manager for
Sales and Marketing

deputy
general Manager

for Finance

Accounting
department

planning and
Cost Control

budgeting, Reporting
and Finance 

business development
and Relations with

Shareholders

leasing
department

Sales and Marketing 
department
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Board of Directors and Auditors

Name and Surname Title
Commencement

of Duties Term of Office

Mehmet Ali Berkman Chairman of the Board of Directors 17.05.2013 3 years

Raif Ali Dinçkök Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors 17.05.2013 3 years

Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi Member of the Board of Directors 17.05.2013 3 years

Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü Member of the Board of Directors 17.05.2013 3 years

İhsan Gökşin Durusoy Member of the Board of Directors–General Manager 17.05.2013 3 years

Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu Member of the Board of Directors 17.05.2013 3 years

Uzay Kozak Independent Member of the Board of Directors 17.05.2013 3 years

Hüseyin Ersin Takla Independent Member of the Board of Directors 17.05.2013 3 years

Company Management

Name and Surname Title 

İhsan Gökşin Durusoy  Member of the Board of Directors–General Manager

Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu Member of the Board of Directors- Deputy General Manager for Sales and Marketing

Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu Deputy General Manager for Finance

Hakan Biçen Deputy General Manager for Leasing

Erkan Altay Deputy General Manager for Investment Planning and Management
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Mehmet Ali Berkman
Chairman of the board of directors
Mehmet Ali Berkman was born in 1943 in Malatya. After 
graduating from the Business Administration Department of 
the Middle East Technical University, he received his MBA in 
Operations Research from Syracuse University in the USA. In 
1972, Berkman joined the Koç Group and took his retirement 
in 2004 here. In September 2005, he joined the Akkök Sanayi 
Yatırım ve Geliştirme A.Ş. as Board Member and Chairman of 
the Executive Board. He acted as member and chairman on 
the boards of the Group companies. Berkman handed over 
the Chairmanship of the Executive Board at Akkök on January 
1, 2013, and since then continues to serve as Advisor to the 
Executive Board at Akkök. Berkman also continues to serve 
as Member and Chairman of the Boards of Directors of other 
Group companies. 

Raif Ali Dinçkök
deputy Chairman of the board of directors
Born in 1971 in İstanbul, Raif Ali Dinçkök graduated from the 
Department of Business at Boston University (USA) in 1993. 
Upon his graduation, he joined Akkök Group. From 1994 
to 2000, he worked in the Purchasing Department of Ak-Al 
Tekstil San. A.Ş. and from 2000 to 2003 as Coordinator at 
Akenerji. Dinçkök currently serves as Member on both the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Board of Akkök Sanayi 
Yatırım ve Geliştirme A.Ş., and on the Boards of Directors at 
other Akkök Group companies.

Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi
Member of the board of directors 
Born in İstanbul in 1956, Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi graduated 
from Lycée Français Sainte Pulchérie in İstanbul in 1970. She 
continued her education in Switzerland, where she graduated 
from St. Georges School in 1976. Dinçkök Çiftçi currently 
serves on the Board of Directors of Akkök Sanayi Yatırım ve 
Geliştirme A.Ş., and on the Boards of Directors of other Group 
companies.

Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü 
Member of the board of directors 
Born in İstanbul in 1953, Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü graduated 
from the Department of Business Administration at Çukurova 
University. He furthered his postgraduate studies at the 
Universities of Mannheim and Hannover. Dördüncü started 
his professional career at Claas OHG in Germany and worked 
at Mercedes Benz A.Ş. in Turkey between 1984 and 1987. 
In 1987, he joined the Sabancı Group and assumed several 
positions at Kordsa A.Ş. until 1998. In 1998, he transferred 
to DUSA, also part of the Sabancı Group, and worked as 
General Manager/President first responsible for South America 
and then North America. Following his Strategic Planning and 
Business Development Group Presidency at H. Ö. Sabancı 
Holding A.Ş. in 2004, he worked as the President of the 
Executive Board of H. Ö. Sabancı Holding A.Ş. between 2005 
and 2010. Chairman of the Executive Board of Akkök Group 
since January 2013, Ahmet Cemal Dördüncü also serves on 
the Boards of Directors of other Akkök Group Companies. 

İhsan Gökşin Durusoy 
Member of the board of directors (general Manager)
Born in Denizli in 1964, İhsan Gökşin Durusoy received 
his master’s degree in Industrial Engineering from Boğaziçi 
University in 1987 and started his career as Production 
Engineer in Arçelik. Working as Finance and IT Executive at 
Izmir Demir Çelik A.Ş. from 1988 to 1989, Durusoy joined 
Akkök Group in 1989 as Chief Budget Planner at Ak-Al Tekstil 
Sanayii A.Ş. Here, he later served first as Budget Planning 
Manager and then as Strategic Planning Director. In 2007, he 
became Assistant General Manager at Akiş REIT, which was 
founded with the aim of developing unique and large-scale 
real estate projects. Since 2009, Durusoy has been serving 
as General Manager and Member of the Board of Directors 
at Akiş REIT as well as serving on the Boards of Directors of 
other Akkök Group Companies.

Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu
Member of the board of directors 
Born in İstanbul in 1983, Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu graduated 
from the Department of Business Administration and 
Economics at the Sawyer School of Management of Suffolk 
University in 2005. She started her career in 2005 as a 
Strategic Planning Expert at Ak-Al Tekstil Sanayi A.Ş. She 
joined Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırımı A.Ş., when the Company 
was setup in 2005. Here she worked as Project Coordinator, 
Sales and Marketing Manager, and Assistant General Manager 
for Sales and Marketing respectively. Alize Dinçkök Eyüboğlu 
presently serves on the Boards of Directors of Akkök Group 
Companies.

Uzay Kozak 
ındependent Member of the board of directors 
Born in İstanbul in 1967, Uzay Kozak graduated from the 
Department of Economics at İstanbul University in 1988. 
He completed his master’s studies at the University of 
Nottingham. He started his career at İnterbank A.Ş and 
then worked at executive positions at Lehman Brothers, 
Inquam LTD, Bali Rüzgar Elektrik Üretim San. Tic. A.Ş. 
and Fokus Yatırım Holding A.Ş. respectively. Kozak serves 
as Independent Member of the Board of Directors at Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş..

Hüseyin Ersin Takla
ındependent Member of the board of directors 
Born in İstanbul in 1944, Hüseyin Ersin Takla graduated from 
the Department of Civil Engineering at İstanbul Technical 
University in 1968. He started his career at STFA İnşaat A.Ş. 
Presently the Chairman of the Board of Directors of TML in 
Libya, Azerbaijan and Saudi Arabia, Hüseyin Ersin Takla also 
serves as an Independent Member of the Board of Directors 
on the Boards of Directors of Akkök Group Companies.
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Declaration of Independent Membership 
of the Board of Directors

Pursuant to the Communiqué Regarding the Determination 
and Application of Corporate Governance Principles (II-17.1) 
and the Communiqué on Principles Regarding Real Estate 
Investment Companies (Series III, No. 48.1) issued by the 
Capital Markets Board, the Articles of Association, and the 
criteria set forth in the related legislation, as a candidate for 
independent membership of the Board of Directors of Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., I declare that:

- Neither I, nor my spouse or anyone among my relatives 
to the third degree, by blood or by marriage, have 
established relations, directly or indirectly, with Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or its subsidiaries, 
or its affiliates or the companies within the Group within 
the last five years in the form of employment, or by 
means of capital or commerce;

- I have not been elected to represent a certain share 
group at the Board of Directors;

- I have not worked for those companies that audit, 
provide consulting services to, or manage activities or 
organizations, in part or in full, for Akiş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or assumed any executive 
position at these companies within the last five years;

- I have not been employed by those companies that 
independently audit Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş. or been part of the independent audit 
process within the last five years; 

- I have not worked for those companies that provide 
significant products and services to Akiş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or assumed any executive 
position at these companies within the last five years;

- My spouse or anyone among my relatives to the third 
degree, by blood or by marriage, is neither an executive 
at Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. nor a 
shareholder or in an executive position, who holds more 
than 5% of the total capital or control over management 
in any case, or has any influence in the control of Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.;

- I do not earn any other income from Akiş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. other than the fee for 
membership of the Board of Directors and the benefits 
that are provided in accordance with the Articles of 
Association, and that if I am a shareholder due to my 
membership of the Board of Directors, I do not have 
more than 1% of the shares and that these shares are 
not privileged;

- I am considered a resident in Turkey in accordance with 
the Income Tax Law;

- I do not work full time for any public institution or 
organization at the time of my candidature, and that 
in the case of my election, I will not work for the said 
institutions for the duration of my duty; 

- I have strong, ethical standards as well as occupational 
reputation and experience that will enable me to make 
positive contributions to the operations of the Company; 
that will enable me to maintain impartiality in any conflict 
of interest among the company partners; to decide 
independently by taking the rights of the stakeholders 
into consideration; and therefore will be acting as an 
independent member as a Member of the Board of 
Directors of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.

Pursuant to the related legislation, I also declare that should 
a situation arise that removes my independence, I will 
communicate this to the Board of Directors in order for it 
to be announced to the public, and that I will resign as a 
principal. 

Sincerely, 

Uzay Kozak
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Declaration of Independent Membership 
of the Board of Directors

Pursuant to the Communiqué Regarding the Determination 
and Application of Corporate Governance Principles (II-17.1) 
and the Communiqué on Principles Regarding Real Estate 
Investment Companies (Series III, No. 48.1) issued by the 
Capital Markets Board, the Articles of Association, and the 
criteria set forth in the related legislation, as a candidate for 
independent membership of the Board of Directors of Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., I declare that:

- Neither I, nor my spouse or anyone among my relatives 
to the third degree, by blood or by marriage, have 
established relations, directly or indirectly, with Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or its subsidiaries, 
or its affiliates or the companies within the Group within 
the last five years in the form of employment, or by 
means of capital or commerce;

- I have not been elected to represent a certain share 
group at the Board of Directors;

- I have not worked for those companies that audit, 
provide consulting services to, or manage activities or 
organizations, in part or in full, for Akiş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or assumed any executive 
position at these companies within the last five years;

- I have not been employed by those companies that 
independently audit Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş. or been part of the independent audit 
process within the last five years; 

- I have not worked for those companies that provide 
significant products and services to Akiş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. or assumed any executive 
position at these companies within the last five years;

- My spouse or anyone among my relatives to the third 
degree, by blood or by marriage, is neither an executive 
at Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. nor a 
shareholder or in an executive position, who holds more 
than 5% of the total capital or control over management 
in any case, or has any influence in the control of Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.;

- I do not earn any other income from Akiş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. other than the fee for 
membership of the Board of Directors and the benefits 
that are provided in accordance with the Articles of 
Association, and that if I am a shareholder due to my 
membership of the Board of Directors, I do not have 
more than 1% of the shares and that these shares are 
not privileged;

- I am considered a resident in Turkey in accordance with 
the Income Tax Law;

- I do not work full time for any public institution or 
organization at the time of my candidature, and that 
in the case of my election, I will not work for the said 
institutions for the duration of my duty; 

- I have strong, ethical standards as well as occupational 
reputation and experience that will enable me to make 
positive contributions to the operations of the Company; 
that will enable me to maintain impartiality in any conflict 
of interest among the company partners; to decide 
independently by taking the rights of the stakeholders 
into consideration; and therefore will be acting as an 
independent member as a Member of the Board of 
Directors of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.

Pursuant to the related legislation, I also declare that should 
a situation arise that removes my independence, I will 
communicate this to the Board of Directors in order for it 
to be announced to the public, and that I will resign as a 
principal. 

Sincerely, 

Hüseyin Ersin Takla
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Corporate Governance Principles 
Compliance Report

1. Compliance Statement on Corporate Governance 
Principles
Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı Anonim Şirketi (“Akiş” or 
the “Company”) is aware of the fact that the quality of the 
corporate governance practices has gained importance in 
addition to financial performance in a period where rapid 
competition and change is experienced. In this regard, the 
Company has included creating sustainable value for its 
shareholders in its prioritized objectives. The characteristic 
of Akiş as a reputable, innovative, hardworking, creative and 
sharing organization and its corporate and reliable stance 
before its customers, employees and the society, particularly 
before its shareholders and investors, is sustained by 
Corporate Governance Principles. 

Pursuant to this objective, Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı 
A.Ş. pays strict attention to implement the principles 
stipulated in the Corporate Governance Principles published 
by the Capital Markets Board (CMB).

PART I-SHAREHOLDERS
2. Shareholders Relations Unit
2.1 In addition to the corporate functions, established 
pursuant to the legislation, the “Investor Relations Unit” 
functions under the Vice President of Financial Affairs, 
and plays an active role in overseeing the rights of share 
ownership, particularly the rights of access to information 
and examination, and facilitating the exercise of such rights.

In this context, the questions directed to the unit shall be 
answered either in writing or by phone upon discussing with 
the top responsible of the relevant matter, excluding the 
information deemed as confidential and trade secrets.

Company employees in charge of Investor Relations:

Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu
Deputy General Manager for Finance 
0 212 393 01 00/53506
banuhan@akisgyo.com 

Mustafa Ozan Hançer
Business Development and Investor Relations Manager
0 212 393 01 00/53519
ozan@akisgyo.com
Fax: 0 212 393 01 02

2.2 There are 74 disclosures of material matters disclosed 
in 2013 in order to ensure that the stakeholders, in 
particular the partners, and other parties are informed in 
due time pursuant to the principle of public disclosure and 
transparency.

3. The Exercise of Shareholders’ Rights to Obtaining 
Information
3.1 All shareholders, including minority and foreign 
shareholders, are treated equally.

3.2 All shareholders are entitled to obtain and examine all 
kinds of information in accordance with the regulations 
in force and those not relating to trade secrets. Right 
to access information and examination is not revoked 
or restricted by the articles of association or one of the 
company functions.

3.3 There is no provision inserted in the articles of 
association for any of the shareholders personally requesting 
special audit for examination of certain events from the 
general assembly, even though such matter is not on the 
agenda. There were no applications for the assignment of 
special auditors within the period.

3.4 Corporate governance avoids taking any action that will 
hinder the conducting of private audit.

4. General Assembly Meetings
4.1 In addition to the procedures stipulated in the 
regulations, the announcement of General Assembly 
meeting is made minimum three weeks in advance via the 
website “www.akisgyo.com” and Public Disclosure Platform 
“KAP” allowing to reach as many shareholders as possible, 
and moreover, published in the Turkish Trade Registry 
Gazette. 

4.2 In addition to the notifications and disclosures that the 
company is required to make on the Company’s website 
pursuant to the regulations along with the general assembly 
meeting announcement, the “General Assembly Information 
Document” prepared to include the points stipulated in 
clause 1.3.2 of the communiqué on Determination and 
Implementation of CMB Corporate Governance Principles 
was also published on the website.
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4.3 Each proposal was listed clearly and as a separate item 
on the General Assembly agenda.

4.4 On the agenda of the Ordinary General Assembly 
meeting of 2012, there weren’t any issues that the 
shareholders submitted in writing to the Investor Relations 
Unit so that the issue is included in the agenda.

4.5 Ordinary general assembly meeting of 2012 was 
held on the 17th of May 2013 in Istanbul pursuant to the 
relevant article of the articles of association in a manner 
that would not lead to inequality between the shareholders 
and that would ensure the participation of the shareholders 
with as minimum cost as possible in order to increase 
the participation of the shareholders. There was 88.28% 
participation in the meeting. 

4.6 Questions received from the participants of the general 
assembly that were not considered under the trade secret 
context, were answered in the General Assembly meeting. 

4.7 In the Ordinary General Assembly meeting of 2012, 
as per the Corporate Governance Principles of the Capital 
Markets Board; the majority shareholders, the members of 
the Board of Directors, senior management staff members, 
and their blood relatives, and relatives by marriage up to 
second-degree, and moreover, as per the Articles n.395 and 
396 of the Turkish Commercial Code the members of the 
Board of Directors were additionally granted the necessary 
authorities on the issues:
• making transactions which may lead to conflicts of 

interest with the Company and affiliates, 
• competing with the company, 
• performing the business involved within the Company’s 

field of activity, personally or on behalf of others, 
• becoming partners in the companies performing similar 

business as well as performing other works,  
and there were no problems arising from the authorities 
granted in this period.

4.8 No individuals or institutions were granted privileges for 
accessing the company information.

4.9 Members of the board of directors, other relevant 
parties, persons responsible for the preparation of financial 
statements, and auditors were present in the ordinary 
general assembly meeting of 2012 in order to provide 
the necessary information and respond to the questions 
regarding the items having a priority in the agenda.

4.10 In 2013, the matters related to the transactions that 
are important in terms of implementation of Corporate 
Governance Principles were included in the articles of 
association after the amendments (made in 2013), and there 
were no actions taken within this scope (in 2013).

4.11 The donations made by the Company in 2012 were 
brought to the attention of the partners as a separate 
agenda item in the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting 
of 2012, and the information regarding the donations 
made within the year was given in the annual report. 
The donations and charities policy of the Company was 
prepared.

4.12 While there are no specific provisions in the articles of 
association, the General Assembly meetings are held via 
electronic environment system as stipulated by the CMB. 

5. Voting and Minority Rights 
5.1 The Company avoids practices that hinder exercising 
the voting right. 

5.2 There are no privileges for voting right.

5.3 The Company does not have a mutual subsidiary 
relationship with any companies.

5.4 Utmost attention is paid for using the minority rights.

5.5 The Company acts in accordance with the relevant 
legislation on the issue of minority rights.
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6. Dividend Right
6.1 Dividend distribution policy of the Company was 
disclosed to the public, announced on the website and 
included in the annual report in accordance with the 
decision of CMB.

6.2 Dividend distribution policy of the Company consists of 
the minimum information clear enough to allow the investors 
to anticipate the procedures and principles intended for 
the distribution of the profit that the Company shall make in 
future periods.

6.3 There is no privilege regarding the issue of participating 
in the profit of the Company.

6.4 A decision for the distribution of the profit was taken 
in the ordinary general assembly meeting of 2012, and a 
dividend in the amount of TL 18,000,000.00 was distributed 
in cash to the partners at the end of May.

6.5 A balanced policy between the interests of the 
shareholders and the interest of the Company is pursued in 
the dividend distribution policy.

7. Transfer of Shares
7.1 Group A shares of the Company are registered shares, 
and group B shares are bearer shares. Group A shares have 
the privilege to nominate candidates for the election of the 
members of the Board of Directors. Transfer of the privileged 
group (A) registered shares is subject to the permission of 
the Capital Markets Board. 

PART II-PUBLIC DISCLOSURE AND 
TRANSPARENCY 
8. Disclosure Policy
8.1 Company’s disclosure policy specifies; the responsible 
persons, the information to be disclosed to the public 
other than the ones stipulated by the law, the form, the 
regularity and the method of announcing such information 
to the public, the regularity of the press meetings organized 
by the Board of Directors or directors, the regularity of 
organizing press conferences intended for informing the 
public, the kind of method to be followed in responding to 
the questions directed to the company, and other similar 
matters.

8.2 The Company information to be disclosed to the 
public is brought into public use on “Public Disclosure 
Platform” (www.kap.gov.tr) and on the Company’s 
website (www.akisgyo.com) in a timely, accurate, 
complete, comprehensible, interpretable and cost-efficient 
easily accessible manner in order to help entities make 
use of such disclosure in taking decisions. Moreover, 
“e-GOVERNANCE: Corporate Management and Investor 
Relations Portal” of the Central Registry Agency is used for 
informing the company partners directly and efficiently.

8.3 Prudential information, predictions and the data that the 
predictions are based on are also disclosed, and attention 
is paid that they do not include baseless, exaggerated 
anticipations and that they are not misleading. Moreover, 
special attention is paid so that the assumptions are 
coherent with Company’s financial status and operational 
outcomes.

8.4 The information shall be updated if the forecasts and the 
grounds included in the prudential information disclosed to 
the public are not actualized or if it is understood that they 
will not be actualized.

8.5 Company’s disclosure policy is available on the 
company’s website www.akisgyo.com under “Corporate 
Governance” section.

9. Company’s Website and Its Contents

9.1 The website www.akisgyo.com owned by the Company, is 
actively used in disclosing information to the public. The URL 
of the website is available on the Company’s letterhead.

9.2 Company’s website is prepared in accordance with the 
clause 2.2.2 of Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué on 
Determination and Implementation of Corporate Governance 
Principles. Moreover, stakeholders requesting more information 
about the Company may reach contact persons by sending 
e-mail to info@akisgyo.com.

9.3 Company’s partnership structure is announced on the 
Company’s website showing the shareholder names, number 
of shares and rates.
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9.4 The essential information announced on the website is 
also available in English for the use of international investors. 
Moreover, international investors requesting more information 
about the Company may reach contact persons by sending 
e-mail to info@akisgyo.com.

10. Annual Report
Company’s Board of Directors has prepared the annual 
report based on the Turkish Commercial Code and Capital 
Markets Board regulations in a detailed manner allowing the 
public to access complete and accurate information about 
the activities 

a) Information on the members of the Board of Directors’ 
and Company directors’ duties assumed outside the 
company, and board members’ statements regarding 
their independence are disclosed to the public in the 
annual report and on the Company’s website.

b) In 2013, Audit Committee convened five times, 
Corporate Governance Committee convened four  
times and Early Detection of Risk Committee convened 
four times. Information on working principles and the 
activities of the committees are detailed in Part IV.

c) The Board of Directors has gathered 47 times in the 
activity year of 2013. Majority quorum was present in all 
of these meetings, and efforts were made to constitute 
a quorum in meetings.

d) In 2013, the Company and members of the Board of 
Directors did not make any implementations contrary to 
the provisions of the legislation.

e) The Company established working teams in order to 
fully comply with the amendments made to the Turkish 
Commercial Code and Capital Markets Board Law 
in 2013. Via periodical presentations information is 
provided within the Company on the works performed.

f) There were no significant lawsuits brought against the 
Company in 2013.

g) The Company didn’t receive any investment consulting 
or rating services which may lead to conflict of interest.

h) The Company does not have a mutual subsidiary 
relationship with other companies.

i) Company’s corporate social responsibility activities are 
specified in article n.14.3 of the annual report.

j) In the Ordinary General Assembly meeting of 2012, as 
per the Corporate Governance Principles of the Capital 
Markets Board; the majority shareholders, the members 
of the Board of Directors, senior management staff 
members, and their blood relatives, and relatives by 
marriage up to second-degree, and moreover, as per 
the Articles n.395 and 396 of the Turkish Commercial 
Code the members of the Board of Directors were 
additionally granted the necessary authorities on the 
issues; 

• making transactions which may lead to conflicts of 
interest with the Company and affiliates, 

• competing with the company, 
• performing the business within the Company’s field of 

activity, personally or on behalf of others, 
• becoming partners in the companies performing similar 

business as well as performing other works, and there 
were no problems arising from the authorities granted 
in this period.

PART III-STAKEHOLDERS
11. Disclosure of Information to Stakeholders
11.1 Company’s stakeholders are, entities or interest groups 
such as; employees, creditors, customers, suppliers and 
various non-governmental organizations that are related to 
the Company achieving its objectives or the activities of the 
Company. In cases where the rights of the stakeholders 
are not protected by legislations and mutual agreements, 
the Company shall protect the interests of the stakeholders 
within the framework of the principles of good faith and 
within the company’s capabilities. In this context, the 
Company has created ethic values and published them on 
its website.

11.2 In case the rights of the stakeholders protected by the 
legislation and mutual agreements are breached, a fast and 
effective reimbursement shall be provided. The Company 
shall provide the necessary convenience for utilizing the 
mechanisms provided to the stakeholders by means of 
legislation; such as reimbursement. The Company has no 
special reimbursement policy intended for its employees 
while employee’s rights to compensation are protected 
under the relevant legislation.

11.3 Company policy on protection of stakeholders’ rights is 
announced on the website.
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11.4 Stakeholders may communicate the transactions 
of the Company that are non-ethical and contrary to the 
legislation, directly to the Corporate Governance Committee 
or the Audit Committee.

11.5 Whenever conflicts of interest arise between the 
stakeholders or in case a stakeholder is involved in multiple 
interest groups, a balanced policy possible to the maximum 
extent in terms of protecting the possessed rights, is 
pursued while the aim is to protect each and every right 
independently.

The Company pays special attention to customer 
satisfaction in sales and marketing of goods and services, 
and accordingly takes necessary measures. 

The Company takes necessary measures, reviews and 
renews its processes in order to:

establish and maintain relationships with its customers and 
suppliers (in providing goods and services to/from) in line 
with the provisions stipulated in its Articles of Association 
and pursue the international and sector-specific standards 
in providing goods and services. 

Information related to the customers and suppliers are 
considered as trade secrets, and special attention is paid to 
keep them confidential.

The Company meets the customer’s demands regarding the 
goods and services purchased by the customers and strives 
to inform the customers regarding the delays without waiting 
for the deadline.

12. Participation of Stakeholders in Company 
Management 
While there are no models in the Articles of Association 
supporting the participation of stakeholders, and company 
employees, in particular, in the company management, 
the Company is trying to improve the situation without 
disrupting the company activities.

Inclusion of the employees in the management is provided 
by means of annual performance review meetings, 
suggestion systems and annual meetings organized within 
the Company.

The Company takes the opinions and suggestions of other 
stakeholders into consideration.

13. Human Resources Policy
The Company adopts a management system that values 
people and thus encourages creativity, communication 
and employee participation. The Company acknowledges 
that creating an environment of open and streamlined 
communication is the key to maintaining the motivation and 
efficiency of its employees.

The Company values utilizing human resources practices 
that use internationally-accepted models and internally 
integrated systems. It aims at using contemporary, 
integrated and results-oriented systems in all human 
resources processes, from recruitment to performance 
management, development, remuneration, through to 
severance. 

The Company’s Human Resources Policy aims at gaining 
candidates who are suitable to its corporate culture and 
values, who have the knowledge, skills, experience and 
competencies demanded by the job/position, and who 
will move the Company forward, and thereby serve the 
strategies and goals of the Company. Having adopted the 
right person for the right job principle, the Company uses 
modern evaluation systems to support the most objective 
decisions in the recruitment and placement processes. 

In line with its continuous learning, development and 
results-orientation approach, Akiş REIT aims at organizing 
employee development programs based on corporate 
goals, for improving the knowledge, skills, expertise and 
competencies of its employees; the Company allocates 
resources for programs that support its employees’ social 
and cultural development. Development planning offers 
training and development solutions suitable for the current 
needs of both the Company and the employees.

The Performance Management System aims to encourage 
individuals to adopt corporate goals, and strengthen a 
shared corporate culture. The system enables employees 
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to transparently identify their individual contributions, as 
well as the impact of their contributions at the corporate 
level. Outputs of the Performance Management System 
are used in the development planning, talent management, 
career planning and succession planning, remuneration 
and awarding processes by Human Resources, thereby 
creating an integrated structure where all processes support 
each other. The Company supports employees towards a 
common goal through incentives that serve to strengthen 
the high performance culture. The leadership and functional 
competencies of the Company are measured with a 360 
degrees approach, and the ways that employees achieve 
results are evaluated. In this manner, the same system 
also ensures the enhancement and implementation of 
competencies that will take the Company into the future and 
maintain its corporate reputation and sustainability. 

The Company uses world class job evaluation and salary 
models with proven reliability. This is an objective and 
transparent salary and fringe benefits model that reflects the 
realities of the domestic and international business world 
and is based on the principles of equality and fairness, and 
position-based remuneration. 

Significant operational changes that may influence our 
employees shall be notified to the employees in advance 
taking into account the periods of notice and notification 
stipulated by the laws. The stipulated periods of notice and 
notification shall be made to the employees in accordance 
with the method and period specified in personnel 
regulations.

Our priority is to integrate all practices stipulated by our 
country’s laws and regulations in our business model in 
order to help our employees work in a happy and peaceful 
environment and commute healthily. We carry out our 
activities by valuing people and therefore with an objective 
to continuously improve our Occupational Health and Safety 
(OHS) performance.

14. Code of Ethics and Social Responsibility
14.1. The Company’s activities are executed in line with the 
Code of Ethics disclosed to the public on its website.

14.2 Seeking, developing, adopting and implementing 
innovative and environment friendly technologies is of vital 
importance in the company’s environmental policy and 
quality policy. Based on the responsibilities of being one of 
leading companies of the sector, Akiş REIT accepts
• minimizing the environmental impact arising from 

activities,
• protecting the health and safety of employees, 

customers and local community,
• achieving maximum savings in using natural resources 

and energy for its processes and developed projects, 
and

• preserving the environment and ecological balance for 
future generations,

as the focus of corporate social responsibility approach 
and sustainability. This approach was accomplished when 
“Akbatı Residences & Akbatı Shopping Mall” Project was 
awarded with BREEAM Certificate in 2013, a certificate 
given to eco-friendly green buildings.

14.3 Acting with social responsibility, Akiş REIT aims to 
contribute to the social development with donations and 
social benefits made primarily to education, culture-arts and 
sports activities. Donations were made to various entities 
as Akiş REIT acting collaboratively with sector-specific 
associations as a part of social responsibility objectives. 

14.4 Occupational health and safety is a priority for the 
Company. Including the prevention of occupational risks and 
providing trainings and information all kinds of measures 
are taken, organizations are made, tools and materials 
are supplied, necessary procedures and instructions are 
prepared and the employees are informed on these issues.
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PART IV-THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

15. Structure and Composition of the Board of Directors
Board of Directors is composed eight members as follows: 

Board of Directors

Name Surname Title

Executive/
Non-Executive 

Independent Starting Date
Term of 

Office

Mehmet Ali BERKMAN Chairman of the Board Non-Executive 17.05.2013 3 years

Raif Ali DİNÇKÖK Vice Chairman of the Board Executive 17.05.2013 3 years

Nilüfer DİNÇKÖK ÇİFTÇİ Board Member Non-Executive 17.05.2013 3 years

Ahmet Cemal DÖRDÜNCÜ Board Member Non-Executive 17.05.2013 3 years

İhsan Gökşin DURUSOY Board Member General Manager Executive 17.05.2013 3 years

Alize DİNÇKÖK EYÜBOĞLU Board Member Executive 17.05.2013 3 years

Uzay KOZAK Independent Board Member Non-Executive 17.05.2013 3 years

Hüseyin Ersin TAKLA Independent Board Member Non-Executive 17.05.2013 3 years

Audit Committee

Name Surname Title

Hüseyin Ersin TAKLA Audit Committee Chairman

Uzay KOZAK Audit Committee Member

Corporate Governance 
Committee

Name Surname Title

Hüseyin Ersin TAKLA Corporate Governance Committee Chairman

Nilüfer DİNÇKÖK ÇİFTÇİ Corporate Governance Committee Member

Early Detection 
of Risk Committee

Name Surname Title

Uzay KOZAK Early Detection of Risk Committee Chairman

Nilüfer DİNÇKÖK ÇİFTÇİ Early Detection of Risk Committee Member
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There are executive and non-executive members in the 
Board of Directors. Non-executive Board members are 
individuals who do not hold an administrative position in the 
Company other than his/her Board membership and thus 
who do not get involved in the daily workflow and regular 
activities of the Company. Majority of the Board members 
are non-executive members.

There are independent members within the non-executive 
Board members who have the qualification of fulfilling his/
her duties without being under any influence.

The term of office of the independent Board members is up 
to three years, and they are entitled to be nominated and 
re-elected.

In 2013, there were no events that terminated the 
independence of the independent members.

There are two female members in Company’s Board of 
Directors.

16. Operating Principles of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors convenes with such regularity so that 
it can fulfill its duties efficiently. 

The Chairman of the Board determines the agenda of the 
Board of Directors’ meetings by discussing with other Board 
members and Chief Executive Officer/General Manager, and 
other members can make proposals for making changes in 
the meeting agenda. Members pay attention to participate 
and express their opinions in every meeting by getting ready 
after examining the information and documentation related 
to the items on the agenda. 

Each member of the Board of Directors has one right to 
vote whilst the provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code 
are applicable in meeting and decision quorums as specified 
in the Articles of Association.

There are specific internal regulations stipulating the manner 
the Board meetings are held in whilst the provisions of the 
relevant legislation are applicable regarding this issue. 

In the Board of Directors meetings, the items on the agenda 
are discussed clearly and in all aspects. Chairman of the 
Board of Directors makes his/her best effort to ensure 
effective non-executive member participation to the Board 
of Directors meetings. In 2013 meetings, none of the Board 
members voted against any decisions.

There were no related party transactions performed that 
necessitated the Company’s Board of Directors to take a 
decision.

The members of the Board of Directors shall allocate 
sufficient time for Company affairs. In case the member 
of the Board of Directors provides consultancy services 
to another company or is a director or a member of the 
Board of Directors in another company, it is essential that 
such circumstance is not leading to any conflict of interest 
and that the member is not neglecting the duties in the 
Company. In this context, the member assuming other duty 
or duties outside the Company is not restricted or bound by 
any specific rules. Resumes of Board members are included 
in the General Assembly information document and are 
submitted for the information of the stakeholders.

In 2013, no Board member was granted with the right of 
weighted vote or dissenting veto power.

17. Number, Structure and Independence of 
Committees Established within the Board of Directors
17.1 The Board of Directors has established; Audit 
Committee, Early Detection of Risk Committee and 
Corporate Governance Committee. Duties and 
responsibilities of Nomination Committee and Remuneration 
Committee are fulfilled by the Corporate Governance 
Committee.
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17.2 Assigned tasks, working principles and members of 
the committees are determined by the Board of Directors, 
and disclosed to the public via Public Disclosure Platform 
and on the Company’s website.

17.3 All members of the Audit Committee and the 
Chairmen of the Corporate Governance Committee and 
the Early Detection of Risk Committee were elected from 
independent members of the Board of Directors.

17.4 The General Manager is not assigned in any 
committee.

17.5 Attention is paid not to assign members of the Board 
of Directors in more the one committee, however the Audit 
Committee, the Corporate Governance Committee and the 
Early Detection of Risk Committee are composed of two 
independents members – a chairman and a member – and 
one member of the Board of Directors whilst the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee is also the Chairman of the 
Corporate Governance Committee. Moreover, the member 
of the Audit Committee is also the Chairman of the Early 
Detection of Risk Committee.

17.6 All kinds of resources and support are provided to the 
committees by the Board of Directors in order to fulfill their 
duties. Committees are allowed to invite the director that 
they deem as necessary to their meetings and get his/her 
opinions.

17.7 Committees make use of independent expert opinions 
on the issues that they deem as necessary with regard to 
their activities. The fees of the consultancy services required 
by the committees are covered by the company.

17.8 Committees keep written records of all operations 
carried out. Committees convene with the necessary 
regularity to work effectively as stipulated in the working 
principles. Committees submit the reports to the Board 
of Directors, that contain information about the tasks 
performed and the outcomes of the meeting.

17.9 The Corporate Governance Committee, established 
in order to monitor the compliance of the Company to the 
Corporate Governance Principles, work on improvements, 
and submit proposals to the board of directors, has two 

members, and both members are non-executive members 
of the Board of Directors. 

17.10 In addition to the duties specified in the regulations, 
the Corporate Governance Committee also fulfills the duties 
and the responsibilities of the Nomination Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee.

18. Risk Management and Internal Control Mechanism
18.1 The Board of Directors carries out its activities in a 
transparent, accountable, fair and responsible manner.

18.2 The Chairman and the Deputy Chairman were 
appointed from among the members of the Board of 
Directors and tasks and duties were distributed.

18.3 Taking the opinions of the relevant committees of the 
Board of Directors into account, the Board of Directors 
structures the internal control systems in a manner that 
will include the risk management and information systems 
and processes that can minimize the impacts of the risks 
that might influence particularly the shareholders and the 
stakeholders of the Company. Thus in this context, the Audit 
Committee, the Corporate Governance Committee and the 
Early Detection of Risk Committee were established.

18.4 The Board of Directors reviews the efficiency of risk 
management and internal control systems at least once a 
year. Information on the availability, efficiency and functioning 
of the internal controls and internal audit are presented in 
the annual report.

The current internal control system, is audited particularly on 
the issues of improving the effectiveness and efficiency of 
Company’s activities, ensuring reliability in financial reporting 
and compliance to laws and regulations by the Audit Group 
of our main partner Akkök Sanayi Yatırım ve Geliştirme A.Ş. 
within the framework of the annual internal audit plan. In 
this annual internal audit plan, the risks standing within the 
framework of corporate risk management are prioritized. 
Effectiveness of internal audit activities were reviewed by the 
Audit Committee in the meetings held throughout the year. 
Opinions of the internal auditor, external auditor or other 
directors of the Company were taken in these meetings 
whenever necessary. 
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18.5 Although not stipulated in the articles of association, 
the authorities of the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and the Chief Executive Officer/General Manager are 
clearly defined and classify. Company’s General Manager 
and Chairman of the Board of Directors are different 
individuals, and their duties and authorities are defined in the 
organizational chart.

18.6 Whereas the Chairman of the Board of Directors and 
the General Manager are not the same person, the General 
Manager is also a Member of the Board of Directors.

18.7 The Board of Directors plays a role in maintaining 
effective communication between the Company and the 
shareholders, settling and resolving any disputes that 
may arise and for this purpose works with Corporate 
Governance Committee and Shareholders Relations Unit.

19. Strategic Targets of the Company
19.1 The Board of Directors represents and conducts the 
Company by: 
• adopting strategic decisions, 
• maintaining the risk, growth and return balance at an 

optimal level, and 
• primarily pursuing long-term interests of the Company 

with a rational and prudent risk management 
approach.

19.2 By defining the strategic targets of the Company, the 
Board of Directors determines the human and financial 
resources that the Company will need and audits the 
performance of the management.

19.3 The Board of Directors oversees the compliance of 
the Company activities to legislation, Articles of Association, 
internal regulations and established policies.

19.4 Company’s strategic targets and short/long-term 
performance are reviewed in meetings held regularly under 
the chairmanship of the Executive Member of the Board of 
Directors/General Manager, and necessary action plans are 
carried out based on the outcome of these meetings.

20. Financial Rights
20.1 The Board of Directors is responsible for the Company 
to achieve its determined and publicly disclosed operational 
and financial performance objectives. 

20.2 Remuneration principles of the Board members and 
senior executive managers are set in writing and brought 
to the attention of the partners as a separate item in the 
General Assembly meeting and the shareholders were given 
the opportunity to express their opinions on the subject. The 
remuneration policy prepared for such purpose is available 
on the Company’s website.

20.3 The Company has authorized the Corporate 
Governance Committee to fulfill the duties of the 
remuneration committee as stipulated in the legislation.

20.4 Stock options or payment plans based on Company’s 
performance are not used in remuneration of independent 
Board members. We are making efforts to set the 
remuneration of independent Board members at a level 
allowing them to keep their independence and such 
remunerations are determined in the General Assembly 
meeting.

20.5 The Company will not lend money, make loan available 
to and grant guarantees such as surety in own favor to any 
board member or senior executives. 

20.6 Remuneration given to the Board Members and senior 
executives and all other benefits provided are collectively 
disclosed to the public in the annual report and financial 
statement footnotes.
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 Amendments to the Articles of Association

1. In order to comply with the New Turkish Commercial Code, we have applied to the Capital Markets Board on the date 
of 16.04.2013 for amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association, and amendments made to the following articles 
of the Articles of Association are approved pursuant to the letter of the Capital Markets Board dated 14.05.2013 and 
numbered 5119 and finalized by the letter of the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Customs and Trade dated 16.05.2013 and 
numbered 3910; Article 3 titled “Company’s Registered Office and Branches”, Article 6 titled “Scope of Activities, Activity 
Prohibitions, Investment Restrictions”, Article 7 titled “Borrowing Limit and Issuance of Securities”, Article 8 titled “Capital 
and Shares”, Article 13 titled “Board of Directors and Term of Office”, Article 15 titled “Board of Directors Meetings”, 
Article 18 titled “Binding and Management of the Company”, Article 19 titled “Board of Directors Committees”, Article 
21 titled “Prohibitions Concerning Executives”, Article 22 titled “Auditors and Term of Office”, Article 23 titled “Auditor 
Fee”, Article 24 titled “Independent Audit”, Article 25 titled “General Assembly Meetings”, Article 27 titled “Presence of 
Commissioner at Meetings”, Article 28 titled “Appointment of Representative”, Article 29 titled “Voting Method”, Article 
30 titled “Announcements”, Article 33 titled “Profit Distribution”, Article 34 titled “Profit Distribution Period”, and Article 36 
titled “Dissolution and Liquidation of Company”.

The latest version of the Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website (www.akisgyo.com).
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Information on Ordinary and 
Extraordinary General Assembly Meetings

The following decisions were made at our Company’s 2012 Ordinary General Assembly Meeting which was held on the 
date of 17.05.2013 at 10:00am at the address Taşkışla Caddesi, No: 1, 34437, Taksim, Istanbul.

1.  Pursuant to Item 4 on the agenda, 2012 financial statements were approved and confirmed by a majority vote of the 
shareholders.

2.  Pursuant to Item 5 on the agenda, each of the Board members was unanimously and individually released from their 
activities in 2012.

3.  Pursuant to Item 6 on the agenda, and pursuant to the Capital Markets legislation, the Company’s Profit Distribution 
Policy and the Board of Directors’ profit distribution proposal were unanimously approved.

4.  Pursuant to Item 8 on the agenda, the appointment of UZAY KOZAK to the vacant position of Independent Board 
Member due to the resignation of Independent Board Member AHMET HAKAN DİNÇER was unanimously approved.

5.  Pursuant to Item 9 on the agenda, it was unanimously approved that the number of Board members shall be 
determined as eight and the following individuals, verbally declaring their candidacies to serve as Company’s 
Board members for a period of three years by personally attending the meeting and/or notifying in writing, shall be 
appointed: MEHMET ALİ BERKMAN, RAİF ALİ DİNÇKÖK, AHMET CEMAL DÖRDÜNCÜ, NİLÜFER DİNÇKÖK ÇİFTÇİ, 
ALİZE DİNÇKÖK EYÜBOĞLU and İHSAN GÖKŞİN DURUSOY; and the following individuals shall be appointed as 
Independent Board Members: HÜSEYİN ERSİN TAKLA and UZAY KOZAK.

6.  Pursuant to Item 10 on the agenda, the decision of the Board of Directors that, the financial statements of our 
Company covering the accounting period of 1st January 2013 to 31st December 2013 shall be prepared by Başaran 
Nas Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş., was unanimously approved.

7.  Pursuant to the Item 11 on the agenda, it was unanimously approved that the following articles of the Company’s 
Articles of Association shall be amended as permitted by the Capital Markets Board and Republic of Turkey Ministry of 
Customs and Trade; Article 3 titled “Company’s Registered Office and Branches”, Article 6 titled “Scope of Activities, 
Activity Prohibitions, Investment Restrictions,” Article 7 titled “Borrowing Limit and Issuance of Securities,” Article 
8 titled “Capital and Shares,” Article 13 titled “Board of Directors and Term of Office,” Article 15 titled “Board of 
Directors Meetings”, Article 18 titled “Binding and Management of the Company”, Article 19 titled “Board of Directors 
Committees”, Article 21 titled “Prohibitions Concerning Executives”, Article 22 titled “Auditors and Term of Office”, 
Article 23 titled “Auditor Fee,” Article 24 titled “Independent Audit,” Article 25 titled “General Assembly Meetings,” 
Article 27 titled “Presence of Commissioner at Meetings”, Article 28 titled “Appointment of Representative”, Article 29 
titled “Voting Method”, Article 30 titled “Announcements”, Article 33 titled “Profit Distribution”, Article 34 titled “Profit 
Distribution Period”, and Article 36 titled “Dissolution and Liquidation of Company”.

The Minutes of the General Assembly meeting and the list of participants are available on our Company’s website 
www.akisgyo.com and the Public Disclosure Platform for the use of our all investors and the public.
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Dividend Distribution

Pursuant to the Decision No. 18 of the Board of Directors of Akiş REIT dated April 17, 2013:

1- Our net profit for the period specified in the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of Communiqué Series: XI N.29 of the Capital Markets Board is TL 44,195,111.00, and our net profit for the 
period specified in our financial statements prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Procedure Law is TL 
46,340,945.99.

It is decided that, from the net profit for the period amounting to TL 44,195,111.00 as specified in the consolidated 
financial statements prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Communiqué Series: XI N.29 of the Capital 
Markets Board:

-  TL 1,065,895.98, corresponding to 5% of the amount remaining after deducting the prior period’s losses in the 
amount of TL 25,023,026.44 from the net profit for the period specified in our legal records amounting to TL 
46,340,945.99, shall be allocated as Primary Legal Reserve Fund in accordance with Article N.519 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code and Article 33 of our Company’s Articles of Association,

-  The primary dividend in the amount of TL 18,000,000.00 corresponding to 40.16% of TL 44,825,715.02 arrived at by 
adding the donations and benefits amounting to TL 1,696,500.00 made throughout the year to the net distributable 
profit for the period amounting to TL 43,129,215.02 remaining after deducting the Primary Legal Reserve Fund from 
the net profit for the period shall be distributed to our partners in cash pursuant to the relevant provisions of our 
Company’s Articles of Association (dividend amount corresponding to a share with the nominal value of (TL 1.-) is TL 
0.1404, and the dividend rate is gross 14.04%),

-  TL 1,158,995.79 shall be allocated as Secondary Legal Reserve Fund,
-  The remainder shall be allocated as Extraordinary Reserve,
-  Dividend amounts shall be distributed in cash until the date of 28.05.2013,
-  TL 9,095,400.00 portion of the distributed dividend amounting to TL 18,000,000.00 shall be paid by accruing the 

withholding due to the fact that such amount is related to the profit earned prior to the conversion to a Real Estate 
Investment Trust on the date of 18.05.2012, and the remaining portion amounting to TL 8,904,600.00 shall be paid 
without any withholding in the capacity of a Real Estate Investment Trust,

2- This dividend distribution of our Board of Directors shall be submitted for the approval of our General Assembly.
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Other Developments

Sale of Çerkezköy Social Facilities: 
Our Company sold the social facilities, which was added 
to our portfolio with ½ share as a result of the merger with 
Ak-Al on January 4, 2013, located at Çerkezköy Organize 
Sanayi Bölgesi, Yıldırım Beyazıt Mahallesi Barbaros 
Caddesi, No: 71 Çerkezköy/ Tekirdağ on City Block 956 
Parcel 4, to Ak-Kim Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. in order 
to comply with Real Estate Investment Trust legislation.

Bozüyük Land Sale
Our Company sold the 4.178 m2 property, which was 
added to our portfolio as a result of the merger with Ak-Al 
on January 4, 2013, located at 4 Eylül Mahallesi, İsmet 
İnönü Caddesi (Bursa – Eskişehir Karayolu) Bozuyük / 
Bilecik City Block 237 Parcel 29, to Akkök Sanayi Yatırım 
ve Geliştirme A.Ş. in order to comply with Real Estate 
Investment Trust legislation. 

Amendment to the Field of Activity of our subsidiary 
company Aksu Textiles EAD:
Aksu Textiles EAD was established on the date of 
December 18, 2000 in Bulgaria; and the primary field of 
activity is manufacturing, import and export of all kinds of 
textile and clothing. Aksu Textiles EAD, the whole capital 
of which is owned by Ak-Al, became a subsidiary of Akiş 
REIT as a result of the merger registered on January 4, 
2013. 

In order to comply with Real Estate Investment Trust 
legislation, it was decided that the title of Aksu Textiles 
EAD shall be changed to Aksu Real Estate EAD pursuant 
to the Decision of the Board of Directors dated August 
16, 2013. Pursuant to such change of title, the field of 
activity was amended as to make all kinds of real estate 
investments whether domestically or internationally in order 
to gain profits.

Sale of Çerkezköy Machinery:
Our Company sold the equipment and machinery available 
in our factory located in the city of Tekirdağ, district of 
Çerkezköy, Fevzipaşa Mahallesi, Çerkezköy Organize 
Sanayi Bölgesi (“Organized Industrial Zone”) and registered 
at the Republic of Turkey Çerkezköy Title Deeds Registry 
Office, Section Number: 29K2D, City Block: 956 and 
Parcel Number: 10, which were added to our portfolio as 
a result of the merger with Ak-Al on January 4, 2013, to 
Altınyıldız Mensucat ve Konfeksiyon Fabrikaları Anonim 
Şirketi in order to comply with Real Estate Investment Trust 
legislation.
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Affiliation Report Summary

By means of this report prepared pursuant to Article N.199 of the Turkish Commercial Code, no 
transaction incurring loss to the Company based on the state and conditions known to us at the time 
of making legal transactions with the holding company and subsidiary companies or at the time of 
taking or avoiding measures in the period of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. during the period 
January 1st to December 31st 2013 was made.
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Profit Distribution Policy

The “Profit Distribution Policy” of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş. is established as follows in accordance with 
the Communiqué on Corporate Governance Principles 
published by the Capital Markets Board.

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. has adopted the 
principle of determining the dividend to be distributed 
pursuant to the decision of the General Assembly not 
being less than the rate and amount specified by the 
Capital Markets Board and distributing such dividend 
within the legal term in accordance with the provisions 
of the Turkish Commercial Code and its Articles of 
Association. There shall be no profit distribution in the 
event that the profit to be distributed, determined as per 
the aforementioned principles, is less than 5% of the 
issued capital.

While the dividend to be distributed pursuant to the 
decision to be made at the General Assembly could be 
determined as no-par share entirely or partially, it could be 
determined as partially cash and partially no-par share. 
Pursuant to the profit distribution policy, the dividend shall 
be distributed as equivalent to the entire existing shares as 
of the relevant accounting period.

The amount remaining after deducting the amounts, such 
as the Company’s general expenses and miscellaneous 
depreciation values that are required to be paid in 
accordance with the generally accepted accounting 
principles as well as the provisions reserved for the 
financial liabilities and the taxes that are required to be paid 
by the Company legal entity, from the revenue determined 
at the end of the accounting period as well as the amount 
remaining after deducting the previous periods’ losses, 
if any, from the net profit specified in the annual balance 
sheet shall be the base of dividend distribution as per 
Article N.33 of the Articles of Association.

The method and the date of distributing the annual profit 
to the shareholders shall be determined by the General 
Assembly pursuant to the proposal of the Board of 
Directors prepared by taking into account the regulations 
of the Capital Markets Board on such matter.

The Dividend Distribution Policy is annually reviewed by 
the General Assembly of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı 
A.Ş. by taking into account the investment projects aiming 
to maintain the financial performance of the Company in a 
more profitable way as well as the sectoral and economic 
conditions.

The Company may distribute a dividend advance to the 
shareholders pursuant to Capital Markets Board legislation.
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Profit Distribution Proposal

Dear Shareholders,
 
The net profit for the year 2013 specified in the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the “Communiqué on the Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” Series II-N.14.1 published 
by the Capital Markets Board N.29 of the Capital Markets Board is TL 25,039,578.00; and the net profit for the period 
specified in the financial statements prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Procedure Law is TL 
67,720,486.81.
 
It is decided that,

1-The net profit for the period in the amount of TL 67,720,486.81 specified in the legal records shall be offset from the 
previous period’s losses,
 
2-The net profit for the period in the amount of TL 25,039,578.00 specified in the financial statements prepared in 
accordance with the Communiqué Series II-14.1 of the CMB shall not be distributed and added to the extraordinary 
reserves considering the previous period’s losses specified in the legal records, the investment expenditures and other 
funding needs,
 
3-This profit distribution proposal of our Board of Directors shall be submitted for the approval of the General Assembly,

AKİŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Risk Management

The Board of Directors forms the internal control systems 
in a manner to include the risk management and 
information systems and processes that may minimize 
the impacts of the risks that may primarily affect the 
shareholders of the Company as well as the stakeholders 
by taking into account the relevant committees of the 
Board of Directors as well, and in this context, the Audit 
Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and Early 
Detection of Risk Committee are established.

Akiş REIT Board of Directors members Uzay Kozak and 
Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi are assigned to the Early Detection of 
Risk Committee as per the decision made at the Board of 
Directors meeting held in May 2013.

As a part of its duty, the Committee is responsible for early 
detection of the risk that may jeopardize the existence, 
development and continuity of the Company. The 
Committee performs activities to implement the necessary 
measures in case a risk is detected and implements risk 
management. The Committee is also responsible for 
reviewing the risk management systems at least once 
annually.

The Company risk log is one of the most significant 
monitoring tools used by Akiş REIT in its risk management 
activities. The most significant ones among the operational, 
financial, reputation and strategic risks of the Company are 
included in the Company risk log. Action plans for such 
risks monitored at the Board of Directors level are created 
and a risk owner is assigned to each risk. The Risk owner 
is responsible for managing the relevant risk pursuant to 
the established action plan. Thus, the risk management 
philosophy becomes a permanent item on the routine 
business agenda of Akiş REIT executives. Updated in line 
with sectoral and corporate developments, this philosophy 
became an integral part of Company practices.

Our Company updates its financial statements on a 
monthly basis and takes necessary legal actions within 
the legal term against the lessees not fulfilling their 
obligations arising from the lease contract in due time 
and completely in terms of collecting the rental income, 
which is our Company’s main field of activity, regularly 
and in full. The Board of Directors reviews the efficiency 
of the risk management and internal control systems at 
least once annually. The current internal control system 
and primarily the matters of improving the efficiency and 
productivity of Company’s activities, ensuring reliability in 
terms of financial reporting and conformity to the law and 
regulations are audited by the audit group of our main 
partner Akkök Sanayi Yatırım ve Geliştirme A.Ş. as a part of 
the annual internal audit plan.



66 Akiş REIT 2013 ANNUAL REPORT

Charitable Donations and 
Social Welfare Policy

The Company’s “Charitable Donations and Social 
Welfare Policies” are defined below and in line with the 
values and social responsibility approach set forth in the 
Capital Markets Legislation, the Corporate Governance 
Principles published by the Capital Markets Board, the 
Corporate Governance Principles Compliance Report, 
and the provisions and principles set forth in the Articles of 
Association.

Content Framework for Donations and Social 
Welfare
- On the condition of abiding by the regulations of the 
Capital Markets Board, the Company may donate 
and support organizations such as agencies under 
the general budget, annexed budget administrations, 
provincial autonomous administrations, municipalities and 
villages, foundations exempted from tax by the Council of 
Ministers and disaster areas, non-profit associations, non-
governmental organizations, local sports clubs, institutions 
conducting scientific research and development activities, 
universities and other educational institutions, and 
institutions that perform cultural, artistic, environmental, 
educational and other types of activities for the benefit of 
society.
- Donations and aid may be in cash or in kind.
- All donations and aid are made in compliance with the 
donations and aid policy guidelines stated in this report.
- In the decision and approval processes of the donations 
and aid, the Company adheres to the corporate social 
responsibility policies of Akkök Group as well as its own 
policies in defining the means and scale of the donation 
and aid.
- Every year, the Company presents explanatory 
information to the Ordinary General Assembly about the 
donations and aid made in the related year. 

Information about Donations and Aid
Akiş REIT acts in awareness of its social responsibilities 
and aims at contributing to social development through 
donations and aid, foremost to education, culture and arts, 
and sports activities.

As part of its social responsibility goals, in 2013 the 
Company made donations and aid of TL 47,991.86 to 
various organizations. 

Information Regarding the Lawsuits Filed against 
the Company and That May Affect the Company’s 
Financial Situation or Operations and Their Possible 
Outcomes
In this accounting period, no lawsuits were filed against 
the Company that may impact the Company’s activities or 
financial situation.

Administrative or Legal Sanctions Imposed on the 
Company and Members of the Executive Body on 
Account of Violation of Legislative Provisions 
As of the date of the annual report, no administrative or 
legal sanctions were imposed on the Company and the 
Members of the Board of Directors on account of violation 
of legislative provisions. 

Information and Evaluation on Achievement of 
the Goals for the Previous Period, Fulfillment 
of the Decisions of the General Assembly, and 
Justifications for Any Non-Achievement and Non-
Fulfillment 
There are no goals or General Assembly decisions that the 
Company has not achieved or fulfilled in the accounting 
period.

Businesses that Provide Services to the Assets and 
Rights Contained in the Partnership Portfolio
Akiş REIT received valuation services from Vektör 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. and Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. at various dates within 
the scope of its real estate valuation services in 2013. 
Pursuant to the Principles Regarding Independent External 
Auditing in the Capital Markets, Başaran Nas Bağımsız 
Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 
(PWC) was selected as the independent external auditor 
by the Ordinary General Assembly meeting held in 2013 
and an independent auditors’ contract was signed with 
this firm for the year 2013. An audit contract was signed 
with Denet Yönetim Danışmanlığı Yeminli Mali Müşavirlik 
A.Ş. (BDO) for a full certification audit for the year 2013.

No conflicts of interest exist between the Company 
and the firms from which it receives services such as 
investment consulting and rating services.
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Events after the Balance Sheet Date

As a part of Bağdat Caddesi Projects and pursuant to the Decision of the Board of Directors dated November 4, 2013, 
the Independent Section No. 13 located in the city of Istanbul, district of Kadıköy, Bağdat Caddesi, Section 106 City Block 
378 Parcel 25 No: 319-321 Erenköy apartment building is included in our Company’s portfolio on the date of January 15, 
2014, and the Independent Section No. 2 located in the city of Istanbul, district of Kadıköy, Bağdat Caddesi, Section 67 
City Block 3206 Parcel 14 No: 481 Uşaklıgil apartment is included in our Company’s portfolio on the date of January 8, 
2014.
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CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.;

Introduction

1. We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“the Company”) and its Subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group’’) as at 31 December 2013 and the related consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and explanatory notes. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

2. The Group’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Turkish 
Accounting Standards published by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”) and for such internal controls as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to error and/or 
fraud.

Independent auditor’s responsibility

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. Our audit was conducted in accordance with standards on 
auditing issued by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey. Those standards require that ethical requirements are complied with and that the audit is planned and 
performed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on our professional judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error and/or fraud. In 
making those risk assessments, the Company’s internal control system is taken into consideration. Our purpose, however, is not to express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control system, but to design procedures that are appropriate for the circumstances in order to identify the relation between the financial 
statements prepared by the Company and its internal control system. An audit includes also evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Company’s management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained during our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

4. In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş. and its Subsidiaries as at 31 December 2013 and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the 
Turkish Accounting Standards (Note 2).

Reports on independent auditor’s responsibilities arising from other regulatory requirements 

5. In accordance with Article 402 of the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”); the Board of Directors submitted to us the necessary explanations and provided 
required documents within the context of audit, additionally, no significant matter has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Group’s 
bookkeeping activities for the period 1 January-31 December 2013 is not in compliance with the code and provisions of the Company’s articles of association in 
relation to financial reporting.

6. Pursuant to Article 378 of Turkish Commercial Code no. 6102, Board of Directors of publicly traded companies are required to form an expert committee, 
and to run and to develop the necessary system for the purposes of: early identification of causes that jeopardize the existence, development and continuity 
of the company; applying the necessary measures and remedies in this regard; and, managing the related risks. According to subparagraph 4, Article 398 of 
the code, the auditor is required to prepare a separate report explaining whether the Board of Directors has established the system and authorized committee 
stipulated under Article 378 to identify risks that threaten or may threaten the company and to provide risk management, and, if such a system exists, the 
report, the principles of which shall be announced by the POA, shall describe the structure of the system and the practices of the committee. This report shall 
be submitted to the Board of Directors along with the auditor’s report. Our audit does not include evaluating the operational efficiency and adequacy of the 
operations carried out by the management of the Group in order to manage these risks. As of the balance sheet date, POA has not announced the principles of 
this report yet so no separate report has been drawn up relating to it. On the other hand, the Group formed the mentioned committee on 30 May 2013 and it is 
comprised of 2 members. 

The committee has met four times since its formation to the reporting date for the purposes of early identification of risks that jeopardize the existence of the 
company and its development, applying the necessary measures and remedies in this regard, and managing the risks, and has submitted the relevant reports to 
the Board of Directors. 

Başaran Nas Bağımsız Denetim ve
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.
a member of
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Baki Erdal, SMMM
Partner
Istanbul, 21 February 2014
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Restated-Note 2.3
Notes 2013 2012 2011

ASSETS
Current assets 88,678,431 184,934,740 323,044,737

Cash and cash equivalents 7 38,996,938 77,017,178 92,831,612
Trade receivables 4,078,989 53,828,712 103,124,229

-Due from related parties 10, 31 124,435 12,444,415 48,327,897
-Other trade receivables 10 3,954,554 41,384,297 54,796,332

Other receivables 2,087,752 18,469,087 10,158,348
-Due from related parties 11, 31 - 16,836,065 8,820,721
-Other receivables 11 2,087,752 1,633,022 1,337,627

Inventories 15 27,394,323 20,884,363 97,275,307
Prepaid expenses 13 8,610,884 3,852,730 6,586,594
Assets related to current income tax 30 55,274 2,430,069 2,297,060
Other current assets 19 7,454,271 8,452,601 10,192,800

Subtotal 88,678,431 184,934,740 322,465,950

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 32 - - 578,787

Non-current assets 1,166,112,872 937,390,518 1,005,454,047

Financial investments 8 64,859,013 57,328,124 77,524,026
Trade receivables 1,314,101 2,594,696 14,185,643

-Due from non-related parties 10 1,314,101 2,594,696 14,185,643
Investments accounted for under the equity method 16 - 105,478,371 108,503,097
Inventories 15 244,632,159 7,645,198 3,234,175
Investment properties 14 806,482,104 710,016,664 739,371,763
Property, plant and equipment 17 3,672,037 6,513,531 11,830,607
Intangible assets 18 80,930 137,129 169,407
Prepaid expenses 13 4,000,712 6,514,669 8,699,316
Deferred tax assets 30 - 929,684 910,379
Other non-current assets 19 41,071,816 40,232,452 41,025,634

Total assets 1,254,791,303 1,122,325,258 1,328,498,784

The consolidated financial statements for the year between 1 January-31 December 2013 have been approved by the 
Board of Directors on 21 February 2014 and signed by General Manager İhsan Gökşin Durusoy and Chief Financial Officer 
Naile Banuhan Yürükoğlu on behalf of the Board of Directors. Consolidated financial statements are subject to approval by 
the General Assembly.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Convenience Translation Into English of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Turkish

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.
Consolidated Balance Sheets  
as of 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira [“TL”] unless otherwise stated.) 
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Restated – Not 2.3
Notes 2013 2012 2011

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities 430,054,239 270,204,290 409,500,381

Short term financial liabilities 9 352,881,183 203,129,894 50,214,890
Short term portion of long-term financial liabilities 9 41,986,230 35,067,583 39,638,627
Other financial liabilities 12 - 5,704,320 19,739,005
Trade payables 16,389,321 15,259,922 35,711,745

-Due to related parties 10, 31 1,287,380 1,169,740 8,390,487
-Due to non-related parties 10 15,101,941 14,090,182 27,321,258

Employee benefit related liabilities 21 430,901 366,776 -
Other payables 526,380 778,846 125,291,558

-Due to related parties 11, 31 - 260,938 124,588,118
-Due to non-related parties 11 526,380 517,908 703,440

Deffered income 13 17,131,591 5,810,570 137,143,035
Short term provisions 631,559 1,317,238 637,275

-Provisions for employee benefits 20, 21 272,277 235,408 102,742
-Other short term provisions 20 359,282 1,081,830 534,533

Income tax payable 30 77,074 2,769,141 1,124,246

Non-current liabilities 98,347,564 140,314,966 247,240,745

Long-term financial liabilities 9 98,059,135 122,250,089 173,621,031
Other financial liabilities 12 - - 6,044,480
Deferred income 13 - 17,542,192 14,845,034
Long term provisions 288,429 522,685 435,724
-Provisions for employee benefits 21 288,429 522,685 435,724
Deferred tax liabilities 30 - - 52,294,476

Equity 726,389,500 711,806,002 671,757,658

Equity attributable to equity holders’ of the parent 726,389,500 711,806,002 671,757,658

Share capital 22 128,200,841 128,200,841 128,200,841
Inflation adjustments to share capital 143,640,036 143,640,036 143,640,036
Premium in shares 202,159 202,159 202,159
Other comprehensive income/expense not to be reclassified to profit 
or loss 52,717,328 45,173,408 62,143,667

-Foreign currrency translation differences 22 (16,071) (29,102) (29,102)
-Revaluation and reclassification gain/loss 22 52,733,399 45,202,510 62,172,769

Effects of business combination of entites under common control (4,109,167) (4,109,167) (4,109,167)
Other reserves 22 54,696,807 54,696,807 54,696,807
Restricted reserves appropriated from profit 22 20,888,561 16,206,937 16,206,937
Retained earnings 22 305,113,357 270,776,378 157,497,845
Net income for the year 25,039,578 57,018,603 113,278,533

Non-controlling interest - - -

Total liabilities and equity 1,254,791,303 1,122,325,258 1,328,498,784

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Convenience Translation Into English of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Turkish

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.
Consolidated Balance Sheets  
as of 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira [“TL”] unless otherwise stated.) 
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Resatetd Note 2.3
Notes 2013 2012

Revenue 23 70,957,837 182,075,664
Cost of sales (-) 23 (29,235,630) (142,490,040)

Gross profit 41,722,207 39,585,624

General administrative expenses (-) 24 (18,155,327) (14,510,804)
Marketing expenses (-) 24 (1,369,665) (6,082,093)
Other operating income 26 5,397,173 4,934,921
Other operating expenses (-) 26 (4,542,723) (4,082,634)
Profit/loss from investments valued by using equity method 16 (5,148,533) (4,487,811)

Operating profit 17,903,132 15,357,203

Income from investment activities 27 88,902,339 22,580,323
Expenses from investment activities (-) 27 (14,143,472) (26,561,326)

Operating profit before financial income and expenses 92,661,999 11,376,200

Financial income 28 21,823,515 43,156,577
Finance costs (-) 28 (88,439,178) (43,652,606)

Profit before tax 26,046,336 10,880,171

Current tax expense for the year 30 (77,074) (2,769,141)
Deferred tax (expense)/income 30 (929,684) 49,030,354

Profit from contuning operations 25,039,578 57,141,384

Net loss from discontinued operations - (122,781)

Profit for the year 25,039,578 57,018,603

Distribution of the profit for the year 
Non-controlling interest - -
Equity holders of the parent 29 25,039,578 57,018,603

Earnings per share 0.20 0.45

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Convenience Translation Into English of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Turkish

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
for the Years Ended 31 December 2013 and 2012
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira [“TL”] unless otherwise stated.) 
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Restated Note 2.3
Notes 2013 2012

Other Comprehensive Income

Items not to be reclassified under profit and loss: - -

Items to be reclassified under profit and loss 7,543,920 (16,970,259)
Change in revaluation funds of financial assets 8 7,530,889 (20,235,657)
Foreign currency translation differences 13,031 -
Tax income/(expense) related to other comprehensive 
Income to be reclassified under proofit and Loss 
-Deferred tax income - 3,265,398

Other comprehensive income 7,543,920 (16,970,259)

Total comprehensive income 32,583,498 40,048,344

Distribution of total comprehensive income 
Non-controlling Interest - -
Equity holders of the parent 32,583,498 40,048,344

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Convenience Translation Into English of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Turkish

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.
Consolidated Balance Sheets  
as of 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira [“TL”] unless otherwise stated.) 
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Current Year
Consolidated

1 January-
31 December 2013

Restated Note 2.3
Previous Year
Consolidated

1 January-
31 December 2012

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (187,802,952) (112,445,711)

Net profit for the year 25,039,578 57,018,603

Adjustments 2,880,331 (25,832,926)

Depreciation and amortization 2,166,367 2,701,790
Provision for employment termination benefits 266,686 1,464,656
Interest income and expense 15,963,861 15,790,296
Unrealized foreign exchange differences 52,856,573 (8,974,920)
Adjustments on unappropriated profits of subsidiaries - 4,487,811
Adjustments on tax income and expense 1,006,758 (46,261,213)
Losses/gains from sale of investment property (1,374,985) (4,119,299)
Adjustments for other items that cause cash flow resulting from financing and investing activities (68,366,090) 8,989,143
Other adjustments 361,161 88,810

Changes in working capital: (215,342,316) (141,023,250)
Inventory (243,496,921) 71,979,921
Trade Receivable 38,749,415 59,255,356
Other Receivables (83,087) 1,997,695
Trade Payables (985,508) (20,451,823)
Other Liabilities (9,526,215) (253,804,399)
Net Cash outflows from operating activities (187,422,407) (109,837,573)

Taxes paid (55,274) (2,430,069)
Other cash outflows (325,271) (178,069)

B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 108,061,707 27,132,820

Proceeds from sales of investment properties 112,365,000 -
Proceeds from sales of tangible and intangible assets 2,448,908 7,365,000
Proceeds from purchase of tangible and intangible assets (342,597) (597,546)
Cash inflow from sale of investment property 16,044,642 14,751,000
Proceeds from purchase of investment properties (40,817,099) (6,235,523)
Dividened received 18,362,853 11,849,889

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 41,707,974 69,498,457

Loans acquired 394,576,500 216,325,053
Loan repayments (324,809,234) (135,047,243)
Dividends paid (18,000,000) -
Interest received 3,213,480 6,755,639
Interest paid (13,272,772) (18,534,992)

Before the effect of foreign currency exchange net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (38,033,271) (15,814,434)

D. The effect of foreign currency exhange on cash and cash equivalents 13,031 -

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (38,020,240) (15,814,434)

E. Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 77,017,178 92,831,612

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 38,996,938 77,017,178

Convenience Translation Into English of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Turkish

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the Years Ended 31 December 2013 and 2012
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira [“TL”] unless otherwise stated.) 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 1-COMPANY’S ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırımı Anonim Şirketi (“Akiş” or “the Company”) was established on 
22 November 2005 with the title of “Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırımı A.Ş.” in Istanbul/Turkey. In accordance with the decision of 
Capital Markets Board of Turkey dated 19 April 2012 and numbered 15/345 and with the decision for the changes in the 
articles of associations at the General Assembly of Akiş on 14 May 2012, the Company’s legal titile was changed to “ Akiş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.” The mentioned changes in the articles of association have been registered on 18 May 
2012 and published on the Trade Register Gazette on 24 May 2012.

The Company’s main business activity is to invest in properties, capital market instruments on real estate projects, rights 
on real estates, to and to engage in other real estate based activities as permitted by the Capital Markets Board (“CMB”)’s 
regulations related with Real Estate Investment Trusts.

At the Company’s Board of Directors meeting held on 17 August 2012, it was decided to merge with Ak-Al Gayrimenkul 
Geliştirme ve Tekstil Sanayii A.Ş.(“Ak-Al”) according to the relevant articles of Turkish Commercial Code No: 6102 and 
articles 18,19 and 20 of Corporate Tax Law. Such merger were to be carried out based on the balance sheets of the 
entities dated 30 June 2012 which were issued according to the relevant arrangements of Tax Procedural Law and 
through transferring to Akiş all assets and liabilities in the balance sheet of Ak-Al dated 30 April 2012 as a whole. The said 
business combination was approved at the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting of Akiş on 
31 December 2012 and was executed on 4 Junary 2014. At the same meeting, it was decided that capital of the 
Company should be increased from TL83,000,004 to TL128,200,841 and shares of Akiş amounting to TL45,200,837, 
each with TL1 nominal value, were to be transferred to the shareholders of Ak-al.

The Company is registered in İstanbul Trade Registry Office in Turkey, and the registered address is:

Miralay Şefikbey Sok. No:11 Gümüşsuyu, 34437 İstanbul.

Akiş, its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are together referred to as “the Group”. 

Subsidiaries

Akiş’s subsidiaries are operating in Turkey and the nature of their business is as follows: 

Subsidiaries Nature of business
Ak Yön Yönetim ve Bakım Hizmetleri A.Ş. (‘‘Ak Yön”) Management of shopping mall
Aksu Real Estate EAD. (“Aksu Real Estate”) Real estate investment

Ak Yön 

Ak Yön was established in İstanbul and registered on 12 August 2011. The main operational activity of the Company is to 
procure the correct usage of real estate residences, modern accommodation units, shopping malls, trade and business 
centers; hotels, social facilities, building of cinema, theatre, hospital and nursing home, to take the necessary actions for 
the protection, preservation organization to set up and manage the property maintenance and repair, inspection and to 
provide all kinds of support and management services. Ak Yön operates and manages Akbatı Mall. Akiş is the owner of 
%99.99 of Ak Yön’s capital.



79FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Convenience Translation Into English of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Turkish

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as of 31 December 2013
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira [“TL”] unless otherwise stated.) 

Aksu Real Estate

Aksu Textiles E.A.D was established in Bulgaria on 18 December 2000 and its main business activity is the production of 
all kinds of textiles and clothing, importation and exportation. Aksu Textiles E.A.D that all capital is belonging to Ak-Al has 
become subsidiary of Akiş with the merger that had been registered on 4 January 2013.

With the decision of the Board of Directors on 16 August 2013, the title of Aksu Textile EAD has been decided to be 
changed as Aksu Real Estate EAD. With the title change, the operational activitiy of the Company also has been change 
as to perform real estate investment activities both locally and abroad.

Joint ventures:

The joint ventures of Akiş are operating in Turkey and the nature of their business is as below:

Joint Venture Nature of Business Entrepreneur Partner

Akfil Holding A.Ş. (“Akfil Holding”) Real Estate Investments
Garanti Koza İnşaat Sanayi ve Ticaret 

A.Ş. (“Garanti Koza İnşaat”)
Garanti Koza Akiş Adi Ortaklığı (“Adi Ortaklık”) Real Estate Investment Garanti Koza İnşaat 

Akfil Holding A.Ş.

Akfil Holding was established on 20 February 1968. Akfil Holding included in the consolidated financial statements of Akiş 
since its parent Akkoza Gayrimenkul Yatırım A.Ş. (Akkoza) was the joint venture of Akiş since 2008. As of 30 November 
2010, all assets and liabilities of Akkoza as at 31 October 2010 were transferred to Akfil Holding. Hence, commencing 
from this date, Akfil Holding became the joint venture of Akiş. On 11 March 2013, the shares of Akiş in Akfil Holding were 
sold to Garanti Koza İnşaat A.Ş. who is the other enterpreneur partner (Notes 16 ve 27).

Garanti Koza Akiş Adi Ortaklığı

Garanti Koza Akiş Adi Ortaklığı established by the agreement which was signed on 3 May 2007 between Akiş, Garanti 
Koza İnşaat and Garanti Koza Gayrimenkul Geliştirme A.Ş. (‘GKGG’). The aim of the Project Partnership, is to complete 
and sale of Akkoza Residences Project which has built in Esenyurt, İstanbul. On 11 March 2013, shares of Akiş in Adi 
Ortaklık were sold to Akfil Holding (Note 16).

Approval of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the financial period of 31 December 2013 have been approved by the Board of 
Directors on 21 February 2014. 
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NOTE 2-BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Preparation

2.1.1 Financial reporting standards

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Communiqué Serial II, No:14.1, 
“Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (“the Communiqué”) published in the Official Gazette numbered 
28676 on 13 June 2013. According to Article 5 of the Communiqué, consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with the Turkish Accounting Standards issued by Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards 
Authority (“POAASA”). TAS contains Turkish Accounting Standards, Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) and 
its addendum and interpretations (“IFRIC”).

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared as per the CMB announcement of 7 June 2013 relating 
to financial statements presentations. Comparative figures are reclassified, where necessary, to conform to changes in the 
presentation of the current year’s consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with the CMB resolution issued on 17 March 2005, listed companies operating in Turkey are not subject 
to inflation accounting effective from 1 January 2005. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements of the Group have 
been prepared accordingly.

Akiş (and its subsidiaries registered in Turkey) maintain their books of accounts and prepare their statutory financial 
statements in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), tax legislation, the Uniform Chart of Accounts 
issued by the Ministry of Finance and principles issued by CMB. Subsidiaries operating in foreign countries have prepared 
their statutory financial statements in accordance with the law and regulations that they operate in. The consolidated 
financial statements are based on the statutory records, which are maintained under historical cost conventions, with the 
required adjustments and reclassifications reflected for the purpose of fair presentation in accordance with TAS.

Adjustment of financial statements in periods of high inflation

Inflation accounting application is terminated for the companies operating in Turkey and preparing their financial 
statements in accordance with the provisions of the CMB according to the desicion taken by CMB dated on 17 March 
2005 and numbered 11/367, to be effective from 1 January 2005. Accordingly, “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies” Standard (“IAS 29”) published by the Public Oversight Agency, did not apply as from 1 January 2005.

2.2 Going Concern

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared under the going concern assumption.

2.3 Comperative Information

In order to allow the determination of financial position and performance, the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
are prepared in comparison with the previous period. In order to comply with the presentation of consolidated financial 
statements the current period when deemed necessary, comparative information is reclassified, and material differences 
are presented. The Group has made some reclassifications in order to conform to current period financial statements for 
prior periods. The nature of the classifications and amounts are as follows: 
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Effects of Presentation of CMB Financial Statements Changes

Based on announcement made by CMB about formats of financial statements and footnotes, with the desicion taken at 
the meeting dated 7 June 2013 and numbered 20/670, the Group, made neseccary reclassfications for the condensed 
consolidated financial statements belong to past periods in accordance with changes made in the representation at 31 
December 2013.

EFFECTS OF IFRS 11

IFRS 11 is entered into force to be effective on 1 January 2013. Accordingly, the standards completely remove the IAS 31 
“Interests in Joint Ventures” that previously applied and it required jointly controlled entities must be accounted by using 
equity method.

The Group has consolidated it’s jointly controlled entities by using proportionate consolidation method until 31 December 
2012.The Group’s jointly controlled entities are Akfil Holding and Adi Ortaklık. With the relevant standards entry into force, 
previous period consolidated financial statements of Akfil Holding and Adi Ortaklık are restated by using equity method.

Additional loss incurred due to exceeding loss of Adi Ortaklık, which is one of the jointly controlled entities of the Goup, to 
it’s share in project partnership. Because of legal structure of Adi Ortaklık, Akiş has been subject to legal or constructive 
obligation and additional losses have been deducted from the Group’s receivables due from subsidiaries.

EFFECTS OF IFRS 3

Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”) announced the decision on “Accounting for 
business combinations under common control” in the Offical Gazette on 21 July 2013. The said decision of principle 
is required using pooling of interest method in accounted combinations of jointly controlled entities and requires the 
rearrangements of prior period comparative information on the context of changes in accounting policies retrospectively in 
accordance with IAS 8.

As described in Note 1 and 5, in the process of merger with Ak-Al that took place in the year 2013, recognition was made 
by rights of merger method and consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2012 and 2011, consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income for the period ended on 31 December 2012, cash flow statement and consolidated statement 
of changes in equity have been restated on the consolidated financial statements for the period ending 31 December 
2013 comperatively.
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The reconciliation of restated balance sheet on 31 December 2012 and the income statement for the year ended 31 
December 2012 with the previously reported financial statements is as follows:

Assets

Previously
reported

31 December
2012

IFRS 11
Effect

IFRS 3
Effect

Impact of 
change 

in the POA 
format of
financial

statements

Restated
31 December

2012

Current assets 151,273,685 (66,746,748) 100,361,476 46,327 184,934,740

Cash and cash equivalent 43,594,803 (41,254,636) 74,677,011 - 77,017,178
Trade receivables 32,328,445 (1,748,263) 23,248,530 - 53,828,712

-Due from related parties 9,543,125 2,901,290 - - 12,444,415
-Other trade receivables 22,785,320 (4,649,553) 23,248,530 - 41,384,297

Other Receivables 21,580,076 (3,290,922) - 179,933 18,469,087
-Due from related parties 17,969,260 (1,133,195) - - 16,836,065
-Other receivables 3,610,816 (2,157,727) - 179,933 1,633,022

Inventories 29,233,810 (8,349,447) - - 20,884,363
Prepaid expenses - - 8,752 3,843,978 3,852,730
Current income tax assets - - 2,383,742 46,327 2,430,069
Other current assets 24,536,551 (12,103,480) 43,441 (4,023,911) 8,452,601

Non-current assets 843,367,225 (48,561,271) 142,584,564 - 937,390,518

Financial investments 56,979,342 - 348,782 - 57,328,124
Other receivables 3,920,235 (1,325,539) - - 2,594,696

-Other receivables 3,920,235 (1,325,539) - - 2,594,696
Inventories 7,645,198 - - - 7,645,198
Investments accounted by the 
equity method - 105,478,371 - - 105,478,371
Investment properties 723,326,108 (151,689,444) 138,380,000 - 710,016,664
Tangible assets 3,870,319 (269,319) 2,912,531 - 6,513,531
Intangible assets 127,803 (305) 9,631 - 137,129
Prepaid expenses - - - 6,514,669 6,514,669
Deferred tax assets - - 929,684 - 929,684
Other non-current assets 47,498,220 (755,035) 3,936 (6,514,669) 40,232,452

Total assets 994,640,910 (115,308,019) 242,946,040 46,327 1,122,325,258
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Liabilities

Previously
reported

31 December
2012

IFRS 11
Effect

IFRS 3
Effect

Impact of
change in the

POA format of
financial

statements

Restated
31 December

2012

Current liabilities  363,633,211 (104,926,812) 11,451,564 46,327 270,204,290

Short term financial liabilities  265,252,073 (29,347,381) 2,292,785 (35,067,583) 203,129,894
Short term portion of long term financial 
liabilities - - - 35,067,583 35,067,583
Other financial liabilities - - 5,704,320 - 5,704,320
Trade payables  21,442,701 (6,300,854) 118,075 - 15,259,922

-Due to related parties  1,134,029 (9,107) 44,818 - 1,169,740
-Other trade payables  20,308,672 (6,291,747) 73,257 - 14,090,182

Employee benefit related liabilities - - 15,033 351,743 366,776
Other payables  60,355,982 (55,187,948) 193,707 (4,582,895) 778,846

-Other payables to related parties  196,501  64,437 - - 260,938
-Other payables  60,159,481 (55,252,385) 193,707 (4,582,895) 517,908

Deffered income - - - 5,810,570 5,810,570
Short term provisions  4,566,225 (3,476,407) 418,503 (191,083) 1,317,238

-Short term provisions for employee 
benefits  621,732 (49,298) 14,717 (351,743) 235,408
-Other short term provisions  3,944,493 (3,427,109) 403,786 160,660 1,081,830

Income tax liabilities  4,249,217 (4,235,544) 2,709,141 46,327 2,769,141
Other current liabilities  7,767,013 (6,378,678) - (1,388,335) -

Non-current liabilities  150,395,468 (10,381,207) 300,705 - 140,314,966

Long term financial liabilities  127,533,481 (5,283,392) - - 122,250,089
Other non-current liabilities  17,542,192 - (17,542,192) -

-Other trade payble  17,542,192 - - (17,542,192) -
Deffered income - - - 17,542,192 17,542,192
Long term provisions  481,525 (259,545) 300,705 - 522,685

-Provisions for employee benefits  265,448 (43,468) 300,705 - 522,685
-Other long term provisions  216,077 (216,077) - - -

Deferred tax liabilities  4,838,270 (4,838,270) - - -

Total liabilities  514,028,679 (115,308,019) 11,752,269 46,327 410,519,256

Shareholders equity  480,612,231 - 231,193,771 - 711,806,00
Share capital  83,000,004 - 45,200,837 - 128,200,841
Inflation adjustments to share capital - - 143,640,036 - 143,640,036
Premium on shares - - 202,159 - 202,159
Other comprehensive income/expense 
not to be reclassified to profit or loss  45,072,343 - 101,065 - 45,173,408

Valuation and classification gain and 
loss 45,072,343 - 130,167 - 45,202,510
Foreign currency translation 
differences - - (29,102) - (29,102)

Effects of business combination under 
common control - - (4,109,167) - (4,109,167)
Other reserves 54,696,807 - - - 54,696,807
Restricted reserves appropriated from 
profit  150,000 - 16,056,937 - 16,206,937
Retained earnings  253,497,966 - 17,278,412 - 270,776,378
Net income for the year  44,195,111 - 12,823,492 - 57,018,603

Total liabilities  994,640,910 (115,308,019) 242,946,040 46,327 1,122,325,258 
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Previously
reported

1 January-
31 December

2012
IFRS-11

Effect
IFRS-3
Effect

Impact of 
change

in the POA 
format of
financial

statements

Restated
1 January-

31 December
2012

Revenue 239,240,713 (68,595,816) 11,430,767 - 182,075,664
Cost of Sales (-) (209,918,466) 68,133,330 (704,904) - (142,490,040)

Gross Profit 29,322,247 (462,486) 10,725,863 - 39,585,624

General administrative expenses (-) (16,458,039) 7,058,102 (5,110,867) - (14,510,804)
Marketing expenses (-) (6,447,537) 365,444 - - (6,082,093)
The investment property revaluation 
gain/(loss) (15,663,190) 15,663,190 - 395,436 -
Other operating income 1,979,688 377,929 2,181,868 (499,417) 4,934,921
Other operating expenses (-) (276,316) (25,896,452) 22,589,551 - (4,082,634)
Shares from profit/loss of 
invetments accounted by equity 
method - (4,487,811) - - (4,487,811)

Operating profit/loss (7,543,147) (7,382,084) 30,386,415 (103,981) 15,357,203

Income from investing activities - - 10,776,157 11,804,166 22,580,323
Expenses from investing activities 
(-) - - (26,561,326) - (26,561,326)

Operating profit before financial 
income and expenses (7,543,147) (7,382,084) 14,601,246 11,700,185 11,376,200

Finanacial income 51,337,421 (3,104,630) 7,123,386 (12,199,600) 43,156,577
Finance expenses (-) (42,503,270) 4,427,449 (6,076,200) 499,415 (43,652,606)

Profit/loss before tax from 
continuing operation 1,291,004 (6,059,265) 15,648,432 - 10,880,171

Current tax expense (4,488,806) 4,428,806 (2,709,141) - (2,769,141)
Deferred tax income 47,392,913 1,630,459 6,982 - 49,030,354

Current profit from continuing 
operation 44,195,111 - 12,946,273 - 57,141,384

Current loss due to discontinued 
operation - - (122,781) - (122,781)

Profit for the year 44,195,111 - 12,823,492 - 57,018,603

-Non-controlling interest - - - - -
-Shares from parent company 44,195,111 - 12,823,492 - 57,018,603
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The reconciliation of the restated balance sheet on 31 December 2011 with previously reported balance sheet at the 
same date is as follows:

Previously
reported

1 January-
31 December

2011
IFRS-11

Effect
IFRS-3
Effect

Impact of 
change

 in the POA
format of
financial

statements

Reclassified
1 January-

31 December
2011

Current assets 311,794,548 (76,082,950) 87,333,139 - 323,044,737

Cash and cash equivalent 56,653,925 (20,484,668) 56,662,355 - 92,831,612
Trade receivables 57,148,978 10,901,382 28,796,566 6,277,303 103,124,229

-Due from related parties 26,668,593 15,382,001 - 6,277,303 48,327,897
-Other trade receivables 30,480,385 (4,480,619) 28,796,566 - 54,796,332

Receivables from ongoing 
construction contracts 6,277,303 - - (6,277,303) -
Other receivables 13,456,461 (3,298,113) - - 10,158,348

-Due from related parties 11,240,646 (2,419,925) - - 8,820,721
-Other receivables 2,215,815 (878,188) - - 1,337,627

Inventories 150,056,864 (52,781,557) - - 97,275,307
Prepaid expenses - - 30,320 6,556,274 6,586,594
Current income tax assets - - 1,215,947 1,081,113 2,297,060
Other current assets 28,201,017 (10,419,994) 49,164 (7,637,387) 10,192,800

Subtotal 311,794,548 (76,082,950) 86,754,352 - 322,465,950

Non current assets classified as 
held for sale - - 578,787 - 578,787

Non-current assets 932,134,938 (90,507,849) 163,826,958 - 1,005,454,047

Financial investments 77,329,108 - 194,918 - 77,524,026
Trade receivables 11,003,128 (2,861,965) 6,044,480 - 14,185,643

-Other receivables 11,003,128 (2,861,965) 6,044,480 - 14,185,643
Inventories 3,234,175 - - - 3,234,175
Investments accounted by the 
equity method - 108,503,097 - - 108,503,097
Investment properties 777,724,498 (187,440,146) 149,087,411 - 739,371,763
Tangible assets 4,774,294 (514,193) 7,570,506 - 11,830,607
Intangible assets 156,326 (2,015) 15,096 - 169,407
Prepaid expenses - - - 8,699,316 8,699,316
Deferred tax assets 2,871,301 (2,871,301) 910,379 - 910,379
Other non-current assets 55,042,108 (5,321,326) 4,168 (8,699,316) 41,025,634

Total assets 1,243,929,486 (166,590,799) 251,160,097 - 1,328,498,784
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Previously
reported

1 January-
31 December

2011
IFRS-11

Effect
IFRS-3
Effect

Impact of 
change

 in the POA
format of
financial

statements

Reclassified
1 January-

31 December
2011

Current liabilities 528,225,167 (142,851,859) 24,127,073 - 409,500,381

Short term financial liabilities 127,650,045 (40,276,467) - (37,158,688) 50,214,890
Short term portion of long term financial 
liabilities - - 2,479,939 37,158,688 39,638,627
Other financial liabilities - - 19,739,005 - 19,739,005
Trade payable 48,392,035 (12,818,556) 138,266 - 35,711,745

-Due to related parties 8,304,200 (13,370) 99,657 - 8,390,487
-Other trade payables 40,087,835 (12,805,186) 38,609 - 27,321,258

Employee benefit related liabilities - - - - -
Other payable 338,235,230 (82,791,763) 248,741 (130,400,650) 125,291,558

-Other payables to related parties 124,588,118 - - - 124,588,118
-Other payables 213,647,112 (82,791,763) 248,741 (130,400,650) 703,440

Deffered income - - - 137,143,035 137,143,035
Short term provisions 2,915,326 (2,674,927) 396,876 - 637,275

-Provisions for employee benefits 140,351 (92,385) 54,776 - 102,742
-Other short term provisions 2,774,975 (2,582,542) 342,100 - 534,533

Income tax liabilities 15,480 (15,480) 1,124,246 - 1,124,246
Other short term liabilities 11,017,051 (4,274,666) - (6,742,385) -
Long-term liabilities 262,208,537 (23,738,940) 8,771,148 - 247,240,745

Long term financial liabilities 188,055,261 (16,795,355) 2,361,125 - 173,621,031
Other financial liabilities - - 6,044,480 - 6,044,480
Other long term liabilities 14,845,034 - - (14,845,034) -
Other trade payable 14,845,034 - - (14,845,034) -
Deffered income - - - 14,845,034 14,845,034
Long term provisions 934,654 (864,473) 365,543 - 435,724

-Provisions for employee benefits 112,752 (42,571) 365,543 - 435,724
-Other long term provisions 821,902 (821,902) - - -

Deferred tax liabilities 58,373,588 (6,079,112) - - 52,294,476

Total liabilities 790,433,704 (166,590,799) 32,898,221 - 656,741,126

Shareholder’s equity 453,495,782 - 218,261,876 - 671,757,658
Share capital 83,000,004 - 45,200,837 - 128,200,841
Adjustments to share capital - - 143,640,036 - 143,640,036
Premium in shares - - 202,159 - 202,159
Other comprehensive income/expense 
to be reclassified to profit or loss 62,151,005 - (7,338) - 62,143,667

Valuation and classification gain/loss 62,151,005 - 21,764 - 62,172,769
Foreign currency translation 
differences - (29,102) - (29,102)

Effect of business combination under 
common control - - (4,109,167) - (4,109,167)
Other reserves 54,696,807 - - - 54,696,807
Restricted reserves appropriated from 
profit 150,000 - 16,056,937 - 16,206,937
Retain earning 153,396,402 - 4,101,443 - 157,497,845
Net profit/loss 100,101,564 - 13,176,969 - 113,278,533

Total liabilities and shareholders’ 
equity 1,243,929,486 (166,590,799) 251,160,097 - 1,328,498,784
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2.4 Changes and Interpretations in Standards

The Group applies new and revised IAS and IFRS changes and amendments which are valid on 
fort he periods begining on or after 1 January 2013, as issued by IASB and IFRIC.

New standards, amendments and interpretations are applied to annual reporting period ended 31 December 
2013 of the consolidated financial statements that is as follow: 

- Amendment to IAS 1, “Financial statement presentation”, regarding other comprehensive income; is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. 

- Amendment to IFRS 1, “First time adoption”, on government loans is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013. This amendment addresses how a first-time adopter would account for a government loan with a 
below-market rate of interest when transitioning to IFRS (Note 2.3). 

- Amendment to IFRSs 10, 11 and 12 on transition guidance¸; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013. These amendments provide additional transition relief to IFRSs 10, 11 and 12, limiting the requirement 
to provide adjusted comparative information to only the preceding comparative period. For disclosures related to 
unconsolidated structured entities, the amendments will remove the requirement to present comparative information 
for periods before IFRS 12 is first applied.

Amandment and interpretations to new standards which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013 and existing standards:

- Amendment to IAS 19, “Employee benefits”; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
Because the effect of these changes is negligible there has not been retroactive application by the Group.

- IFRS 10, “Consolidated financial statements”; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
- IFRS 12, “Disclosures of interests in other entities”; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2013.
- IFRS 13, “Fair value measurement” ; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
- IAS 27 (revised 2011), “Separate financial statements”; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2013. 
- IAS 28 (revised 2011), “Associates and joint ventures”; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2013.
- IFRIC 20, “Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine” is effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2013.
- Amendment to IFRS 7, “Financial instruments: Disclosures”, on asset and liability offsetting¸; is effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
- Amendment to IFRS 1, “First time adoption”, on government loans; ; is effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2013

Annual improvements 2011; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The amendments 
include changes from the 2009 2011 cycle of the annual improvements project that affect 6 standards:

•	 IFRS	1,	“First	time	adoption”
•	 IAS	1,	“Financial	statement	presentation”
•	 IAS	16,	“Property	plant	and	equipment”
•	 IAS	32,	“Financial	instruments;	Presentation”
•	 IAS	34,	“Interim	financial	reporting”
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Standards not yet entered into force on 31 December 2013 and not early adopted by the Group: 

- Amendment to IAS 32, “Financial instruments: Presentation”, on asset and liability offsetting is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.These amendments are to the application guidance in IAS 32, ‘Financial 
instruments: Presentation’, and clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities on 
the balance sheet. The Group has no significant impact of these changes.

- IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” – classification and measurement; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2015. This standard on classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities will replace IAS 
39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’.

- Amendment to IAS 36, “Impairment of assets” on recoverable amount disclosures is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014. This amendment addresses the disclosure of information about the recoverable 
amount of impaired assets if that amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal. 

- Amendment to IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”-‘Novation of derivatives is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. This amendment provides relief from discontinuing hedge 
accounting when novation of a hedging instrument to a central counterparty meets specified criteria. 

- Amendments to IFRS 10, 12 and IAS 27 on consolidation for investment entities is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014. These amendments mean that many funds and similar entities will be exempt 
from consolidating most of their subsidiaries. Instead, they will measure them at fair value through profit or loss. The 
amendments give an exception to entities that meet an ‘investment entity’ definition and which display particular 
characteristics. Changes have also been made IFRS 12 to introduce disclosures that an investment entity needs to 
make.

- IFRIC 21, ‘Levies’ is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. This is an interpretation of IAS 
37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’. IAS 37 sets out criteria for the recognition of a liability, 
one of which is the requirement for the entity to have a present obligation as a result of a past event (known as an 
obligating event). The interpretation clarifies that the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay a levy is the activity 
described in the relevant legislation that triggers the payment of the levy. 

- Amendment to IAS 19 regarding defined benefit plans; ; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 
These narrow scope amendments apply to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit plans.

- Annual improvements 2012; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. These amendments include 
changes from the 2010-12 cycle of the annual improvements project, that affect 7 standards
- IFRS 2, “Share-based payment”
- IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”
- IFRS 8, “Operating segments”
- IAS 16, “Property, plant and equipment” and IAS 38,”Intangible assets”
- IFRS 9, “Financial instruments”, IAS 37, “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets”
- IAS 39,”Financial instruments – Recognition and measurement”.

- Annual improvements 2013; is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. The amendments   
include changes from the 2011-2012 and 2013 cycle of the annual improvements project that affect 4 standards.
- IFRS 1, “First time adoption”
- IFRS 3, “Business combinations”
- IFRS 13, “Fair value measurement”
- IAS 40, “Investment property”

2.5. Compliance with Portfolio Limits

Information that are presented in Note 33: “Appendix disclosure: Control compliance of portfolio restrictions”, are 
summarized from the financial statements prepared in accordance with the Article 17 of “Communiqué Serial: XI, No: 29 
Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” as promulgated by the CMB and also within the framework of compliance control 
of the portfolio restrictions clause of Communiqué Serial: VI, No: 11, “Communiqué on Principles Regarding Real Estate 
Investment Companies”. The information provided in the mentioned note comprises unconsolidated data; hence such 
information may not match with the information disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

2.6. Seasonality of Operations

There is no impact of seasonality on the annual performance of Group’s activities ended on 31 December 2013.
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NOTE 3-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Significant accounting policies followed on preparing the finacial statements are summarized below:

3.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less (Note 7).

3.2 Related Parties

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, shareholders, key management personnel and board members, 
in each case together with their families and companies controlled by or affiliated with them, associates and joint ventures 
are considered and referred to as related parties (Note 31).

3.3 Foreign currency transactions

The foreign exchange transactions that take place during the period are translated into TL by using the exchange rates on 
transaction dates of the operation dates. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated into 
TL with the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet dates. The foreign currency exchange gains and losses arisen 
by the transactions of the monetary assets and liabilities based on foreign currency were presented in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

3.4 Financial Investment

Classification

The financial assets of the Group consist of financial assets available for sale, trade and non-trade receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at the date of purchase.

a) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables consist of non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance 
sheet date which are classified as non-current assets. 

Trade receivables generally consist of receivables from sales on credit terms based on preliminary sale agreements of the 
residence projects.

b) Financial Assets available for sale

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. A gain or loss on an 
available for-sale financial asset shall be recognised directly in equity, through the statement of changes in equity, except 
for impairment losses, dividend and interest gains, until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in equity shall be recognised in profit or loss.
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Interest income obtained from available for sale financial asset is accounted for as interest income

The fair value of the financial assets through profit/loss and financial assets available for sale that are operating in the 
quoted markets are determined based on the purchasing price published in Istanbul Stock Exchange as of balance sheet 
date. If the market for a financial asset is not active, the Group determined the fair value based on the current market 
value of the comparable investment instruments or based on the discounted cash flow analysis. If the fair value of the 
financial asset with equity instrument qualification can not be reliable determined, the amount recognized as cost less 
impairment if any.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a Group 
of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired. If any 
such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss-measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit 
or loss-is removed from equity and recognized in the income statement. Impairment losses recognized in the income 
statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. Impairment losses recognized in the 
income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.

c) Derivatives financial tools

The Group has no derivative financial instruments by 31 December 2013 and 2012.

3.5 Trade Receivables and Payables

Trade receivables arising from providing a buyer with a product or service are recognized as net of un-accrued 

financing income. Trade receivables of the Group are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried 

at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Short term receivables with undetermined interest rate are 
measured at original invoice amount unless the effect of imputing interest is significant (Note 10).

An impairment provision for trade receivables is established if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able 
to collect all amounts due in accordance with the original agreement terms. The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the present value of all cash flows, 
including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the original effective interest rate of 
the originated receivables.

In pursuit of making provision for bad debt, if the full amount or a part of it is collected; the collected amount is discounted 
from the bad debt amount, and recognized in other income. 

Trade payables consist of payables to suppliers for purchases of goods and services. Trade payables and other financial 
liabilites are presented as net of unaccrued financial expenses. Payable amounts in the subsequent period of recorded 
payables from original invoice values of trade payables and other liabilities after unaccrued financial liabilities are calculated 
with discounted based on the original effective interest rate. Short-term liabilities with undetermined interest rate are 
presented with their cost values, in case of the effect of the original effective interest rate is immaterial.

3.6 Advances

Advances received consist of amounts received from customers who entered into preliminary sales contracts with the 
Group for its real estate projects and are classified as short-term and long-term considering the expected delivery date of 
residences. The advances received for other operational activities are classified as short-term and long-term according to 
nature and duration of advances. Advances are not subject to discount.
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3.7 Financial Liabilities and Borrowing Cost

Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at discounted values calculated by using effective interest rate in consolidated financial statements. 
Subsequent to the Group’s transition date of 1 January 2008, the borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale are capitalises as part of the cost of that asset.

In the accompanying consolidated financial statement, borrowing costs which is related to a qualifying asset have 
been capitalised, whereas the others that are not in that extent have been recognized as an expense in the period they 
occurred.

3.8 Financial Leases

The group as the lessee

Financial leases

Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. The principal amount of rental obligations is accounted for under liabilities 
and reduced when the payment made. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income over the lease period. Obligations under finance leases are accounted for under the “Financial 
liabilities” account balance on the balance sheet. 

Interest rates and exchange difference expenses arising from financial leasing are changed to comprehensive income 
statement (Note 28). Tangible assets acquired through financial leasing is amortised over the shortest of its useful life or 
the lease term.

Operational leasing

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease

The Group as the lessor

Operational leasing

The assets subject to operational leasing are classified as investment property in the consolidated balance sheet and the 
rental income generated from these assets is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

3.9 Current and deffered income tax

The Company is exempt from corporate income tax in accordance with paragraph 4-d of Article 8 of the Corporate 
Income Tax Law and in accordance with paragraph 6-a of Article 94 of the Income Tax Law, the earnings of the real 
estate investment trusts are subject to withholding taxes, According to the Council of Ministers decision, No: 93/5148, the 
withholding tax rate is determined as “0”. Therefore, the Company has no corporate tax obligation (Note 30).
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Company’s joint venture company Akfil Holding and subsidiary company Akyön, has corporate tax obligation. In addition, 
since the other joint venture company of Akiş, is an ordinary partnership, there is no corporate tax obligation for this 
company. Ak-Al is subject to corporation tax for the year ended December 31,2012 and 2011 with the merger of jointly 
controlled entities which took place in 2013.

Current year tax liability consists of tax liability on period income calculated based on currently enacted tax rates as of 
balance sheet date. Group management assesses the position to be taken regarding the tax issues open to comment 
and accounts for the amounts that are expected to be paid to tax authorities as a provision in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, for temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. However, deferred income tax is not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination 
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. Current tax rate as of balance 
sheet date according to tax legislation is used in deferred tax calculation (Note 30). Deferred tax liabilities are recognised 
for all taxable temporary differences, whereas deferred tax assets resulting from deductible temporary differences 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority. Levied by the same 
taxation authority. 

3.10 Provision for employment termination benefits

Provision for employment termination benefits represent the present value of the estimated total reserve of the future 
probable obligation of the Group arising from the retirement of the employees calculated in accordance with the Turkish 
Labour Law. Under the Turkish Labour Law, the Group is required to pay termination benefits to each employee who has 
completed one year of service and whose employment is terminated without due cause, or who is called up for military 
service, dies or retires after completing 25 years of service (20 years for women) and achieves the retirement age (58 
for women and 60 for men). Since the legislation was changed on 23 May 2002, there are certain transitional provisions 
relating to length of service prior to retirement.The amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of 
amount of TL3,254 as of 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: TL3,034) 

Provision is related to fair value of defined benefit plan calculated with the method of estimated liability. All actuarial profit 
and losses are accounted under consolidate comprehensive income statement. IFRS requires actuarial valuation methods 
to be developed to estimate the enterprise’s obligation for such benefits. The liability for this unfunded plan recognized in 
the balance sheet is the full present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period, calculated 
using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash outflows from the retirement of its employees using the long term TL interest rates.

The principal assumption is that the maximum liability will increase in line with inflation. Thus the effective discount rate 
applied represents the expected real interest rate after adjusting for the effects of future inflation. As the maximum 
severance pay amount is revised semi-annually by the authorities, the maximum amount of TL3,438 which is effective 
from 1 January 2014 has been taken into consideration when calculating the liability (1 January 2013: TL3,129) is used.
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3.11 Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. The 
present obligation for an onerous contract is recognized immediately.

Contingent assets or contingent obligations arising from past events and the existence of which will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group are 
not included in financial statements and are treated as contingent assets or liabilities (Note 20).

3.12 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Inventories comprise of construction costs of residences 
(completed and in-progress) and the cost of land used for these residence projects. Land held for future development 
of real estate are also classified as inventory. Cost elements included in inventory are purchase costs, conversion costs 
and other costs necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use. Unit costs of the inventories are valued at the lower 
of cost or net realisable value. Borrowing costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalized. Lands which are currently 
used for real estate construction are evaluated in inventory. Stocks are classified as short and long term regarding on 
probable completion date of real estate constructions (Note 15).

3.13 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, if any. Any 
directly attributable costs of setting the asset in working order for its intended use are included in the initial measurement. 
Depreciation is calculated over of the cost of property, plant and equipment using the straight-line method based on 
expected useful lives (Note 17). The expected useful lives are stated below:

Years
Land improvements 3-25
Buildings (*) 2-3
Machinery, plant and equipment 5-20
Furniture and fixtures 3-50

(*) The useful life of the sales offices are determined based on the completion of the project.

Subsequent costs incurred for tangible assets for increasing the future benefits from the asset by enhancing its capacity 
are included in the asset’s carrying amount and are amortized for its remaining economic life. The costs except from those 
are recognized as expense. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is 
written down to its recoverable amount and the provision for impairment is charged to expense accounts.

Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by deducting the net book value 
of the property, plant and equipment from its sales and are included in the related income and expense accounts, as 
appropriate.
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3.14 Impairment of Assets

The Group reviews all assets including tangible assets at each balance sheet date in order to see if there is a sign of 
impairment on the stated asset. If there is such a sign, carrying amount of the stated asset is projected. Impairment 
exists if the carrying value of an asset or a cash generating unit including the asset is greater than its net realizable value. 
Net recoverable value is the higher of the net sales value or value in use. Value in use is the present value of cash flows 
generated from the use of the asset and the disposal of the asset after its useful life. Impairment losses are recorded in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised in prior period for an asset is reversed 
if the subsequent increase in the asset’s recoverable amount is caused by a specific event since the last impairment loss 
was recognised. Such a reversal amount cannot be higher than the previously recognised impairment loss and shall not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of amortisation or depreciation, had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such a reversal is recognized as income in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

3.15 Intangible fixed assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Amortization is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Estimated useful life and 
amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in the 
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Rights and other intangible fixed assets are amortised in 3 years.

3.16 Investment properties

Property that is held for rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, instead of using in the production process of 
goods and services or administrative intent, is classified as investment property and is carried at fair value. 

An investment property can be accounted as an asset, if and only if, it provides conditions listed below:

•	 If	it	is	probable	that	economic	benefits	related	to	real	estate	would	flow	to	the	company	and
•	 If	the	cost	of	the	investment	property	would	be	measured	reliably.

The profit or loss recognised due to the changes in the fair value of an investment property is included in the current 
year’s comprehensive income statement. The profit or loss recognised due to condemnation or disposal of an investment 
property is the difference between net collection obtained from the disposal of the asset and the book value of the real 
estate and it is accounted in the income statement under fair value increase in investment properties (Note 27).

Investment property is measured initially at cost. These costs comprise of the transaction costs and subsequent 
expenditures or services. The borrowing costs related to qualifying assets is also recognized during the construction of 
the asset, the mentioned capitalization continues until the completion of the construction. Group does not include the 
daily service expenses related to real estate in the book value of the investment property. Those costs are recognises in 
the profit or loss statement to the extent that they are realised. Daily services costs mainly comprise of the labour and 
consumables however, it may also include the cost of small pieces. These types of expenditures are classified as the 
maintenance expenses related with the real estates.



95FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Convenience Translation Into English of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Turkish

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as of 31 December 2013
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira [“TL”] unless otherwise stated.) 

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, 
if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information is not available, 
the Group uses alternative valuation methods, such as discounted cash flow projections. Group considers the conditions 
resulted with the difference in the determination of the fair value of the investment properties in order to make the most 
reliable estimation.

The fair value of investment property does not reflect future capital expenditure that will improve or enhance the property 
and does not reflect the related future benefits from this future expenditure.

The Group measures the investment property under construction at fair value. Group, investment properties under 
construction for which the fair value cannot be determined reliably, but for which the Group expects that the fair value of 
the property will be reliably determinable when construction is completed, are measured at cost less impairment until the 
fair value becomes reliably determinable or construction is completed.

In order to evaluate whether the fair value of an investment property under construction can be determined reliably, 
management considers the following factors, among others;

- The stage of completion,
- Comparability of the project in market,
- The level of reliability of cash inflows after completion,
- The development risk specific to the property,
- Past experiences with similar constructions
- Status of construction permits

Group transfers its investment properties to inventory or fixed assets if and only if a change occures in use of the 
investment property. The aforementioned change in use is to start development for the purpose of sale after the 
development. If the Group decides on disposal of the investment properties without any development, until the disposal 
date, it is continued to be classified as investment property. Likewise, if the Group re-develops an existing investment 
property to be used as an investment property in the future, the classification of the property remained as investment 
properly and can not be reclassified to fixed assets during the course of development.

3.17 Business combinations and goodwill

A business combination is bringing together of separate entities or businesses into one reporting entity. Business 
combinations are accounted for using the purchase method in the scope of IFRS 3. Obtaining the control rights of one 
or more non trading entities or acquisition of the assets or group of assets of an entity are not classified as business 
combination. 

The cost of the business combination shall be allocated by measuring the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities at the date of exchange. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value 
of the acquirer’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is accounted for as goodwill in the consolidated 
financial statements. An asset, which is allocated from goodwill and is not stated in the financial statements of the 
purchased entity, is stated at fair value in the consolidated financial statements. Goodwill stated in purchased entity is not 
assessed as identifiable asset. 
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In case fair value of purchased identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds business combination 
purchase cost, difference is posted to consolidated income statement. The non controlling interest for each purchased 
entity is accounted for considering the ownership interest in net assets.

For acquisitions of subsidiaries not meeting the definition of a business, the Group allocates the difference between cost 
and the fair value of the individual identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition. Such transactions or events 
do not give rise to goodwill.

The carrying value of goodwill is reviewed annually at the same time for impairment and the impairment provision, if any, is 
immediately recognized in the consolidated income statements.

The combination of jointly controlled entities:

Legal merges arising between companies controlled by the Group are not considered within the scope of IFRS 3. 
Consequently, no goodwill is recognised in these transactions. Similarly, the effects of all transactions between the legally 
merged companies are eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

POA has announced the accounting principles regarding the transactions of entities under common control on 21 July 
2013. In accordance with the announcement, transactions involving entities under common control would be accounted 
in accordance with “Pooling of Interest Method” by restating previous year financials. (Notes 2.3 and 5). 

“The Effects of Business Combination Under Common Control” account is used under equity as an equalizer in order to 
remove the asset-liability mismatch that occurs due to business combinations under common control (Note 5).

Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of 
the Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant 
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is accounted in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to 
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. For disposals to non-controlling interests, differences between any 
proceeds received and the relevant share of non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

3.18.1 Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. Revenues are stated net of discounts, value added taxes and sales taxes after the elimination of 
inter group transactions.

As per IAS 18, the exchange of goods and services with dissimilar nature generates revenue and are measured at the fair 
value of the considerations received less the nominal amount of cash and cash equivalents to be received. If the fair value 
of the goods or services received can not be reliably measured, the revenue is measured at the fair value of the goods or 
services given up, again adjusted by the amount of cash and cash equivalents.
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Sale of Real Estate

Income generated from the sales of the real estate (residential units and shops classified as inventories) is accounted as 
soon as the below conditions are met:

•	 The	Group	has	transferred	all	significant	risks	and	rewards	associated	with	the	property	to	the	buyer.	(Transfer	of	title	
generally coincides with the final acceptance by the customers of the residential units or shops sold and that is when 
the risk and rewards of ownership is considered to pass to the customer).

•	 The	Group	does	not	have	any	control	on	the	sold	properties	and	no	continued	administrative	participation	associated	
with the property, 

•	 Reliable	measurement	of	revenue,
•	 Probability	that	the	economic	benefits	from	the	transaction	will	flow	to	the	Group	and	reliable	measurement	of	costs.

Constructions

Rent income from investment properties is recognised on an accrual basis. Revenue is recognised when economic 
benefits arising from the transaction have flowed to the Group, and the revenue can be reliably measured. When 
discounts granted to existing tenants from time to time, they are netted off from rent revenues.

Interest income

When the arrangement effectively constitutes a financing transaction, the fair value of the consideration is determined by 
discounting all future receipts using an imputed rate of interest.

3.19 Paid in Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Proceeds from issuing new equity instruments are recorded net of transaction 
costs.

3.20 Share Premium

Share premium represents the difference as a result of its sale of the stocks of the investments which are evaluated 
through equity method with a higher price than their nominal prices or the stocks of its subsidiaries; or the difference 
between the nominal and net realizable values of the stocks of its acquired companies.

3.21 Segment Reporting

Segment reporting is designed as to supply consistence on reporting to the competent authority on taking decisions 
about the activities of the group. The competent authority is responsible for evaluation of the departments’ performance 
and decision taking related to the resources which are to be allocated according to departments. 

For an industrial or geographical department to be identified as a reportable department, the necessity is, by including the 
sales to external customers and interdepartment transactions or transfers, reported revenue must be 10% or more of the 
total revenue of all internal and external activity, 10% or more of reported income or loss or the assets must be 10% or 
more than total assets. When the management believes that the information related to the department would be useful for 
financial statement users, the operation departments which are below the levels considered above, can be identified as 
reportable departments and the information related to these can be explained separately. 
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Because of the risk and benefit ratios of the group is effected by the increases in the value of the lands owned and 
ongoing residence projects, residence projects and lands are identified as the first format aimed at reporting of the 
department information (Note 5). Information based on geographical departments are not included in the financial 
statements because they don’t have the features of reportable department throughout the financial statements and in 
monetary materiality concept of the group’s activities.

3.22 Earning Per Share

Earnings per share are determined by dividing net comprehensive income by the weighted average number of shares 
that have been outstanding during the period concerned. In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by making 
a pro-rata distribution of their shares (“bonus shares”) to existing shareholders funded from retained earnings or other 
reserves. For the purpose of earnings per share computations, such bonus share issuances are regarded as issued 
shares for all periods presented and accordingly the weighted average number of shares used in earnings per share 
computations in prior periods is adjusted retroactively for the effects of these shares, issued without receiving cash or 
another consideration from shareholders.

3.23 Cash Flow Statement

Consolidated statement of cash flows includes cash and cash equivalents, cash with original maturity periods of less than 
three months and bank deposits (Note 7).

3.24 Offsetting

Each material class of similar items according to their nature or function is presented separately in the financial 
statements. If a line item is not individually material, it is aggregated with other similar items according to their nature or 
function. If the essence of the transaction and events requires offsetting, presentation of these transactions and events 
at their net values or following up of the assets at their amounts after the deduction of impairment, is not evaluated as a 
breach of the non-deductibility rule.

3.25 Dividends

Dividend income is recognized by the Group at the date the right to collect the dividend is realized. Dividend payables are 
recognized as a result of profit distribution in the period they are declared.

3.26 Subsequent events

Subsequent events cover any events which arise between the authorization date for declaration of the balance sheet, 
and the balance sheet date, even if they occurred after any declaration of the net profit for the period or specific financial 
information publicly disclosed. In case of occurrence of events that require readjustments, the Group adjusts the amounts 
recorded in the financial statements, corresponding to the subsequent event (Note 35).

NOT 4-SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

Preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the usage of estimations and assumptions which may affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet date, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and 
reported amounts of income and expenses during financial period. Although these estimates rely on the best knowledge 
and belief of the management, due to their nature accounting estimates may differ from actual results. Estimates and 
assumptions that might cause material adjustments to the book value of the assets and liabilities in the coming financial 
reporting fort he period 31 Dcember 2013 and 2012 are stated below:
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a) Fair values of investment properties:

Significant evaluations, estimates and assumptions that are used at the time of determining the fair value of immovables 
that are classified as investment property in the consolidated financial statements are explained below: 

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Akbatı Shopping Mall i 603,970,966 556,149,022
Lands and Buildings in Çerkezköy ii 81,700,000 76,195,000
Lands and Buildings in Yalova iii 53,440,000 46,400,000
Lands in Üsküdar Kısıklı iv 51,311,138 -
Lands in Bozüyük v 9,625,000 9,370,000
Lands and Buildings in Bulgaria vi 6,145,000 6,145,000
Lands in Esenyurt vii - 15,487,642
Other Invetment Properties viii 290,000 270,000

806,482,104 710,016,664

i. Akbatı AVM

The Group develops the Akbatı Project on a land piece of 50,838 m2 in total that is classified under investment properties 
as of 31 December 2013 and 2012 and located in Istanbul Province, Esenyurt District, Kapadık Neighbourhood, Block 
383, and Parcel 3.The Akbatı Project comprises Akbatı Shopping Mall that has a construction area of 185,032 m2 and 
leasable area of 65,496 m2 as well as two residential blocks with a construction and sellable area of 61,738 m2 and 
42,821 m², respectively. 

While determining the fair value of Akbatı Shopping Mall as of 31 December 2013, the expert report prepared by Vektör 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. (“Vektör”) and dated 31 December 2013 with No. 2012_300_31 was taken into account and 
the related expert report set the fair value of Akbatı Shopping Mall at TL603.970.966 via income capitalisation method.

The fair value of the Akbatı Shopping Mall as at 31 December 2012 has been determined based on the expert report 
prepared by Vektör on 11 October 2012 numbered 2012_300_21 in which the fair value of Akbatı Shopping Mall 
was determined as TL556,127,332 using the income capitalisation method. From 11 October to 31 December 2012, 
additions amounting to TL21.690 has been realised and the fair value of the to the shopping mall has been realised as 
TL554,149,022. With respect to the fair value of the shoping mall as of 31 December 2011, the Group received expert 
opinion from Vektör Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. Primary assumptions used in the determination of the fair value are as 
follows:

Discount
Rate

Annual rent
increase rate

Capitalisation
rate

Annual 
construction

cost increase
rate

31 December 2013 10.2% 2.5% 7.7% -
31 December 2012 9.5% 3.0% 6.5% -
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ii. Lands in Çerkezköy

The Goup owns land with an area of 377,005 m2 in total that is classified under investment properties as of 31 December 
2013 and 2012, are located in Tekirdağ Provience, Çerkezköy District, Fevzi Paşa Neighbourhood, 29K2D, Blok 956, 
Parcel 10 via merger with Ak-Al. The Group is currently earning rent income from land.

While determining the fair value of land as of 31 December 2013 and 2012, the expert report prepared by Lotus 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş and dated 27 December 2013 numbered 2013/4157 and dated 22 August 
2012, numbered 2012/1675 were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total fair value as 
TL81,700,000 and TL75,860,000, respectively.

Via merger with Ak-Al, the Group owns ½ shares of land with an area of 2.737 m2 in total which is classified under 
investment properties as of 31 December 2012. Land is located in Tekirdağ Provience, Çerkezköy District Fezvi Paşa 
Neighbourhood, 29K2D, Blok 956, Parcel 10 with 1 social facilities on it. While determining the fair value of land as of 31 
December 2012, the expert report that was prepared by Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş dated 1 July 
2013, numbered 2013/2190 was taken into consideration and the fair value of the land for the portion owned by Akiş has 
been determined as TL335,000.

In the context of compliance with REIT legislation; Social facilities whose ½ shares are owned by Akiş and located on 
Çerkezköy Orginezed Industrial Zone, Yildirim Beyazit Neighborhood, Barbaros Street, No:71 Çerkezköy/Tekirdağ Block 
956, Parcel 4, were sold to Ak-Kim Kimya Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş for total amount of TL 335,000 (TL 395,300 including 
VAT) on 3 July 2013.

iii. Land in Yalova

Via merger with Ak-al, the Goup owns 3 pieces of land with an area of 159,579 m² in total that is classified under 
investment properties as of 31 December 2013 and 2012. Land is located in Yalova Provience, Çiftliköy District, Denizçalı 
Village, Topçuçiftliği Outskirts, Pafta 1/1, Parcel 1126, 1145 and 1146. The Goup is currently earning rent income from the 
land.

While determining the fair value of the land as of 31 December 2013 and 2012, the expert report prepared by 
Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş on 27 December 2013 numbered 2013/4214 and on 22 August 
2012 numbered 2012/1622 were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total fair values as 
TL53,440,000 and TL46,400,000 respectively.

iv. Lands in Üsküdar Kısıklı

The Group sold its shares in Akfil Holding and Adi Ortaklık to Garanti Koza İnşaat on 11 March 2013. The land owned by 
Akfil Holding which are located in Istanbul, Kısıklı Neighborhood, Island 2273, Parcel 2, Island 2774, Parcel 2 and Island 
804, Parcel 57 are subject to new zoning applications in accordance with Çamlıca Area Plan Revision, and such land have 
TL45,120,377 fair value in accordance with the expert report prepared by Vektör Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş on 6 March 
2013 numbered 2013_300_02. These land are purchased by the Company from Akiş for TL40,500,000 (USD22,500,000). 
Regarding the use of land the Group has not made a decision yet and currently holding for capital appreciation.

While determining the fair values of these lands as of 31 December 2013 and 2012, the expert report prepared by Vektör 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. on 31 December 2013 numbered 2013_300_35 was taken into account. The related report 
determined the Group’s share in the fair value of the Üsküdar Kısıklı land as TL51,311,138.
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v. Lands in Bozüyük

Lands in Yaftı

Via merger with Ak-Al, the Group owns 6 pieces of land with a total area of 67,990 m² which are classified in 
investment properties as of 31 December 2013 and 2012. Lands are located in Bilecik Province, Bozüyük District, Yeni 
Neighbourhood,Yaftı Site, Island 237 and Parcels 21, 22, 25, 29, 30 and 33. The Group currently earns rent income from 
land and textile production facility on it.

While determining the fair value of land as of 31 December 2013 and 2012, the expert report prepared by Lotus 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş and dated on 27 December 2013 numbered 2013/3918 and on 22 August 
2012 numebred 2012/1631 were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total fair value as 
TL9,550,000 and TL9,300,000 respectively.

In the context of compliance with REIT legislation; Investment properties with an area of 4.178 m2 located on 237 Island, 
29 Parcel, was sold to Akkök Sanayi Yatırım ve Geliştirme A.Ş for total amount of TL 250,000 (TL 295,000 including VAT) 
on 3 July 2013.

Lands in Kızıltepe

Via merged with Ak-Al, the Goup owns 1 piece of land with an area of 486 m2 in total that is classified under investment 
properties as of 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, are located in Bilecik Provience, Bozuyuk District, Yeni 
Neighbourhood, Kızıltepe Site, Pafta 30KIC, Island 414 and Parcels 148. Regarding the use of land the Group has not 
made a desisicion yet and at present holds in order to increase value.

While determining the fair value of land as of 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the expert report prepared by 
Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş and dated on 27 December 2013 with no. 2013/3919 and dated 22 
August 2012 with no. 2012/1632 were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total fair value of 
Bozüyük was determined as TL75,000 and TL70,000 respectively.

vi. Lands in Bulgaria

Via merger with Ak-Al, the Group owns 20 pieces of lands with total area of 110.580 m2 that are classified in investment 
properties as of 31 December 2013 and 2012. Lands are located in Bulgaria, Silistre Province, Industral Zone, Islands 1, 
23, 24, 25, 26, 27 and 28. Regarding the use of land the Group has not made a decision yet and at currently holds for 
capital appreciation.

While determining the fair value of these lands as of 31 December 2012, the expert report prepared by Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. dated 23 August 2012 with no. 2012/1635 was taken into account. The related report 
determined the Group’s share in the fair value of the Bulgaria land as TL6,145,000.

The assesment of Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş on 17 February 2014 with reference number 652-
011 is taken into account. On that land, a new zoning and parcellation is underway which will affect the lend registry. In 
this context, no material change in the fair value of the land is anticipated considering the base amounts subjected to land 
taxes by the authorities as of 31 December 2013.
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vii. Land in Esenyurt

The Company has a piece of land with total area of 9,629 m2 owned by Akiş and classified under investment properties 
as of 31 December 2012, are located in Istanbul Province, Esenyurt District, Kapadık Neighbourhood, Block 382, Parcels 
11. While determining the fair value of the land as of 31 December 2012, the expert report prepared by Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. dated 15 October 2012 numbered 2012_300_18 was taken into account. The related 
report determined the Akiş’s share in the fair value of the Esenyurt land as TL15,487,642

On Board of Director Meeting which was held on 11 March 2013, numbered 11, it was decided to sell the land located in 
Istanbul Province, Esenyurt District, Kapadık Neighbourhood, Block 382, Parcels 11 to Akfil Holding A.Ş. with 40 months 
maturity. On 30 September 2013 such land has been sold to Akfil Holding A.Ş., (Garanti Koza İnşaat Sanayi ve Tic. A.Ş 
owned Akfil Holding’s %99,99 shares at that date) for TL15,323,956 (TL18,082,268 including VAT) after 5% discount for 
payment in cash.

viii. Other investment properties

Via merger with Ak-Al, the Group owns 1 commercial unit with an area of gross 180 m2 owned by Akiş that is classified 
under investment properties as of 31 December 2013 and 2012, are located in, İstanbul Provience, Esenler District, 
Atışalanı Neighbourhood, 246DT2D2A3A3B Pafta, Block 1082, Parcel 14. Regarding the use of land the Group has not 
made a decision yet and currently holding for capital appreciation.

While determining the fair value of the commercial unit as of 31 December 2013 and 2012, the expert report prepared by 
Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş and on 27 December 2013 numbered 2013/4300 and on 22 August 
2012 numbered 2012/1634 were taken into consideration and the related expert reports set the total fair value of Esenler 
commercial unit was determined as TL290,000 and TL270,000 respectively.

As of 31 December 2011, the fair values of the investment properties located in Çerkezköy, Yalova, Bozüyük, Bulgaria and 
Esenler which have been recognised as a result of the merger with Ak-al have been considered to approximate their fair 
values as of 31 December 2012.

a) Long term Value Added Tax (“VAT”) Receivables

VAT receivables which are expected to be settled beyond 1 year period are classified as part of non-current assets by the 
Group (Note 19). Total VAT receivables of the Group as of 31 December 2013 amoun to TL48,520,249 (31 December 
2012: TL48,412,043) and based on the estimated income and expense that will be subject to VAT, TL41,071,816 have 
been classified as long term as of 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: TL40,228,516).

b) Working Capital Ratio

As of 31 December 2013 the Groups current assets amount to TL88,678,431 and current labilities amount to 
TL430,054,239. At 31 December 2013, the Group’s short-term liabilities exceeded its current assets by TL341,375,808. 
The Group does not anticipate problems due to this maturity mismatch.

As detailed in Note 16, the Group created liquid funds amounting to USD62.5 million by selling its equity investments in 
2013. Thecreated funds, in line with the Group’s long-term strategy, have been redirected for the purchases of new real 
estate especially within the scope of urban transformation.
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Short-term loans were used in the financing of Bağdat Street real estate purchases that are planned to be performed 
within the urban transformation projects. Together with the completion of urban transformation procedures and 
clarification of project plans, those short term loans used for financing of project purchases are planned to be converted 
into long-term loans. Considering favourability of the borrowing costs; continuance with short-term loans is also an 
option. As a result, the structure of these loans will be adopted to the cash flows of the planned investments so that the 
investment can perform it own repayment. Projects which will be realised on Bağdat Street are expected to generate rent 
income through street retail activities, and some portion is planned to be disposed by apartment sales.

The Group expects to gain approximately TL54 million from Akbatı Shopping Mall that is operational since September 
2011, and TL15 million is expected to be gained from lands and buildings in Çerkezköy, Yalova, Bozüyük in the following 
year.

The amount of advances received regarding Beyaz Kule project is approximates to TL16 million at 31 December 2013. 
Those advances are classfied under Group’s short-term liabilities will be closed with deliveries of the apartments in 2014 
without associating with any cash outflow.

Under Group’s Akbatı and Akkoza projects there are respectively 30 and 7 residential units that sales commitments are 
not made for yet and in this context will create cash inflows.

The Goup’s inventories and investment properties are approximately TL1,1 billion and in case of any shortage in cash; 
sales, mortgage or any other alternative methods will be evulated by the Group. 

NOTE 5 – BUSSINES COMBINATIONS

The combination of common controlled entities:

On the Board of Directors meeting held on 17 August 2012, it was decided to take-over Ak-Al through a merger.

The mergers of the entities were decided to be based on the balance sheets that are prepared in accordance with the 
relevant regulations of CBM as of 30 June 2012, all assets and liabilities on the balance sheet of Ak-Al were decided to be 
transffered to Akiş as a whole. Such merger was approved by the Extra Ordinary General Assembly Meeting held on 31 
December 2012 and is registered on 4 January 2013.

At the Ordinary General Assembly of Akiş held on 31 December 2012, it was resolved to merge with Ak-Al via acquisition, 
and to carry out the business combination according to the relevant arrangements the Articles 36 of Turkish Commercial 
Code no.6102 Law, the Articles 18, 19 and 20 of the Corporate Income Tax Law under the provisions of Capital Markets 
Board Communiqué Serial: I No: 31 “Communiqué on Principles Regarding Merger Procedures” basis pursuant to 46th 
Istanbul Commercial Court’s basic file numbered 2012/263 and through transferring to Akiş all assets and liabilities in the 
balance sheet of Ak-Al dated 30 June 2012 as a whole.

Istanbul Trade Registry Office has announced the decisions taken at Extra Ordinary General Meeting of Akiş dated 31 
December 2012 and declared that merger agreement has been registered at 4 January 2013, at the Trade Registry 
Gazette dated 9 January 2013 numbered 8232.

The merger is formed by the parties, with reference to the balance sheet of 30 June 2012, which is formed by CMB 
regulations, by the method of equity by the component parties, who are assigned by İstanbul 46th Commercial Court 
of First Instance, according to the file number 2012/264; with merger rate of 0,6474, exchange rate of 1,10. Due to the 
process of merger, Akiş’s issued capital is increased to TL128,200,841 from TL45,200,837.
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Since the merger included the entities that are controlled by Akkok Sanayi Yatirim ve Geliştirme A.Ş. from 4 January 2013 
and Akiş took over Ak-Al’s all assets and liabilities as a whole, Akiş’s balance sheet of 30 June 2013 is formed according 
to the CMB Financial Reporting Standards by merging the balance sheets of two companies.

All assets, liabilities and equity on the balance sheet of Ak-Al are merged with Akiş’s balance sheet, with respect to the 
current value at the time of merger; and the amounting to TL112,927,474 which realised due to the differences in the 
accounting policies between Ak-Al and Akiş, is included in equity. The results of the operations of Ak-Al after 4 January 
2013, is added to the consolidated income statement as of 31 December 2013, due to the reason that the merger is 
formed proactively.

The differences amounting TL4,109,167 occured as a result of the merger is shown in the “Effects of business 
combination under common control” stated as financial statement presentation format that is implemented by POA.

NOTE 6-SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group operating segments are determined based on strategic decisions reports reviewed by the Board of Directors. 

The Group management has been set operating segments as of “Akbatı Project”, “Akkoza Project” and “Lands”. “Akbatı 
Project” has the project activity in Akbatı shopping centers and housing Akbatı in Esenyurt. “Akkoza Project” activity 
section consists of Garanti Koza ordinay partnership Project in Esenyurt which is joint management partnership of Akiş. 
2C phase is considered in the activity segment of Akiş until building date of 30 November 2011.”Lands” portion of 
activity consists of located in various parts of the land located in Turkey and owned by the group. The Group recorded its 
investments in joint ventures under associates in paralel to the using the equity method joint ventures.
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1 January-
31 December 2013

Akbatı 
Project

Akkoza 
Project Lands

Joint 
Ventures  Undistributed Total

External revenues 55,953,325 2,348,313 12,656,199 - -  70,957,837
Cost of Sales (-) (26,700,215) (2,535,415) - - -  (29,235,630)

Gross Profit 29,253,110 (187,102) 12,656,199 - - 41,722,207

General administrative 
expenses (-) (3,919,349) (1,083,363) (2,187,453) - (10,965,162) (18,155,327)
Marketing expenses (-) (1,369,665) - - - - (1,369,665)
Operating Income 3,405,044 - - 378,306 1,613,823 5,397,173
Other Operating Income (-) (3,926,160) - - (378,306) (238,257) (4,542,723)
Income/expense from 
equity method investment - - - (5,148,533) - (5,148,533)

Operating profit/(loss) 23,442,980 (1,270,465) 10,468,746 (5,148,533) (9,589,596) 17,903,132

Income from investment 
activities 47,883,564 - 25,236,984 15,781,791 - 88,902,339
Expenses from investment 
activities (-) (183,321) - - (13,960,151) - (14,143,472)

Operating Profit/(loss) 
before financing income 71,143,223 (1,270,465) 35,705,730 (3,326,893) (9,589,596) 92,661,999

Financial income 13,099,294 - - 538,857 8,185,364 21,823,515
Financial expenses (-) (58,318,338) - (8,687,902) (1,116,853) (20,316,085) (88,439,178)

Profit/(loss) before tax 25,924,179 (1,270,465) 27,017,828 (3,904,889) (21,720,317) 26,046,336

Income tax expenses (77,074) - - - - (77,074)
Deferred tax income/(loss) - - - - (929,684) (929,684)

Profit/(loss) before tax 25,847,105 (1,270,465) 27,017,828 (3,904,889) (22,650,001) 25,039,578 
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Restated 1 January-
31 December 2012

Akbatı 
Projects

Akkoza 
Projects Lands Joint Venture Undistributed Total

External revenues 134,162,944 36,481,953 11,430,767 - - 182,075,664
Cost of Sales (-) (105,774,452) (36,715,588) - - - (142,490,040)

Gross Profit 28,388,492 (233,635) 11,430,767 - - 39,585,624

General administrative 
expenses (-) (4,329,717) (1,618,115) (2,469,409) - (6,093,563) (14,510,804)
Marketing expenses (-) (6,082,093) - - - - (6,082,093)
Other operating income 1,412,854 - 901,227 - 2,620,840 4,934,921
Other operating expenses 
(-) (3,286,245) (3,814,056) 3,790,203 - (772,536) (4,082,634)
Income/Expense from 
valued
Investment by Equity 
Method - - - (4,487,811) - (4,487,811)

Operating profit/(loss) 16,103,291 (5,665,806) 13,652,788 (4,487,811) (4,245,259) 15,357,203

Income from Investing 
Activites - - 22,580,323 - - 22,580,323
Expenses from Investing 
Activities (25,228,000) - (1,333,326) - - (26,561,326)

Operating Profit/Loss 
before Financial Income/
Expense (9,124,709) (5,665,806) 34,899,785 (4,487,811) (4,245,259) 11,376,200

Financial income 23,784,557 5,580,490 - - 13,791,530 43,156,577
Financial expenses (-) (27,578,738) (6,482,991) - - (9,590,877) (43,652,606)

Profit/(loss) before tax (12,918,890) (6,568,307) 34,899,785 (4,487,811) (44,606) 10,880,171

Dönem Vergi Gideri (60,000) - - - (2,709,141) (2,769,141)
Ertelenmiş Vergi Gideri 56,928,624 - 344,799 - (8,243,069) 49,030,354

Profit from continuing 
Operations 43,949,734 (6,568,307) 35,244,584 (4,487,811) (10,996,816) 57,141,384
Loss due to non-
continuing Operations - - - - (122,781) (122,781)

Profit/Loss 43,949,734 (6,568,307) 35,244,584 (4,487,811) (11,119,597) 57,018,603
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As of 31 December 2013 and 2012 segment assets and liabilities:

Restated 
31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Asset Liability Asset Liability
Akbatı Project 674,514,130 284,293,630 646,383,858 315,575,527
Akkoza Project 4,364,663 - 27,277,633 34,137,588
Lands 461,606,849 202,375,676 258,433,682 11,752,269
Associates - - 98,355,424 -
Undistributed 114,305,661 41,732,497 91,874,661 49,053,872

Total 1,254,791,303 528,401,803 1,122,325,258 410,519,256

Amounts of TL2,155,276 and TL16,552,289 (31 December 2012: TL15,994,154 and TL17,542,192) related with Beyaz 
Kule Project’s assets and liabilities are included in undistributed group.

For the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 ınvestment expenditures, depreciation and amortization expenses are 
as follows:

2013 2012
Investment

expenses
Depreciation

giderleri
Investment

expense
Depreciation

expense
Akbatı Project 388,344 2,166,367 6,833,069 1,098,756
Akkoza Project - - - -
Lands 285,403,511 - - -
Undistributed - - - 1,603,034

Total 285,791,855 2,166,367 6,833,069 2,701,790

NOTE 7-CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Cash on hand 21,760 39,542 38,090
Cash at banks

-Demand deposit 252,592 344,603 2,745,048
-Time deposit 38,583,902 76,429,959 90,042,475

Other 138,684 203,074 5,999

38,996,938 77,017,178 92,831,612

Maturities of cash and cash equivalents are as follows:
     

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Up to 30 days 38,996,938 77,017,178 84,742,187
30-90 days - - 8,089,425

38,996,938 77,017,178 92,831,612
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The breakdown of foreign currency denominated cash and cash equivalents in terms of TL is as follows:
  

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
USD 11,118,550 62,491,762 30,681,042
EUR 1,949,076 4,507,705 331,972
GBP 27 18 -

13,067,653 66,999,485 31,013,014

Average effective interest rates of time deposits are as follows (%):
  

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
% % %

USD 2.90 2.30 5.20
EUR 2.90 2.30 -
TL 8.72 7.57 10.67

NOTE 8-FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Regarding SAF Gayrimenkul Geliştirme İnşaat ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“SAF GYO”),% 6,56 percentage of associates and 
associates in Türkiye Sınai Kalkınma Bankası A.Ş. and Türkiye Vakıflar Bankası A.Ş which is less than 1% and came from 
merger with Ak-Al refers to Group’s long term marketable financial investments.

Financial information comes to financial investments for the period 31 December 2013 and 2012:

31 December 2013
Description

Share
Ratio %

Cost
value

Fair
Value

Fair value 
increase/

(decrease)
Traded on a stock exchange
SAF GYO 6,56 11,907,000 64,537,825 7,558,484
Türkiye Sınai Kalkınma Bankası A,Ş, 1< 211,872 266,750 (27,298)
Türkiye Vakıflar Bankası A,Ş, 1< 691 1,432 (296)

31 December 2012
SAF GYO 6,56 11,907,000 56,979,342 (20,349,766)
Türkiye Sınai Kalkınma Bankası A,Ş, 1< 211,872 374,054 153,054
Türkiye Vakıflar Bankası A,Ş, 1< 691 1,728 810

2013 2012
Opening balance, 1 January 57,328,124 77,524,026
Divided income (7,966) (11,849,889)
Capital increase - 39,755
Fair value increase/(decrease) 7,538,855 (8,385,768)

Closing balance, 31 December 64,859,013 57,328,124
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NOTE 9-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Financial liabilities

Bank borrowings 346,740,684 199,359,716 49,058,994
Financial leasing liabilities 6,140,499 3,770,178 1,155,896

Short-term financial liabilities 352,881,183 203,129,894 50,214,890

Short-term portion of long term bank loans 41,986,230 35,067,583 39,638,627

Short-term portion of long-term debt 41,986,230 35,067,583 39,638,627

Bank borrowings 83,972,459 105,202,623 150,995,879
Financial leasing liabilities 14,086,676 17,047,466 22,625,152

Long-term financial liabilities 98,059,135 122,250,089 173,621,031

Total financial liabilities 492,926,548 360,447,566 263,474,548

a) Bank Barrowings 

31 December 2013 Restated 31 December 2012
Weighted 

average 
effective 
interest

rate p.a. % Original TL

Weighted 
average
effective 
interest

rate p.a. % Original TL
Short-term:
Bank borrowings USD 4.49% 57,036,430 121,732,852 5.32% 36,261,890 64,640,445
Bank borrowings TL 10.61% 136,778,910 136,778,910 10.35% 64,712,467 64,712,467
Bank borrowings EUR 4.70% 30,045,606 88,228,922 7.27% 29,768,595 70,006,804

346,740,684 199,359,716 

Short-term portion of long-term borrowings:
Bank borrowings USD 3.67% 19,672,131 41,986,230 3.77% 19,672,155 35,067,583

41,986,230 35,067,583

Long-term financial debt:
Bank borrowings USD 3.67% 39,344,262 83,972,459 3.77% 59,016,393 105,202,623

83,972,459 105,202,623
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 Restated 31 December 2011
Weighted average

effective interest
rate p.a. % Orginal TL

Short-term financial debt:
Bank borrowings USD 4.74% 3,194,811 6,034,678
Bank borrowings TL 11.57% 43,024,316 43,024,316

49,058,994

Short-term portion of long-term borrowings:
Bank borrowings USD 3.78% 20,985,032 39,638,627

39,638,627

Long-term financial debt:
Bank borrowings USD 3.87% 79,938,525 150,995,879

150,995,879

Redemption schedule of bank borrowing as of 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011 follows:

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Bank Borrowing:
2013 - - 39,519,812
2014 - 35,067,541 37,158,689
2015 41,986,229 35,067,541 37,158,689
2016 41,986,230 35,067,541 37,158,689

83,972,459  105,202,623 150,995,879
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b) Financial leasing liabilities

 Although the maturities of financial leasing liabilities as of 31 December 2013 are less than 5 years, as of 31 December 
2012 the maturities of financial leasing liabilities are more than 5 years.
 
Gross financial leasing liabilities-minimal rent payments:
     

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Up to 1 year 7,309,333  5,049,813 3,373,563
1-5 year 15,508,202  19,162,176 23,473,261
Over 5 year -  53,897 2,797,343
Unrealized financial expenses on 
financial leasing liabilities (2,590,360) (3,448,242) (5,863,119)

Present value of financial leasing 
liabilities 20,227,175  20,817,644 23,781,048
 
The maturity of financial leasing 
liabilities is as follows:
Up to 1 year 6,140,499  3,770,178 1,155,898
1 year-5 year 14,086,676 17,002,914 19,947,470
Over 5 year -  44,552 2,677,680

20,227,175 20,817,644 23,781,048

NOTE 10-TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Short-term trade receivables
Notes receivables 3,313,463 37,384,364 52,242,084
Trade receivables 7,673,600 10,911,480 10,132,436
Due from joint ventures (Note 31) 124,435 12,444,415 48,327,897

11,111,498 60,740,259 110,702,417

Less: Provisions for doubtful receivables (6,983,547) (6,822,737) (7,543,946)
Less: Unearned credit finance income (48,962) (88,810) (34,242)

4,078,989 53,828,712 103,124,229
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Movement of the provision for doubtful receivables is as follows:

2013 2012 2011
Opening Balance, 1 January (6,822,737) (7,543,946) (7,435,942)

Current year provision (513,788) (168,023) (124,504)
Write-offs - 398,032 -
Collection of doubtful trade receivables 352,978 491,200 16,500

Ending Balance, 31 December (6,983,547) (6,822,737) (7,543,946)

Long-term trade receivables

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Notes receivables 1,715,110 2,594,696 14,185,643

Less: Unearned credit
finance income (401,009) - -

1,314,101 2,594,696 14,185,643

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Short-term trade payables
Payables to suppliers (*) 15,101,941 14,090,182 27,321,258
Payables to related parties (Note 31) 1,287,380 1,169,740 8,390,487

16,389,321 15,259,922 35,711,745

(*) As of 31 December 2013 and 2012, amounting of TL11,768,421 and TL12,542,167 payable to suppliers are related 
with Akbatı Project and TL 696,105 and TL 713,298 are related with Beyaz Kule Project.  
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NOTE 11-OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Short-term other receivables

Other receivables from customers 1,489,456 1,257,270 1,337,627
Other receivables from related parties (Note 31) - 16,836,065 8,820,721
Deposits and guaranties given 200,493 195,819 -
Other 397,803 179,933 -

2,087,752 18,469,087 10,158,348

Short-term other payables
Taxes and fund payables 346,623 409,041 593,281
Social security premium payable 104,991 93,053 85,760
Trade payables to related parties (Note 31) 260,938 124,588,118
Others 74,766 15,814 24,399

526,380 778,846 125,291,558

NOTE 12 – OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Short-term debt factoring - 5,704,320 19,739,005
Long-term debt factoring - - 6,044,480

Total other financial liabilities - 5,704,320 25,783,485

As of 31 December 2012 and 2011 amount of factoring debts that is transferred through the merger of

Ak-Al is USD3,200,000 and USD13,650,000 respectively in original currency.
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NOTE 13 – PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFFERED INCOME

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Short term prepaid expenses
Advances given to suppliers (*) 4,693,975 607,232 3,251,293
Prepaid expeses for shopping mall decoration (**) 3,668,112 3,213,969 3,304,981
Other 248,797 31,529 30,320

8,610,884 3,852,730 6,586,594

Long term prepaid expenses

Prepaid expeses for shopping mall decoration (**) 4,000,712 6,015,217 8,699,316
Other - 499,452

4,000,712 6,514,669 8,699,316

(*) Advances given as of 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 represent advances given for Group’s ongoing 
projects and projects that are planned to start in long term under urban renewal projects.
(**) Decoration expenses that are incurred for Mall tenants represents the amount to be expensed by deducted from rental 
income

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Short term deferred income

Advances received-Beyaz Kule Projects 15,994,244 - -
Advances received-Akbatı Projects (*) 1,078,052 4,622,276 99,119,352
Advances received-Akkoza Projects (**) 946,764 37,211,236
Other Advances 59,295 241,530 812,447

17,131,591 5,810,570 137,143,035

Long term deferred income

Advances received-Beyaz Kule - 17,542,192 14,845,034

-  17,542,192 14,845,034

(*) Short term advance-Akbatı Project is not include advances received from related parties as of 31 December 2013 (31 
December 2012:TL388,242).
(**) Short term advance received represent advances pursuant to the apartments that sales were made under Akkoza 
Projects.
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NOTE 14-INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2013 2012
Opening balance, 1 January 710,016,664 739,371,763
Additions

-Direct acquisitions 40,817,099 6,235,523
Change in fair value (Not 27) 71,692,983 (24,883,211)
Disposals (-) (16,044,642) (10,707,411)

Net Book Value 806,482,104 710,016,664

The movement of the investment properties for the years ending 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

1 January
2013 Additions Disposal

Change in
fair value
(Note 27)

31 December
2013

Akbatı shopping mall 556,149,022 45,747 - 47,776,197 603,970,966
Lands in Çerkezköy 76,195,000 - (335,000) 5,840,000 81,700,000
Lands in Yalova 46,400,000 271,352 - 6,768,648 53,440,000
Lands Üsküdar Kısıklı - 40,500,000 - 10,811,138 51,311,138
Lands in Bozüyük 9,370,000 - (222,000) 477,000 9,625,000
Lands in Bulgaria 6,145,000 - - - 6,145,000
Lands in Esenyurt 15,487,642 - (15,487,642) - -
Other investment properties 270,000 - - 20,000 290,000

710,016,664 40,817,099 (16,044,642) 71,692,983 806,482,104

1 January
2012 Additions Disposal

Change in
fair value
(Note 27)

31 December
2012

Akbatı shopping mall 575,141,499 6,235,523 - (25,228,000) 556,149,022
Lands in Çerkezkoy 76,195,000 - - - 76,195,000
Lands in Yalova 46,400,000 - - - 46,400,000
Lands in Esenyurt 15,142,853 - - 344,789 15,487,642
Lands in Bozuyuk 9,370,000 - - - 9,370,000
Lands in Bulgaria 6,145,000 - - - 6,145,000
Lands in Alaplı 10,707,411 - (10,707,411) - -
Other investments properties 270,000 - - - 270,000

739,371,763 6,235,523 (10,707,411) (24,883,211) 710,016,664

As ending period of 31 December 2013, there is insurance coverage on investment properties amounting TL403,744,504 
(31 December 2013: TL323,332,438).

As ending period 31 December 2013 and 2012, there is a morgage on Akbatı shopping mall USD165,000,000 (Note 20).
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NOTE 15-INVENTORIES 

31 December 2013  31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Uncompleted residences
Bagdat Street Projects 244,632,159 - -

-Erenköy Apartment Building 93,824,575 - -
-Uşaklıgil Apartment Building 75,938,571 - -
-Çiftehavuzlar Land 39,723,509 - -
-Ak Apartment Building 19,088,077 - -
-Edip Ürer Apartment Building 16,057,427 - -

Completed residences
Beyaz Kule Project 14,145,609 7,645,198 3,234,175
Akbatı Project 10,537,729 17,323,005 97,275,307
Akkoza Project 2,710,985 3,561,358 -

272,026,482 28,529,561 100,509,482

Delivery of Beyaz Kule Project residences will begin at the end of 2014. Within this context, TL7,645,198 and 
TL3,234,175 of inventories are classified as long term inventories as of 31 December 2012 and 2011, respectively.

For the purpose of project development within the context of urban transformation, Bağdat Street Projects which are 
Erenköy, Uşaklıgil, Edip Ürer, Ak Apartment Buildings and Çiftehavuzlar land, are included in the portfolio of Akiş and 
classified as long term term inventories.

Within the context of urban transformation, the Company utilised loans for the the financing of the real estate purchases. 
In that context, pledge at first degree has been granted in favour of Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş., amounting to a total of 
TL 175.000.000 on the independent departments numbered 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19 and 20 
located in the main real estate (Usaklıgil Apartment Building) recorded in İstanbul province, Kadıköy district, Bostancı 
Neighbourhood, Bağdat Street, No:481, Map sheet 67, Block 3206, Parcel 14 ; land estate (Ciftehavuzlar Land) recorded 
in İstanbul province, Kadıköy district, Erenköy Neighbourhood, Çiftehavuzlar, Map sheet 106, Block 1435, Parcel 39 and 
the independent departments numbered 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 14 and 16 located in the main real estate ( Erenkoy 
Apartment Building) recorded in İstanbul province, Kadıköy district, Bağdat Street, 106 Map Sheet, Block 378, Parsel 25 
(Note 20).

As of 31 December 2013 there is no borrowing costs capitalized on inventories is (31 December 2012 and 2011: None).

NOTE 16-INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY EQUITY METHOD 

As of 31 December 2013, inverstments accounted by equity method in Group’s assets are stated below:

Restated  Restated
31 December 2012 31 December 2011

% TL % TL
Adi Ortaklık 25.00 - 25.00 -
Akfil Holding 45.00 105,478,371 45.00 108,503,097

105,478,371 108,503,097
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31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Begining of the period 105,478,371 108,503,097

Income and expenses (net) from joint ventures (8,532,309) 215,273
Dividends obtained from joint ventures (18,362,853) (3,239,999)
Sales of joint ventures (Note 27) (78,583,209) -

End of the period - 105,478,371

Income and expense coming from investment accounted by equity method

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Adi Ortaklık (*) 3,383,776 (4,703,084)
Akfil Holding (*) (8,532,309) 215,273

Total (5,148,533) (4,487,811)

(*) The shares of Akiş in Adi Ortaklık and Akfil Holding were transfered to Garanti Koza Inşaat on 
11 March 2013. Income and expenses coming from disposal of investments accounted by equity method represents the 
income and expenses from 1 January 2013 until the date of the transfer.

In line with Article 390/4 Turkish Commercial Code, it was decided to do the following in accordance with the Company’s 
strategic plans and with the aim of enhancing manoeuvre capability and making use of the new investment opportunities 
in line with the new structure of assets in the balance sheet and the new positioning in the sector;

- 25% of the shares of Akiş in Adi Ortaklık should be sold to Akfil Holding in return for USD10,000,000.

- 45% of the shares of Akiş in Akfil Holding should be sold to Garanti Koza İnşaat Sanayi and Ticaret A.Ş. in return for 
USD52,425,000,

- As of 31 December 2013, the portion of Akiş’s shares of a land with an area of 9.629 m2, a part of the land with a 
total area of 48.297 m2, included in its investment properties, with a fair value of TRY15.487.102 located in Istanbul 
province, Esenyurt district, Block 382, Parcel 11 should be sold to Garanti Koza İnşaat Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. in return 
for USD8,000,000 in the form of time bill with a term of 40 months and the transfer of property should be performed 
after payment of the total consideration,

- Considering the expertise report No. 2012_300_025 with the valuation date of 22 October 2012 which was prepared 
by the Vector of the real Estate Appraisal company as of 31 December 2012, the land located in Istanbul province, 
Uskudar district, Kısıklı Neighbourhood, Block 2273, Parcel 2; Block 2774, Parcel 2 and Block 804, Parcel 57 
included in Akfil Holding’s investment properties with a fair value of TL65,203,507 which was subject to a new land 
subdivision and rezoning application within the scope of Çamlıca Special Project Area Revision Application Rezoning 
Plan within 2013 and considering the expertise report No. 2013_300_02 dated 06 March 2013 prepared by Vektör 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş., the land located in Üsküdar District, Kısıklı Neighbourhood owned by Akfil Holding with 
a fair value of TL45,120,377 should be acquired in return for USD22,500,000.

In order to carry out the above mentioned transactions, a transfer agreement was signed by Garanti Koza İnşaat Sanayi 
ve Ticaret A.Ş., Akfil Holding and Akiş on 11 March 2013. In this context, the shares of Akiş in Akfil Holding and Adi 
Ortaklık were transferred to Garanti Koza Insaat Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş on 11 March 2013 and as a result of the transfer of 
joint ventures, gain of sales amounting to TL1,821,640 was recognised (Note 27).
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NOTE 17 – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

1 January
2013 Additions  Disposals Impairment

31 December
2013

Cost
Land improvements 760,672 - - - 760,672
Furniture and fixture 5,302,332 321,936 (25,000) - 5,599,268
Machinery, plant and equipment 29,395,666 - (27,939,022) - 1,456,644
Vehicles 341,680 - (341,680) - -
Leasehold improvements 300,416 - - - 300,416

36,100,766 321,936 (28,305,702) - 8,117,000

Accumulated Depreciation 
Land improvements 714,886 12,400 - - 727,286
Furniture and fixture 1,534,524 729,474 (9,375) - 2,254,623
Machinery, plant and equipment 26,738,655 1,319,081 (26,895,098) - 1,162,638
Vehicles 341,680 - (341,680) - -
Leasehold improvements 257,490 42,926 - - 300,416

29,587,235 2,103,881 (27,246,153) - 4,444,963

Net Book Value 6,513,531 3,672,037
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1 January 2012 Additions Disposals
Impairment 

(Note 27)
31 December 

2012
Cost
Land improvements 1,942,740 - (1,182,068) - 760,672
Buildings 734,382 - (734,382) - -
Furniture and fixture 5,996,323 560,889 (1,254,880) - 5,302,332
Machinery, plant and equipment 118,197,351 - (88,801,685) - 29,395,666
Vehicles 362,944 - (21,264) - 341,680
Leasehold improvements 299,516 900 - - 300,416

127,533,256 561,789 (91,994,279) - 36,100,766

Accumulated depreciation
Land improvements 1,878,552 14,932 (1,178,598) - 714,886
Buildings 581,386 152,996 (734,382) - -
Furniture and fixture 1,635,925 795,526 (896,927) - 1,534,524
Machinery, plant and equipment 111,055,422 1,603,034 (87,253,127) 1,333,326 26,738,655
Vehicles 360,916 225 (19,461) - 341,680
Leasehold improvements 190,448 67,042 - - 257,490

115,702,649 2,633,755 (90,082,495) 1,333,326 29,587,235

Net Book Value 11,830,607 6,513,531

Allocation of depreciation expenses for the years ending 31 December 2013 and 2012 is as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
General and administrative expenses 2,044,398 2,193,273
Cost of goods sold 50,411 258,378
Marketing expenses 9,072 182,104

2,103,881 2,633,755

The Group leased machinery and equipment within property, plant and equipment through non cancellable financial 
leasing. Moreover, as of the date of 31 December 2013 ve 2012 machinery and equipment classified in investment 
property of TL19,207,085 is acquired through financial leasing in order to be used in Akbatı Mall. As the investment 
properties are measured at fair value, the mentioned machinery and equipment acquired through financial leasing are not 
depreciated. The ownership of the assets is belonged to the Group and the leasing terms are 1 to 7 years.

No borrowing cost capitalized on the property, plant and equipment for the years ending 31 December 2013 and 2012.
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NOTE 18-INTANGIBLE ASSETS

1 January 2013 Additions Disposals 31 December 2013
Cost
Rights 224,489 20,661 - 245,150
Other 1,788,511 - (62,216) 1,726,295

2,013,000 20,661 (62,216) 1,971,445

Accumulated Amortization
Rights 215,981 5,991 - 221,972
Other 1,659,890 56,495 (47,842) 1,668,543

1,875,871 62,486 (47,842) 1,890,515

Net Book Value 137,129 80,930

1 January 2012 Additions 31 December 2012
Cost:
Rights 212,381 12,108 224,489
Other 1,764,862 23,649 1,788,511

1,977,243 35,757 2,013,000

Accumulated Amortization:
Rights 202,047 13,934 215,981
Other 1,605,789 54,101 1,659,890

1,807,836 68,035 1,875,871

Net Book Value 169,407 137,129

As of the year ending all of the 31 December 2013 and 2012, all amortization expenses are distributed to general and 
administrative expenses.
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NOTE 19-OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Other current assets

VAT receivables 7,448,433 8,183,527 8,463,800
Other 5,838 269,074 1,729,000

7,454,271 8,452,601 10,192,800
Other non-current assets

VAT receivables 41,071,816 40,228,516 41,021,469
Other - 3,936 4,165

41,071,816 40,232,452 41,025,634

NOTE 20-COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Short term provisions

Provisions for employee benefit 272,277 235,408 102,742
Provisions for litigation 91,037 268,862 340,862
Provisions for cost - 160,660 -
Provisions for structured tax debt - 517,384 192,433
Other short term provisions 268,245 134,924 1,238

631,559 1,317,238 637,275

Contingent assets and liabilities are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Guarantees given

Mortgages (*) 527,159,499 294,128,999 311,668,500
Letters of guarantees 3,497,892 3,348,691 1,886,903
Warrantee - 5,496,771 4,796,771

530,657,391 302,974,461 318,352,174

(*) Mortgages on the Group’s investment properties are given for the liabilities of the Group to the financial institutions.
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31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Guarantees received 

Letter of guarantees 18,990,442 16,376,229 36,843,393
Collateral bill 22,022,846 21,667,014 52,876,923
Cheques of guarantee 14,508,107 14,000,000 -
Mortgages 4,375,000 10,500,000 28,210,000

59,896,395 62,543,243 117,930,316

In considariton of the current contract periods, the total of the expected minimum operational lease revenue of Group is 
as follows as the date of 31 December 2013 and 2012:
  

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Operational lease revenues between 0-1 year 68,565,174 54,526,243
Operational lease revenues between 1-5 years 291,085,706 234,960,984
Operational lease revenues 5 years and above 422,001,062 335,595,036

781,651,942 625,082,263

In the calculation of minimum operational lease revenues that are stated above, TL value in date of balance sheet of 
Akbatı Shopping Mall’s rent based on US Dollars, Bozuyuk buildings and lands that are transferred to Akiş’s investment 
properties in consequence of the trasferration of all assets and liabilities of Ak-Al to Akiş, Yalova buildings and lands, 
Cerkezkoy buildings and lands and lease revenue of other investment properties is taken into consideration.
 
The 90% of the rent revenue of Akbatı Shopping Mall is assigned to Akbank during the terms of the loon utilised to finance 
the Mall.

Group’s uncancellable minimum operational lease payments in the future are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Operational lease expense between 0-1 year 907,003 751,901
Operational lease expense between 1-5 years 3,908,433 3,240,082
Operational lease expense 5 years and above 5,582,393 4,627,794

10,397,829 8,619,777
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As of 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011 Group’s collaterals/pledges/mortgages position as follows:
 

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
CPM’s given by the company (Collaterals, 
Pledges, Mortgages)

A. CPM’ s given for its own legal personality 530,657,391 302,974,461 318,352,174
B, CPM’s given on behalf of fully consolidated 
companies None None None
C, CPM’s given for continuation of its economic 
activities on behalf of third parties None None None
D, Total amount of other CPM’s

i) Total amount of CPM’s given on behalf of the 
majority shareholder None None None
ii)Total amount of CPM’s given on on behalf of 
other Group companies which are not in scope 
of B and C None None None
iii) Total amount of CPM’s given on behalf of third 
parties which are not in scope of C  None None None

530,657,391 302,974,461 318,352,174

The proportion of other CPM and Group’s equity is 0% as of 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011.

The original amount of CPM as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012  31 December 2011
 Foreign 
curreny

TL
 equivalent

 Foreign 
curreny

TL 
equivalent

 Foreign 
curreny

TL 
equivalent

Guarantees given
USD 165,662,500 353,573,473 165,000,000 294,129,000 165,000,000 311,668,500
TL 176,349,793 176,349,793 8,257,536 8,257,536 6,072,724 6,072,724
EUR 250,000  734,125 250,000 587,925 250,000 610,950

530,657,391 302,974,461 318,352,174



124 Akiş REIT ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Convenience Translation Into English of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Turkish

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as of 31 December 2013
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira [“TL”] unless otherwise stated.) 

31 December 2013 31 December 2012  31 December 2011
 Foreign 
curreny

TL 
equivalent

 Foreign 
curreny

TL 
equivalent

 Foreign 
curreny

TL 
equivalent

Guarantees given
TL 32,431,534 32,431,534 38,300,669 38,300,669 61,657,882 61,657,882
USD 12,833,583 27,390,717 13,390,696 23,870,255 29,351,424 55,441,904
EUR 25,249 74,144 158,319 372,319 339,852 830,530

59,896,395 62,543,243 117,930,316

NOTE 21-PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

a) Short-term benefits provided to personnel

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Provisions for short-term benefits provided to 
personnel
Unused vacation rights 272,277 235,408 102,742

Liabilities with in the short-term benefits 
provided to personnel
Performance premium provision 430,340 351,640 -
Personnel expenses payable 561 15,136 -

430,901 366,776 -

703,178 602,184 102,742

b) Long-term benefits provided to personnel

Provisions for employee termination benefits

Under Turkish Labor Law, the Company is required to pay employment termination benefits to each entitled employee. 
Also, employees are entitled to be paid their retirement pay provisions who retired by gaining right to receive retirement 
pay provisions according to of the prevailing 506 numbered Social Insurance Law’s Article 60, as amended by 6 March 
1981 dated, 2422 numbered and 25 August 1999 dated, 4447 numbered laws. Some transition provisions related to the 
pre-retirement service term was excluded from the law since the related law was changed as of 23 May 2002. 

The amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of TL3,438.22 for each period of service as of 
31 December 2013 (TL 3,129.25 and TL 2,917.27 for 31 December 2012 and 2011 respectively). Maximum severance 
pay is revised every six month. In the calculation of provision for employee termination benefits, ceiling price amounting to 
TL 3,438.22 which is valid since 1 January 2014 is taken into consideration (31 December 2012 and 2011: respectively 
TL3,129.25 and TL 2,917.27 that is valid since 1 January 2013 and 2012). The liability is not funded, as there is no 
funding requirement. The provision has been calculated by estimating the present value of the future probable obligation 
of the Group arising from the retirement of employees. TAS 19 requires actuarial valuation methods to be developed to 
estimate the entity’s obligation under defined benefit plans. Actuarial assumptions used in the calculation of the total 
liability are stated below. Since the effect of the change that is valid in annual report terms starting in date of 1 July 2012 
or after is immaterial, retroactive implemantation was not applied by Group.
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Assumptions have been used for the actuarial calculation are as follow:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
% %

Discount Rate 3.81 2.50
The rate used for probability of retirement 100.00 99.38

Movements in the provision for employment termination benefits are as follows:

2013  2012
Opening balance, 1 January 522,685 435,724

İncrease during year 108,110 255,139
Interest expense 14,036 4,002
Actuarial (loss)/gain (31,131) 5,889
Payment during year (325,271) (178,069)

Ending balance, 31 December 288,429 522,685 
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NOTE 22-EQUITY, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY  

a) Equity

As a consequence of merger of Akiş with Ak-Al in 4 January 2013 (Note 1 and 4), it is decided to increase the company’s 
capital from TL83,000,004 to TL128,200,841 and to distrubite this increased capital to the shareholders of Ak-Al, who are 
dissolved due to the transferred.in return of their shares with a nominal value of TL1 as 45,200,837 shares of Akiş. The 
shareholders and capital structure of the company are as follow:

 Akiş Ak-Al (Note 4)

31 December 2013
31 December 

2012 and 2011
31 December 

2012 and 2011
Unit Amount % Unit Amount % Unit Amount %

Akkök San. Yat.ve Gel. A.Ş. 31.41 40,264,935 20.00 16,600,000 52.36 23,664,935
Ali Raif Dinçkök (*) 19.46 24,948,797 29.00 24,236,000 - -
Nilüfer Dinçkök Çiftçi (**) 13.60 17,440,390 20.17 16,742,900 - -
Raif Ali Dinçkök 6.22 7,968,001 9.60 7,968,001 - -
Other, including public 
shares 29.31 37,578,718 21.03 17,453,103 47.64 21,535,902

100.00 128,200,841 100.00 83,000,004 100.00 45,200,837

(*) As of the years ending in 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011, A group has 7,470,000 shares amounting to 
TL7,470,000.
(**) As of the years ending in 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011, A group has 4,980,000 shares amounting to 
TL4,980,000.

The share groups represents the issued capital consist of A group: 12,450,000 unit – TL12,450,000, B group: 
115,750,841 unit – TL115,750,841. A group is nominative and B group is bearer share. Transfer of nominative shares can 
not be restrainted. The group A have nomination privilege in case of election member of the board of directors. 5 member 
of the board of directors are chosen from A group shareholders with plurality of the vote.

The upper limit of registered capital of the company is TL200,000,000 as of the years ending in 31 December 2013 and 
2012. As the date of 31 December 2013, issued capital of the company is TL128,200,841 consisting of 128,200,841 
shares and each one is worth nomially TL1.

The capital structures of both Akiş and Ak-Al in 31 December 2011 are same as the capital structures in 31 December 
2012. 
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b) Accumulated Other Income or Expenses Reclassified in Profit or Loss 

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Foreign currency conversion adjustments (16,071) (29,102) (29,102)
Financial asset increse/decrease fund 52,733,399 45,202,510 62,172,769

52,717,328 45,173,408 62,143,667

Financial Asset Valuation Fund:

Financial Asset Valuation Fund is generated from the valuation of available for sale instruments with their fair values. When 
a financial asset valued at its fair value is disposed, the related portion in the valuation fund is directly recognized in that 
period’s profit and loss. When a financial instrument is revalued and a decrease in value is observed, the related portion in 
the valuation fund is directly recognized in that period’s profit and loss.

The movements of financial asset valuation fund in the term is represented in comprehensiveincpme statement and 
statement of cahenges in equity. 

c) Restricted Reserves Appropriated from Profit 

Accumulated profits in legal books can be distributed except for the provisions relating to the legal reserve that is stated in 
below.

Legal reserves comprise of first and second legal reserves, appropriated in accordance with the Turkish Commercial 
Code. The first legal reserve is appropriated out of historical statutory profits at the rate of 5% per annum, until the total 
reserve reaches 20% of the historical paid-in share capital. The second legal reserve is appropriated after the first legal 
reserve and dividends, at the rate of 10% per annum of all cash dividend distributions. Group companies are not subject 
to this implementation.  

Public companies pay dividend in the context of the standarts and rescrits published by CMB.    
“Legal reserves” allocated in accordance with the CMB’s requirements, “Share premium” that is in statue of legal reserve 
and legal reserves allocated for certain purposes apart from profit sharing (gains of sharing sales for tax advantage) is 
demonstrated the amounts in records. Differences arising from inflation adjustment coming out in the assetments based 
on IFRS principials and that is not subject to profit distribution or capital increase are related to accumulated profit/loss.

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Legal reserves 20,888,561 16,206,937 16,206,937

d) Other Reserves

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Other reserves 54,696,807 54,696,807 54,696,807

With the changes in CPM’s reporting format, items in shareholders’ equity by name “Other reserves” and “Merger reserve” 
are classified in “Other reserves”.

e) Retained earnings 

As the date of report, extraordinary reserve fund of parent company, which is in retained earning amounting to 
TL305,113,357 (31 December 2012 and 2011: TL 270,776,378 and TL157,497,845 respectively), is TL19,018,757 (31 
December 2012 and 2011: TL 17,925,730). 
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Profit distrubition 

Publicly listed companies distribute dividends in accordance with the requirements of CMB as explained below: In 
accordance with the Capital Markets Board’s (the “Board”) Decree issued on 23 January 2013, in relation to the profit 
distribution of earnings derived from the operations, minimum profit distribution is not required for listed companies, and 
accordingly, profit distribution should be made based on the requirements set out in the Board’s Communiqué Serial:II, 
No: 19.1 “Principles of Dividend Advance Distribution of Companies That Are Subject To The CMB Regulations”, terms of 
articles of corporations and profit distribution policies publicly disclosed by the companies.

“Profit Share Guide” based on CPM’s 13th item of Profit Share Declaration was published in the official gazette on 23 
January 2013 and became effective on 1 February 2014. Regulations and explanations in Profit Share Declaration and 
Profit Share Guide is summed up below.

Profit sharing is allocated with general assembly resolution according to the dividend policy determined by board of 
directors. When dividend policy is determinded, it is decided to whether pay dividend or not. In this context, profit sharing 
is discreationary. CMB is determined different essentials related to dividend policy according to the qualifications of 
companies.

In the dividend policy of shareholders, the topics in below are regulated;
- If dividends are paid or not 
- Dividend ratio and the accounts to which ratioes applied 
- Payment methods and time
- If dividends paid in cash or as bonus share distribution ( for publicly-traded companies)
- If advance dividens are distributed or not 

The upper limit of dividends to be distributed is equal to the raleted resources’ distributable profit amount in legal records. 
Profit share is divided equally to current shares as the date of distribution. Dates of acquisition and issuance of the shares 
are not taken into account. According to Turkish Commercial Code, it can not be decided to allocate another reserve fund 
and transfer the profit to the next year if the reserve fund required to allocate and profit share that is foreeseen in master 
contract and dividend policy are not distributed.

On condition that taking place in the articles of assofication, profit share can be given to privileged shareholders or 
redeemed shareholders, member of board of directors, employees and other persons who are not shareholders. 
However, it can not be paid dividend to privileged shareholders, redeemed shareholders, member of board of directors, 
employees and other persons unless profit share is paid in cash to shareholders. If there are no principles about the 
amount of profit share paid to other persons apart from the shareholders in policy, the amount to be distributed to others 
should be maximum ¼ of profit share distributed to shareholders (excluding privileged shares).

New Capital Market Law and new notification give shareholders oppurtunity to make donation. However, there shoul 
be an adjudication in the main contract about the donatation. Although general assembly determines the amount of 
donatations, CMB can determine an upper limit for donatations.

Publicly-traded companies release these issuesto public: 

- Suggestion of board of directors related to profit 
- Or the decision of bord of directors about advance of pay dividend
- Pay dividend table and advance of pay dividend table

Profit distribution table must be disclosed to the public at least in the date that ordinary general assembly aganda is 
published. 

Distributable profit for 2013 is not available after deducting the accumulated losses from the Company’s profit in 2013. 



129FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Convenience Translation Into English of Consolidated Financial Statements Originally Issued in Turkish

Akiş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as of 31 December 2013
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira [“TL”] unless otherwise stated.) 

NOTE 23-SALES AND COST OF SALES

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Revenue

Rent income 61,398,691 56,712,539
Residence sales income 9,718,192 130,507,079

71,116,883 187,219,618

Sales returns (-) (159,046) (5,143,954)

70,957,837 182,075,664
Cost of Revenue 

Cost of shopping mall (20,046,717) (16,480,829)
Cost of residence sales (9,188,913) (126,009,211)

(29,235,630) (142,490,040)

Gross profit from commercial activities 41,722,207 39,585,624

Residence sales income consists of the revenue coming from delivered residences and commercial units within the 
Akkoza and Akbatı Project as of the years ending 31 December 2013 and 2012.

NOTE 24 – GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND MARKETING EXPENSES 

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
General and administrative expenses
Personnel expenses 4,894,548 4,890,190
Taxes, duties and fees 4,303,476 2,038,638
Consultancy expenses 3,047,661 2,018,982
Depreciation expenses 2,106,884 2,261,308
Office expenses 1,211,939 634,778
Exchange quotations expenses 584,265 -
Transportation and travel expenses 417,439 279,017
Other 1,589,115 2,387,891

18,155,327 14,510,804

Marketing expenses
Personnel expenses 512,879 519,589
Advertisement expenses 485,097 4,866,899
Consultancy expenses 194,949 189,919
Taxes, duties and fees 18,090 95,202
Depreciation expenses 9,072 182,104
Other 149,578 228,380

1,369,665 6,082,093
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NOTE 25-EXPENSE BY NATURE

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Shopping mall expenses 20,046,717 16,480,829
Cost of residence sale 9,188,913 126,009,211
Personnel expenses 5,407,427 5,409,779
Taxes, duties and fees 4,321,566 2,133,840
Consultancy expenses 3,242,610 2,208,901
Depreciation expenses 2,115,956 2,443,412
Office expenses 1,211,939 634,778
Exchange quotations expenses 584,265 -
Advertisement expenses 485,097 4,866,899
Other 2,156,132 2,895,288

48,760,622 163,082,937

The allocation of personnel expenses as of 31 December 2013 and 2012 is as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
General and administrative expenses 4,894,548 4,890,190
Marketing sales and distribution expense 512,879 519,589
Expensed on cost of goods sold 2,715,605 2,321,373

8,123,032 7,731,152

The allocation of depreciation expenses and redemption expenses as of 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
General and administrative expenses 2,106,884 2,261,308
Marketing sales and distribution expense 9,072 182,104
Expensed on residances sold 50,411 258,378

2,166,367 2,701,790
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NOTE 26-OTHER OPERATING INCOME/(EXPENSE)

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Other real operating income 

Foreign exchange gains related to trade receivable and payable 2,386,676 2,242,673
Terminated provisions 352,978 491,200
Interest income related to trade receivable and payable - 109,939
Other 2,657,519 2,091,109

5,397,173 4,934,921

Other real operating loss

Foreign exchange losses related to trade receivable and payable (3,399,302) (2,821,308)
Provision expenses (513,788) (168,023)
Provision for litigation expenses (91,037) -
Unrealized interest expense related to trade receivable and payable (361,161) (88,810)
Other (177,435) (1,004,493)

(4,542,723) (4,082,634)

NOTE 27-INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Investment income 

Increase in fair value of investment property (Note 4 and 14) 71,692,983 344,789
Profit on sale of joint venture (*) 15,781,791 -
Gain on sale of asset 1,399,565 -
Gain on sale of investment property (**) 28,000 10,385,645
Dividend income (***) - 11,849,889

88,902,339 22,580,323

Investment expenses 
Loss on sale of joint venture (*) (13,960,151) -
Loss on sale of investment property (Note 4) (163,686) -
Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets (19,635)
Impairment of fixed assets (Note 17) - (1,333,326)
Decrease in fair value of investment property (Note 4 and 14) - (25,228,000)

(14,143,472) (26,561,326)

(*) Profit and loss on sale of joint venture are as follow:
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Ordinary partnership Akfil Holding Total
Joint venture sales amount 18,000,000 94,365,000 112,365,000
Net investment amount of joint ventures on 11 
March 2013 (31,960,151) (78,583,209) (110,543,360)

Profit/(loss) on sale of joint venture (13,960,151) 15,781,791 1,821,640

(**) It reflects the revenue related to the selling of tangible assets and investment proporties of Ak-Al as of 
31 December 2012.
(***) As of 31 December 2012, TL11,804,166 of dividend income reflects the share of Group from SAF, which is a financial 
investment of the Company

NOTE 28-FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Financial income
Foreign exchange gains 18,610,035 36,400,938
Interest income 3,213,480 6,755,639

21,823,515 43,156,577

Financial expenses
Foreign exchange losses (69,261,837) (21,106,671)
Interest expenses (19,177,341) (22,545,935)

(88,439,178) (43,652,606)

Financial expenses, net (66,615,663) (496,029)

NOTE 29-EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share are determined by dividing net income attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average 
number of shares. As of 31 December 2013, the Company has 128,200,841 (31 December 2012: 128,200,841) number 
of shares each valued as TL 1. There is no preferred stock for shareholders and other share groups. Companies can 
increase their capital by distributing shares to their shareholders from retained earnings in line with their interest in share 
capital. In the course of determination of earnings/loss per share per share, these are considered as issued shares. Hence 
weighted average number of shares used in determination of earning/loss is calculated considering the issuance of bonus 
shares retrospective impact.
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There is no difference between main and partial earnings in periods.

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Net income from continuing operations 25,039,578 57,141,384
Average number of ordinary shares in the nominal value of TL1 128,200,841 128,200,841

Earnings per share from continuing operations 0.20 0.45

Net loss from discontinued operations - (122,781)
Average number of ordinary shares in the nominal value of TL1 - 128,200,841

Earnings per share from discontinued operations - (0,00)

Net profit of parent company 25,039,578 57,018,603
Average number of ordinary shares in the nominal value of TL1 128,200,841 128,200,841
The parent partnership,distributable profit to partners main and 
relative earnings per share income  0.20  0.45

NOTE 30-TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES)

a) Tax liabilities for the current year profit:

The application of Akiş in 2011, for being converted to a real estate company was approved in accordance with the 
decision of Capital Market Board dated 19 April 2012 and numbered 15/345 and the mentioned conversion and the 
changes in the articles of association registered on 18 May 2012 which was then published on the Trade Gazette on 
24 May 2012. Subsequently, the profit of the Company as a real estate investment exempt from corporate income tax 
in accordance with paragraph 4-d of Article 8 of the Corporate Income Tax Law and in accordance with paragraph 6-a 
of Article 94 of the Income Tax Law, the earnings of the real estate investment trusts are subject to withholding taxes. 
According to Corporation Tax Law, Article 15/(3), 15% withholding tax is applied to those profits which are exempt from 
corporation tax. The Council of Ministers shall be authorized to reduce the tax rate to zero for each income and payment 
which is specified in article 15, to raise up to corporation tax rate and within the same limit, to differentiate the gains which 
are defined in the third paragraph, according to funds or types of partnerships or according to nature and composition of 
assets in their portfolios. In this context, as of 31 December 2012, the Company’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities 
which are calculated based on temporary solo differences have been associated with the statement of comprehensive 
income for the year ended at 31 December 2012.

However, the Turkish tax legislation does not allow for a consolidated tax return of a parent company, its subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and subsidiaries as a whole. Hence, despite the fact that the parent company is exempted from the corporation 
tax as it is converted to a real estate investment, its subsidiary Akyön and its joint venture Akfil Holding are excluded 
from this exemption. As of 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011, provisions for taxes as reflected in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements are calculated on a separate-entity basis.
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31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Tax liabilities for the current year profit:

Current year tax expense 77,074 2,769,141 1,124,246
Current period tax related assets (-) (55,274) (2,430,069) (2,297,060)

Tax liabilities for the current year profit 21,800 339,072 (1,172,814)

Taxes included in the consolidated income statements of the periods ending on 31 December 2013 and 2012 are 
summarised below:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Current year tax expense (77,074) (2,769,141)
Deferred tax (cost)/income (929,684) 49,030,354

Total tax (cost)/income (1,006,758) 46,261,213

After the merger in 2013, deferred tax assets consisting previous period operations of Ak-Al have been transferred to 
income statement.

b) Deferred tax:

The Group recognises deferred tax asset and liabilities based upon the temporary timing differences among its statutory 
financial statements prepared in accordance with the tax legislation and the financial statements prepared in accordance 
with CMB. These differences arise from the differences in accounting periods for the recognition of income and expenses 
in accordance with CMB and Tax Legislation. However, no tax can be levied on the first acquisitions of the assets and 
liabilities that are not included within the scope of business combinations since the relevant transaction does not affect 
the accounting or the taxable profit on the date it is performed. Tax rate used in the calculation of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities is 20%.

The movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the periods are summarised below:

2013 2012
Deferred tax asset/ (liability) movements:

Beginning of period-1 January 929,684 (51,384,097)

Associated with income statement
-Continuing operations (net) (929,684) 49,030,354

Associated with equities
-Fair value differences available-for-sale financial assets - 3,265,398

Transfers - 18,029

Period end, 31 December - 929,684
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As the subsidiaries are separate taxpayers, net deferred tax asset or liability was separately calculated for each taxpayer; 
however these amounts were not offset against each other in consolidated balance sheets. 

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Deferred tax assets - 929,684
Deferred tax liabilities (-) - -

- 929,684

Total temporary 
Deferred tax 

differences assets/(liabilities)
2013 2012 2013 2012

Investment proporties - 4,426,013 - 815,233
Provisions for severance pay - 300,705 - 60,141
Provision for litigation - 268,862 - 53,772
Provision for unused vacation - 14,717 - 2,943
Othet - 90,143 - 18,029

Deferred tax assets - 950,118

Tangible and intangible fixed assets - (67,913) - (13,583)
Available for sale financial assets - (137,018) - (6,851)

Deferred tax liabilities - (20,434)

Deferred tax assets, net - 929,684

Confirmation of tax income in comprehensive income statement as of the year ending in 31 December 2012 is as follow:

31 December 2012
Profit before tax 10,880,171

Tax calculated at the rate of 20% 2,176,034
Income exempt from tax (541,213)
Non-deductible expenses 77,115
Other adjustments for which no deferred tax calculated (4,768,261)
Reversed deferred tax charges after transition to REIT 50,328,251
Consolidation adjustments for which deferred tax was calculated (1,304,879)
Other 294,166

Total tax income 46,261,213
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NOTE 31-BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

a) Balances with related parties at 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Short-term trade receivables from related parties:

A.R.D Holding A,Ş, 29,537 - -
N.D.Ç Holding A,Ş, 29,537 - -
Saf Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A,Ş, (“SAF GYO”) 26,878 22,996 -
Akkök Sanayi Yatırım ve Geliştirme A,Ş, (“Akkök 
Sanayi”) 20,871 13,280 -
Aksa Akrilik Sanayii A,Ş, (“Aksa”) 17,612 - -
Adi Ortaklık - 11,767,115 46,773,374
Akkon Yapı Taahhüt İnş, Müş, A,Ş, (“Akkon”) - 633,540 -
Dinkal Sigorta Acenteliği A,Ş, (“Dinkal”) 7,230 -
Akmerkez Lokantacılık Gıda San, Tic, A,Ş, 
(“Akmerkez Lokantacılık”) - 254 -
Akfil Holding - - 1,554,523

124,435 12,444,415 48,327,897

Short-term other receivables from related parties:

Adi Ortaklık -  16,836,065 8,560,153
Receivables from shareholders - - 260,568

-  16,836,065 8,820,721

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Short-term trade payables to related parties

Akenerji Elektrik Enerjisi İthalat-İhracat ve Toptan 
Tic, A,Ş, (“Akenerji”) 783,357 734,075 17,747
Dinkal 284,718 291,005 47
Akkon 105,795 - 8,219,716
Akhan Bakım Yön, Ser, A,Ş, (“Akhan”) 59,303 35,398 25,643
Akkök Sanayi 29,128 85,723 88,968
Aktek Bilgi İlet, Tekno, San, A,Ş, (“Aktek”) 25,079 18,731 30,746
Other - 4,808 7,620

1,287,380 1,169,740 8,390,487
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31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Short-term other payables to related parties

Adi Ortaklık - 260,938 -
Akkök Sanayi - - 66,052,285
SAF GYO - - 57,828,545
Due to shareholders - - 707,288

- 260,938 124,588,118

b) As of 31 December 2013 and 2012 services and product purchases from related parties are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Purchases of goods and services from related parties

Akenerji 8,364,405 2,691,790
Akkon 2,176,940 19,769,790
Akkök Sanayi 1,194,998 749,291
Dinkal 913,736 545,475
Akhan 670,838 486,789
Aktek 360,684 310,463
Adi Ortaklık - 42,376,200
Aksa Akrilik - 2,329
Akmerkez Lokantacılık - 698
Other - 41,905

13,681,601 66,974,730

c) As of 31 December 2013 and 2012 services and product sales to related parties are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Sales of goods and services to related parties
Ak-kim 581,591 297,439
SAF GYO 291,750 47,577
Aksa Akrilik 125,633 64,608
A,R,D Holding A,Ş, 90,159 357,935
N,D,Ç Holding A,Ş, 90,159 -
Akkök Sanayi 78,644 182,640
Akmerkez Lokantacılık 38,040 13,700
Akhan - 74,341
Akkon - 134,051
Other 21,379 -

1,317,355 1,172,291
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d) As of 31 December 2013 and 2012 dividend income, interest income and interest expenses with related parties are as 
follows:
 

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Dividend income from related parties 

SAF GYO (*) - 11,804,166

- 11,804,166

(*) Dividend income represents the share of the Group from the dividend payment of SAF as per the decision taken at the 
Ordinary General Assembly held on 21 May 2012.

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Interest income from related parties 

Adi Ortaklık - 1.588.651

- 1.588.651

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Interest expenses to related parties

Akkök Sanayi - 839,389
SAF GYO - 772,672

- 1,612,061

e) As of 31 December 2013 and 2012 tangible fixed asset sales to related parties and purchases from related parties are 
as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Akenerji - 5,568,108

- 5,568,108

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Sale of tangible fixed assets (Note 4)

Ak-kim 335,000 -
Akkök Sanayi 250,000 -

585,000 -
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f) As of 31 December 2013 and 2012, remuneration of top management is as follow:
  

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Salaries and premiums 2,853,861 2,328,214

The remuneration of top management consists of short-term salaries, premiums and other short-term benefits and free 
from long-term benefits.

NOTE 32 – DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

Due to the excessive competition and low profit marjin, production operations in Alaplı was terminated on September 
2011 in consideration of moving to another sector apart from textile sector in the medium term. In this context, it was 
decided in the extraordinary general meeting on 23 September 2011 to lease the yarn production plant in Alaplı consisting 
of real estate and current building with machinery and equipments for 3 year 2 months and sign a contract with Dinarsu 
İmalat ve Ticaret T.A.S. (“Dinarsu”) to make use the brand of Ak-Al. In the meeting of Board of Directors on 2 March 2012, 
it was decided to sell the yarn production plant leased to Dinarsu in 2011. The profit on sales of fixed asset amounting 
to TL10,385,055, which is occured as a result of this selling, was recorded in income from investment activities as of the 
term ending 31 December 2012.
 
a) Assets held for sale 

The detail of assets held for sale is as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Inventory - - 559,552
Deferred tax assets - - 19,235

- - 578,787

b) Losses resulting from discontinued operations 

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Sales revenue, net - 649,445
Cost of sales (-) - (771,020)

Gross (loss)/profit - (121,575)

Marketing expense (-) - -
General administration expenses (-) - -
Other real operating income/(loss), net - -

Operating loss - (121,575)

Financial income/(expense), net - -

Loss before tax - (121,575)

Tax expense (-) - (1,206)

Net period loss - (122,781)
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NOTE 33-FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 
POLICIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates and interest rates. The Group’s management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the inability of the Group to match the net funding requirements with sufficient liquidity. The Group 
management tries to avoid liquidity risk from daily operations by trying to keep sufficient levels of cash and to have open 
credit lines with creditors. Management also tries to align the repayment of borrowings utilised for the construction and 
acquisition of investment properties with the rental income from such properties to the extent that is possible. For the 
construction of residential units the Group obtains cash advances from customers by being engaged through pre-sales 
agreements to minimize the funding requirement in such projects. The explanations about Group’s current ratio balance 
are stated detaily in Note 4.

The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities as of 31 December 2013 is as follows:

Book
Value

Total
contractual

 cash
 outflows

Up to 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 year to
5 year 

5 year
and 

over
Financial liabilities 
(Non-derivative):
Bank credits 472,699,373 497,297,801 85,485,492 324,584,036 87,228,273 -
Financial leasing liabilities 20,227,175 23,046,038 1,583,088 4,749,265 16,713,685 -
Trade payables 16,389,321 16,389,321 16,389,321 - - -
Other payables 526,380 526,380 526,380 - - -

509,842,249 537,259,540 103,984,281 329,333,301 103,941,958 -

The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities as of 31 December 2012 is as follows:

Book
Value

Total
contractual

 cash
 outflows

Up to 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 year to
5 year 

5 year
and 

over
Financial liabilities 
(Non-derivative):
Bank credits 339,629,922 342,817,428 95,841,020 135,573,327 111,403,081 -
Financial leasing liabilities 20,817,644 24,490,584 1,275,521 3,966,659 19,185,163 63,241
Trade payables 15,259,922 15,259,922 15,259,922 - - -

375,707,488 382,567,934 112,376,463 139,539,986 130,588,244 63,241
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Interest rate risk 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing assets and liabilities. 
These exposures are managed by offsetting interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities.

In this context, matching of not only maturities of receivables and payables but also contractual re-pricing dates is crucial. 
In order to keep the exposure of financial liabilities to interest rate changes at a minimum, “fixed interest/floating interest”, 
“short-term/long-term”, “TL/foreign currency” balance is structured consistent within and with assets in the balance sheet. 

Financial instruments which have been classified as other financial liabilities in the Group’s balance sheet have been 
exposed to the interest risk as a result of change in prices. At 31 December 2013, if interest rates at contractual re-pricing 
dates of TL denominated financial assets and liabilities with variable interest rates have strengthened/weakened by 1% 
with all other variables held constant, income would have been TL 5,995 lower/higher as a result of interest expenses (31 
December 2012: None)

Average effective annual interest rates of balance sheet items as of 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as follows:
   

31 December 2013 (%) TL  EUR USD 

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 3 3
Trade receivables 11 - -

Short Term liabilities
Bank credits 11 5 4
Financial leasing liabilities - - 8

Long Term liabilities
Bank credits - - 4
Financial leasing liabilities - - 8

31 December 2012 (%) TL EUR USD 

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 2 2
Trade receivables <1 - -

Short Term liabilities
Bank credits 10 7 5
Financial leasing liabilities - - 8

Long Term liabilities
Bank credits - - 4
Financial leasing liabilities - - 7 
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The Company’s financial instruments that are sensitive to interest rates are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Financial instruments with fixed interest rate
Time deposits 38,583,902 76,429,959
Bank credits 346,718,692 199,359,716
Financial leasing liabilities 20,227,175 20,817,644

Financial instruments with floating interest rate 
Bank credits 125,980,681 140,270,206

Group’s financial assets and liabilities in carrying amounts classified in terms of periods remaining to contractual re-pricing 
dates as of 31 December 2013, 2012 are as follows:

31 December 2013
Up to

3 months
3 months
to 1 year

more than
1 year

 Non-interest
bearing Total 

Cash and cash equivalents 38,583,902 - - 413,036 38,996,938
Trade receivables 1,238,166 1,631,717 1,314,101 1,209,106 5,393,090
Other receivables - - - 2,087,752 2,087,752

Total Assets 39,822,068 1,631,717 1,314,101 3,709,894 46,477,780

Bank credits 83,759,414 304,967,500 83,972,459 - 472,699,373
Financial leasing liabilities 1,607,102 4,533,397 14,086,676 - 20,227,175
Trade payables - - - 16,389,321 16,389,321
Other liabilities - - - 526,380 526,380

Total liabilities 85,366,516 309,500,897 98,059,135 16,915,701 509,842,249

Net re-pricing position (45,544,448) (307,869,180) (96,745,034) (13,205,807) (463,364,469)
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31 December 2012
Up to

3 months
3 months
to 1 year

more than
1 year

 Non-interest
bearing Total 

Cash and cash equivalents 76,429,959 - - 587,219 77,017,178
Trade receivables 16,353,399 17,291,313 2,594,696 20,184,000 56,423,408
Other receivables 16,836,065 - - 1,633,022 18,469,087

Total Assets 109,619,423 17,291,313 2,594,696 22,404,241 151,909,673

Bank credits 106,798,716 127,628,583 105,202,623 - 339,629,922
Financial leasing liabilities 1,345,277 2,424,901 17,047,466 - 20,817,644
Trade payables - - - 15,259,922 15,259,922
Other liabilities - - - 778,846 778,846

Total liabilities 108,143,993 130,053,484 122,250,089 16,038,768 376,486,334

Net re-pricing position 1,475,430 (112,762,171) (119,655,393) 6,365,473 (224,576,661)

Credit Risk Explanations

The Group is subject to credit risk arising from trade receivables related to credit sales and deposits at banks.

The Group keeps majority of its deposits with top 10 retail banks established in Turkey, with which the Group had 
standing relations.

The majority of trade receivable comprise of notes receivable obtained regarding signed contracts for residence projects. 
Group has the commitment of delivering the residences in return of these trade receivables. On the other hand, in case of 
a problem, in collection, the Group would not deliver the residences; hence the risk of collectability is minimal. 
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Credit risk of financial instruments as of 31 December 2013 is as follows:

Trade and other 
receivables  Deposit 

31 December 2013 Related Party Other Party in Banks 
Maximum exposed credit risk as of reporting date 
(A+B+C+D) 124,435 7,356,407 38,836,494
Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by 
guarantees, etc, - - -
A, Net book value of financial assets that are either not 
due or not impaired 124,435 6,961,790 38,836,494

-Secured portion by guarantees, etc. - - -
B, Net book value of the expired but not impaired 
financial assets - 394,617 -

-Secured portion by guarantees, etc.
C, Net book value of impaired assets - - -

-Overdue (Gross book value) - 6,983,547 -
-Impairment (-) - (6,983,547) -
-Secured portion of the net value by guarantees, etc. - - -

-Not overdue (Gross book value) - - -
-Impairment (-) - - -
-Secured portion of the net value by guarantees, etc. - - -

D. Financial assets with renegotiated conditions - - -

Credit risk of financial instruments as of 31 December 2012 is as follows:
Trade and other 

receivables Deposit 
31 December 2012 Related Party Other Party in banks
Maximum exposed credit risk as of reporting date 
(A+B+C+D) 29,280,480 45,612,015 76,774,562
Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by 
guarantees, etc, - - -
A, Net book value of financial assets that are either not 
due or not impaired 29,280,480 41,037,358 76,774,562

-Secured portion by guarantees, etc, - - -
B, Net book value of the expired but not impaired financial 
assets - 4,574,657 -

-Secured portion by guarantees, etc,
C, Net book value of impaired assets - - -

-Overdue (Gross book value) - 6,822,737 -
-Impairment (-) - (6,822,737) -
-Secured portion of the net value by guarantees, etc, - - -

-Not overdue (Gross book value) - - -
-Impairment (-) - - -
-Secured portion of the net value by guarantees, etc, - - -

D. Financial assets with renegotiated conditions - - -

While determining the above-mentioned amounts, the factors that increase the credibility such as guarantees received are 
not considered. In the financial assets of the Group which are subject to credit risk, no impairment risk has been identified. 
Furthermore, the Group does not have any off balance sheet items which are subject to credit risk include past due but 
not impaired assets.
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a) The aging table of the receivables that are past due but not impaired 

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Past due 0-1 month 73,466 903,442
Past due 1-3 month 152,924 713,731
Past due 3-12 month 159,727 1,665,035
Past due 1-5 year 8,500 1,292,449

394,617 4,574,657

There are advance payments as a commitment for these trade receivable, so the Group does not evaluate past due as an 
impairment. The possibility of collectability of receivable disappears when contracts mutually cancelled. In this instance, 
Group eliminates mutually, advances and trade receivables. 

Foreign exchange risk 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk through operations done using multiple currencies. The main principle 
in the management of this foreign currency risk is maintaining foreign exchange position in a way to be affected least by 
the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, in other words, maintaining foreign exchange position close to zero.

For this reason, the proportion of the positions of these currencies among each other or against new Turkish lira to 
shareholders’ equity is aimed to be controlled under certain limits.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk mainly for EUR and USD.

Foreign currency position

Foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet accounts give rise to foreign exchange exposure.

The Company’s assets and liabilities in foreign exchange are not balanced through any off balance sheet instruments as of 
31 December 2013 and 2012. The Group determines sales of residence price in U,S dollars, AVM Akbatı lease contracts 
have been carried out in U,S dollars (Note 20), originally USD59,026,698, TL125,980,681 as 31 December 2013 (30 
December 2012: USD78,688,548, TL140,270,206). The Group determines sales of residence price in U,S dollars, AVM 
Akbatı lease contracts have been carried out in U,S dollars other liability pay back U,S Dollars and so that, gradually 
balanced by net foreign currency position. Furthermore, it is expected to obtain rental income denominated in foreign 
currency and sell of residences in foreign currency with applying credits in foreign exchange for financing of purchasing in 
the context of Bagdat Street Projects. 

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities held by the Group are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Assets 17,783,205 67,233,811
Liabilities (366,955,430) (306,963,243)

Net on-balance sheet position (349,172,225) (239,729,432)
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The table below summaries foreign currency position risk of the Group as of 31 December 2013. The original currency 
amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and the total TL equivalent at 31 December 2013 are 
as follows:

EURO USD GBP TL Equivalent 
Current assets 663,741 7,418,874 8 17,783,205
Cash and cash equivalent 663,741 5,209,460 8 13,067,653
Trade payables - 209,414 446,952
Prepaid expenses - 2,000,000 - 4,268,600

Total assets 663,741 7,418,874 8 17,783,205

Short-term Liabilities 33,526,831 79,859,793 - 268,896,295
Trade receivables 3,481,225 274,177 - 10,807,793
Financial liabilities 30,045,606 79,585,616 - 258,088,502

Long-term Liabilities - 45,944,401 - 98,059,135
Financial liabilities - 45,944,401 - 98,059,135

Total liabilities 33,526,831 125,804,194 - 366,955,430

Net asset/(liability) position (32,863,090) (118,385,320) 8 (349,172,225)

The table below summaries foreign currency position risk of the Group as of 31 December 2012. The original currency 
amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and the total TL equivalent at 31 December 2012 are 
as follows:

Restated EURO USD GBP TL Equivalent 
Current assets 1,921,765 35,181,409 6 67,233,811
Cash and cash equivalent 1,916,786 35,056,526 6 66,999,485
Other assets 4,979 124,883 - 234,326

Total assets 1,921,765 35,181,409 6 67,233,811

Short-term Liabilities 34,318,016 58,345,942 - 184,713,154
Trade receivables 4,548,401 167,856 - 10,995,695
Other receivables 1,020 129,053 - 232,449
Financial liabilities 29,768,595 58,049,033 - 173,485,010

Short-term Liabilities - 68,579,652 - 122,250,089
Financial liabilities - 68,579,652 - 122,250,089

Total liabilities 34,318,016 126,925,594 - 306,963,243

Net asset/(liability) position (32,396,251) (91,744,185) - (239,729,432)

The table below shows the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase/decrease in US Dollar and EUR exchange rates. These 
amounts represent the effect on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of 10% increase/decrease in US 
Dollar and EUR against TL. During this analysis all other variables especially interest rate are assumed to remain constant.
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Foreign currency sensitivity analysis as of 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

Profit/Loss Equity
Appreciation Depreciation Appreciation Depreciation 

31 December 2013
+/-10% fluctuation in US Dollar rate (24,081,942) 24,081,942 - -
USD net asset/liability - - - -

Secured portion from US Dollar risk - - - -
USD Net Effect (24,081,942) 24,081,942 - -

+/-10% fluctuation in EUR rate (9,032,092) 9,032,092 - -
EUR net asset/liability - - - -
Secured portion from EUR risk - - - -

EUR Net Effect (9,032,092) 9,032,092 - -

-+/-10% fluctuation in GBP rate 3 (3) - -
GBP net asset/liability - - -
Secured portion from GBP risk - - -

GBP Net Effect 3 (3) - -

Profit/Loss Equity
31 December 2012 Appreciation Depreciation Appreciation Depreciation 
+/-10% fluctuation in US Dollar rate (16,354,319) 16,354,319 - -

USD net asset/liability - - - -
Secured portion from US Dollar risk - - - -

USD Net Effect (16,354,319) 16,354,319 - -

+/-10% fluctuation in EUR rate (7,618,626) 7,618,626 - -
EUR net asset/liability - - - -
Secured portion from EUR risk - - - -

EUR Net Effect (7,618,626) 7,618,626 - -

+/-10% fluctuation in GBP rate 2 (2) - -
GBP net asset/liability - - - -
Secured portion from GBP risk - - - -

GBP Net Effect 2 (2) - -
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The exchange published by Central Bank of Turkey, rates and applied by the Group as at the year ends are followed; 

31December 2013 31 December 2012
USD 2.1343 1.7826
EUR 2.9365 2.3517
GBP 3.5114 2.8936

Capital risk management

The Group attempts to manage its capital by minimising the investment risk by portfolio diversification. The Group’s 
objective is to safeguard the Group’s sustainability as a going concern to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for 
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital and to keep a gearing ratio 
that is in-line with industry averages. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount 
of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Gearing ratios as of 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Total liabilities 528,401,803 410,519,256
Cash and cash equivalents (38,996,938) (77,017,178)

Net debt 489,404,865 333,502,078
Total shareholders’ equity 726,389,500 711,806,002

Invested capital 1,215,794,365 1,045,308,080

Gearing ratio 40% 32%

NOTE 34-FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING 

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing 
parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market have been determined by the Group using 
available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgement is necessarily required to 
interpret market data to estimate the fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein may differ from the amounts 
the Group could realise in a current market exchange.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the financial instruments for which it is 
practicable to estimate fair value:
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Financial assets:

The fair values of cash and due from banks are considered to approximate their respective carrying values due to their 
short-term nature.

Expertise values are used on the determination of the fair values of investment property (Note 14).

The carrying values of trade and other receivables, along with the related allowances for uncollectability are assumed to 
approximate their fair values.

The fair values of balances denominated in foreign currencies, which are translated at period-end official exchange rates 
announced by the Central Bank of Turkey, are considered to approximate their carrying value.

In the case of the market price can not be determined, the fair value of available-for sale financial assets are determinded 
based on the market prices quoted for the same qualified stocks in point of interest rate, maturity and similar other 
conditions.

Financial liabilities

As of 31 December 2013 and 2012, Carrying values and fair values of TL and foreign currency denominated borrowings 
fixed and floating rates are as follows:

Carrying values Fair values
31 December 

2013
31 December 

2012
31 December 

2013
31 December 

2012
Financial Liabilities 98,059,135 122,250,089 101,749,077 124,977,774

Estimation of Fair Value

Group’s classifications of financial assets and liabilities related to fair value are as follows:

First level: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined with reference to actively traded market 
prices.

Second level: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are evaluated with reference to inputs that used to 
determine directly or indirectly observable price in market.

Third level: The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are evaluated with reference to inputs that used to 
determine fair value but not relying on observable data in the market.

As of 31 December 2013, Group’s assets and liabilities measured with fair value are as follows: 

Financial assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial investments 64,859,013 - - 64,859,013

Total assets 64,859,013 - -  64,859,013
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As of 31 December 2012, Group’s assets and liabilities measured with fair value are as follows: 

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets 57,328,124 - - 57,328,124

Total assets 57,328,124 - - 57,328,124

NOTE 35-SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

As part of Bağdat Street Projects, according to Board of Directors’ decision on 4 October 2013, independant units 
numbered 13 in Erenkoy building located in Istanbul province, Kadıköy district, Bağdat Street, Map section 106, Block 
378, Parcel 25, No: 319:321 and independent unit numbered 2 in Usaklıgil building located in Istanbul province, Kadıköy 
district, Bağdat Street, Map section 67, Block 3206, 14 Parcel, No: 481 was included in Group’s portfolio on 15 January 
2014 and 8 January 2014, respectively.

NOTE 36 – APPENDIX DISCLOSURE: COMPLIANCE CONTROL OF PORTFOLIO RESTRICTION

In accordance with the Principles Regarding Real Estate Investment Companies Communiqué with Series VI, No: 11, 
information on control of compliance with the portfolio limitations is given in a way defined by the CMB and by using 
non-consolidated financial statement items. The related information may not be consistent with the information given in 
consolidated financial statements.

As of 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the informations about portfolio restrictions are as follows:

Non-consolidated (stand-alone) financial 
statements main account items

Related 
regulations

31 December 
2013

31 December 
2012

A Money and capital market instruments Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.24/(b) 38,870,829 76,974,901

B
Properties, projects based on properties and 
rights based on properties Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,24/(a) 1,072,363,586 732,401,225

C Subsidiaries Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,24/(b) 71,514,490 169,201,721
Due from related parties (Non commercial) Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,23/(f) - 16,836,065
Other assets 71,346,455 125,905,636

D
Total assets (total of active)  
Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,3/(k) 1,254,095,360 1,121,319,548

E Financial liabilities  Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,31 472,699,373 339,629,922
F Other financial liabilities Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,31 - 5,704,320
G Due from financial leases Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,31 20,227,175 20,817,644
H Due to related parties (Non commercial) Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,23/(f) - 260,938
I Shareholder’s equity  Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,31 726,389,500 711,806,002

Other liabilities 34,779,312 43,100,722
D Total liabilities Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,3/(k) 1,254,095,360 1,121,319,548
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Non-consolidated (stand-alone) financial  
statements main account items

Related 
Regulations

31 December 
2013

31 December 
2012

A1
The portion of money and capital market 
İnstruments held for 3-year real estate payments Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.24/(b) - -

A2
TL and foreign currency time and demand 
deposits Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,24/(b) 38,714,742 76,745,831

A3 Foreign capital market instruments Seri:III, No:48,1Md,24/(d) - -

B1

Foreign properties, projects based on properties 
and rights based on properties Seri:III, No:48,1, 
Md,24/(d) - -

B2 Idle lands Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,24/(c) 51,311,138 15,487,642
C1 Foreign affiliates Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,24/(d) 6,214,161 6,205,886
C2 Investments in affiliated operating companies  Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,28 441,316 189,340
J Non-cash loans Seri:III, No:48,1, Md,31 3,497,892 8,845,462

K
Mortgage amount on non-owned land to be 
developed Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.22/(e) - -

Restated Portfolio limitations Related regulation
31 December 

2013%
31 December 

2012%

Minimum/ 
maximum 

rate%

1
Mortgage amount on non-owned 
land to be developed (K/D) Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.22/(e) - - <10

2

Properties, projects based on 
properties and rights based on 
properties (B+A1)/D)

Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.24/
(a),(b) 86 65 >50

3
Money and capital market 
instruments and Affilates (A+C-A1)/D) Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.24/(b) 9 22 <50

4

Foreign properties, projects based on 
properties rights based on properties, 
affiliates, capital market instruments 
(A3+B1+C1/D) Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.24/(d) 1< 1< <49

5 Idle lands(B2/D) Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.22/(c) 4 1 <20

6
Investment in affiliated operating 
companies (C2/D) Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.28 1< 1< <10

7 Borrowing limit (E+F+G+H+J)/İ Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.31 68 53 <500

8
TL and foreign currency time and 
demand deposits (A2-A1)/ Seri:III, No:48.1, Md.22/(e) 3 7 <10
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The details of subsidiaries as of 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

31 December 2013
Restated 31 

December 2012
SAF GYO 64,537,825 56,979,342
Aksu Real Estate 6,214,161 6,205,886
Vakıflar Bankası ve TSKB 321,188 348,782
Ak Yön 441,316 189,340
Akfil - 105,478,371

71,514,490 169,201,721

As of 31 December 2013 and 2012, valuation reports prepared for the enterprise values are not available for Aksu 
Real Estate and Ak Yön which are Group’s subsidiaries. While determining the value of subsidaries in table of portfolio 
restrictions, net assets values in stand alone financial statements prepered based on Group’s financial reporting standarts 
is taken into account by multiplying by Group’s ownership rate in subsidaries for Aksu Real Estate ve Ak Yön. It is 
assumedthat, such values approximate to the fair value of subsidaries. SAF GYO, Türkiye Vakıflar Bankası A.Ş. and Türkiye 
Sınai Kalkınma Bankası A.Ş.’s fair values are computed based on their available stock prices in the stock exchange as of 
31 December 2013 and 2012.
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